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The Local Government Pension Scheme, valued at an estimated 
£165 billion, is administered by 99 UK local authorities. Of these, 
one third employ Aberdeen to manage pension fund assets 
on their behalf, investing in mandates across the group's key 
capabilities in equities, fixed income and property. These assets 
equate to the pensions and future pensions of just over two 
million public sector workers in the United Kingdom, around 7%  
of the UK adult workforce.
Source: Aberdeen, ONS, LGPS Membership and value as at March 2010.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
Annual General Meeting

20 January 2011

Payment of final dividend
27 January 2011

Announcement of interim results
May 2011

Payment of interim dividend
June 2011

Who we are
Aberdeen Asset Management is an international asset 
management group investing across the four main asset 
classes of equity, fixed income, property and alternative 
investment strategies. We have a presence in 24 countries 
through some 31 offices and over 1,800 staff.

What we do
Our business is the active management of financial assets for 
third parties. We package and sell that expertise in the form 
of segregated and pooled products across borders. Our key 
clients include leading national and corporate pension funds, 
central banks and other investment institutions. We have a 
broad shareholder base and are free from the ownership ties 
of a larger parent company structure.

Our culture
We believe in locating our investment and client service 
teams in or near the markets in which we invest or where 
our clients are based. The Group has grown rapidly in the last 
27 years and values a flat management structure and being 
an open, diverse and accessible employer. To our clients, we 
believe we are transparent and approachable. We champion 
local decision making, close-knit teams and interdependence 
among our offices worldwide. 

Our responsibilities
We see our role as being one where we do our utmost 
to provide the best possible working conditions for our 
employees, to protect the environment, to manage our 
business in a fair, ethical manner and to promote human 
rights. Our corporate responsibility website may be found at 
www.aberdeen-asset.com/csr.

Cover image:
Aberdeen signed a four year agreement this 

year which saw it become the title sponsor of 
Dad Vail Regatta, the largest collegiate 

regatta in the United States. The event is 
rowed on the Schuylkill River in Philadelphia 
during the week end of the second Saturday 

in May, with hundreds of North American 
colleges and universities taking part.



Emerging market equity funds have soared over the year to date 
collecting over $43 billion in inflows globallyA. Aberdeen's global 
emerging market equity funds attracted £9.3 billion in gross new 
inflows and one to watch for in 2011 is the emerging market debt 
SICAV fund, which attracted nearly £200 million over the period.
A Source: EPFR Global, Sept 2010.
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Highlights

Revenue
2010: £638.2m
2009: £421.9m +51%
Pre-tax profitA

2010: £210.0m
2009: £85.1m +147%
Earnings per shareA

2010: 13.3p
2009: 6.3p +110%
Total dividend  
per share
2010: 7.0p
2009: 6.0p +17%
Gross new  
business (funded)
2010: £46.6bn
2009: £19.1bn +144%
Assets under  
management 
2010: £178.7bn
2009: £146.2bn +22%

A stated on an underlying basis as explained on page 31.

• Operating margin 34.8% (2009: 22.7%)

• 115% of operating profit converted to cash

• Gross new business £46.6 billion (2009: £19.1 billion)

• Net new business +£2.6 billion (2009: -£10.7 billion)

• Toronto office opened to service our growing  
Canadian business

• Sao Paulo office opened to enhance our emerging  
markets presence

• £1.9 billion awarded but not funded by year end

• Alternative investment strategies asset class boosted  
by acquisition

Historical summary
Earnings per shareA (pence)

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

 13.3

 6.3

 9.0

 11.1

 8.9

Dividend per share (pence)

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

 7.0

 6.0

 5.8

 5.5

 4.4

Assets under managment (£bn)

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

 178.7

 146.2

 111.1

 95.3

 73.2
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Chairman’s statement

Roger Cornick Chairman

We have, over the year, enjoyed a record 
level of new business wins, primarily 
driven by strong investor demand 
for our global emerging market and 
global equities capabilities, but with 
encouraging levels of inflows in other 
areas - inflows of £46.6 billion were 
144% higher than 2009. Whilst outflows 
of lower margin funds of £44.0 billion, 
primarily from our core fixed income 
and money market strategies, continued 
during 2010, the rate slowed as the 
year progressed. As a result, net inflows 
of £2.6 billion were achieved in 2010 
(2009: net outflows of £10.7 billion). A 
further £1.9 billion of mandates were 
awarded but not funded at the year end. 

The acquisition of a high quality 
alternatives business from the Royal 
Bank of Scotland (RBS) in January has 
provided a significant entry point into 
this market, with the quality of the 
team, process and scale of this business 
creating a credible opportunity to 
diversify our new business flows yet 
further. We believe there is considerable 

scope to grow this business over the 
coming years and the transaction 
enhances our distribution capability 
through global private banking networks. 

Financials 
Revenue for the year of £638.2 million 
was 51% higher than in 2009 due to 
the combined effects of new business 
flows, improved market levels and 
the inclusion of the ex-Credit Suisse 
business for a full year. Performance 
fees showed a healthy increase to £30.3 
million but, while such income is always 
welcome, this represents only 4.7% 
of our total revenue and we remain 
focused on growing recurring income.

Operating expenses increased by 28%, 
an element of which is due to the 
inclusion of a full year’s costs from 
the ex-Credit Suisse business and 
completion of the RBS transaction 
at the end of January. We have also 
implemented a controlled increase in 
marketing expenditure as we support 
our business development effort; we 
undertook our first ever campaign 
to increase our brand recognition in 
the US, a market which we believe 
offers significant potential, and 
opened a small office in Toronto 
to facilitate the servicing of our 
growing Canadian client base. A key 
initiative in our brand building in the 
US was our commitment to sponsor 
the Dad Vail Regatta in Philadelphia 
(the largest collegiate rowing event 
in the United States) until 2013. 

Operating profit increased significantly 
to £221.9 million (2009: £95.7 
million), and we achieved an operating 
margin of 34.8% (2009: 22.7%). We 
believe that this margin compares 
favourably with our international 
peer group and we are well placed 
to improve this margin further from 
ongoing new business flows. 

We have also added further strength 
to the balance sheet; we repaid all 
short term bank debt during August 
and reduced the net gearing ratio to 
0.6% (2009: 17%). We expect our 
operating cashflow to bring us to 
a net cash position during 2011.

Results and dividend
The Group’s underlying profit, which 
we define as profit before taxation, 
exceptional items, amortisation and 
impairment of intangible assets, was 
£210.0 million compared to £85.1 
million in 2009. This represents 
underlying earnings per share, on a 
diluted basis, of 13.3p, an increase of 
110% on last year. After accounting for 
exceptional items, amortisation and 
impairment, we report a pre-tax profit 
of £125.6 million (2009: £10.5 million).

The Board is recommending a final 
dividend of 3.8p per share, making 
a total payment for the year of 
7.0p per share, an increase of 17% 
on the total payment for 2009. 
The Board remains committed to 
a progressive dividend policy.

The year to 30 September 2010 confirmed the view expressed in our 2009 report that 

the company was well positioned to benefit from improving sentiment in global markets 

through organic growth. Over the course of the trading period under review we have built 

on the increased scale and diversity of distribution relationships, added over the previous 

two years, and used our strong cashflow to further strengthen the balance sheet - resulting 

in a 22% increase in assets under management; growth in revenues of 51%; underlying 

profits up by 147%; a rise in earnings per share of 110% and dividends of 17%; and an 

improved operating margin of 34.8%.



New business
Gross new business for the year totalled 
£46.6 billion, 144% higher than 2009 
and more than twice the previous high 
reported in 2007. As stated above, 
these figures were driven principally 
by demand for our global emerging 
markets, global equity and Asia Pacific 
products, although we have also seen 
encouraging interest in some of our 
other capabilities, such as emerging 
market debt, Asian fixed income and US 
equities. Our distribution teams have 
continued to develop the significant 
new relationships we have added over 
the last two years, and we have made 
good progress, especially from Europe, 
the Middle East and the Americas. 

Our fixed income teams had a much 
better year as credit spreads recovered 
and the strong rebound in performance 
has continued throughout 2010; our 
one year and two year numbers are 
strongly ahead of benchmark and 
the improvement is now feeding 
into our three year figures. We still 
experienced redemptions as investors 
have considered their appetite for 
risk. Fixed income performance 
has recovered strongly but further 
outflows are still likely. A common 
theme across the industry has been 
withdrawals from money market funds 
as investor risk appetite has returned 
and we experienced some outflows 
earlier in the year, although this has 
stabilised somewhat in recent months.  

We were awarded our first segregated 
mandate in Asian fixed income during 
the year, contributing to record flows 
of over £500 million into this product 
and the quality of our capability in 
this area was endorsed at the Global 
Investor Awards for excellence in 
institutional asset management where 
Aberdeen won the award for best Asia 
Pacific fixed income manager. We 
continue to see considerable investor 
appetite for this asset class and for 
emerging market debt which has 
enjoyed net inflows of £300 million 
this year and high yield bonds; all 
strategies in which we can demonstrate 
robust long term performance.

It has been another record year for our 
equity teams who have continued to 
outperform their respective benchmarks 
over a number of time periods both 
long and short term. Global and global 
emerging market (“GEM”) equities 
were the main drivers of new business 
flows supplemented by flows into 
Asia Pacific and we were pleased to 
be awarded our first mandate by a 
European pension fund into US equities 
during the year. Such has been the 
demand for GEM equities that we 
took the decision at the beginning of 
the year to close to new segregated 
business in this asset class to assist in 
managing the flow of new business, 
principally into our pooled funds. Our 
UK and Pan European equities continue 
to deliver good performance over one 
and three year time frames and we 
are hopeful that we may see appetite 
for these products in due course.

Following the acquisition from RBS, 
our Alternative Investment Strategies 
asset class now encompasses a broad 
range of capabilities including a large 
multi-manager and hedge fund of funds 
business and has critical mass within 
the industry. Performance has been 
encouraging across the core products. 
In the first half of the year we raised 
£110 million for a new UCITS fund 
of absolute return funds, which has 
since grown to over £200 million. 

Following a period of considerable 
turbulence, property markets have 
stabilised somewhat and investor 
appetite has begun to return, which 
has led to a number of new mandates 
being awarded particularly in the UK.  
However, in Germany, the property 
sector remains difficult and we 
recently announced the controlled 
liquidation of the DEGI Europa Fund.  
The major project to integrate the 
property business fully within the 
wider Group has proceeded according 
to plan and will be fully completed 
by the end of the calendar year.  

The new business flows achieved during 
the year are set out in the table below; 
gross inflows were sourced principally 
from investors in Europe (45%), the 
UK (25%), the Americas (10%), Asia 
Pacific (14%) and the Middle East (6%).

Corporate activity
On 29 January 2010, the Group 
announced the acquisition of certain 
fund management assets and contracts 
from Royal Bank of Scotland which 
also included a long-term distribution 
agreement with RBS Wealth 
Management, including Coutts, for a 
consideration of £84.7 million. The 
transaction was funded via a placement 
of new Aberdeen shares and brought 
an enhanced alternatives capability 
and approximately 60 staff into the 
Group. The transaction completed on 29 
January 2010 and added approximately 
£13.5 billion to assets under 
management (AuM) during the year. 

Business development
Our distribution efforts continued 
to make progress on a number of 
products globally. In July we took over 
the management of four US mutual 
funds, previously managed by Bank of 
Hawaii, with assets of $450 million 
which have now been merged into 
our existing mutual fund range.

We successfully raised over £50 million 
for the Aberdeen Latin American Income 
Fund, a UK-listed closed end fund which 
invests in Latin American equities and 
debt with the objective of providing an 
above average yield. We also launched 
a local currency emerging market debt 
fund which has grown steadily and our 
efforts within alternatives are currently 
focused on active promotion of our 
multi-manager product. The opening 
of two new offices during the year, in 
Sao Paulo and Toronto, will enable us 
to deepen our research capability and 
build on distribution opportunities. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

Outlook
During the course of 2010 we have 
experienced a period of corporate 
stability enabling the prior acquisitional 
activity of Aberdeen to stabilise 
and provide a platform for steady 
organic growth. This has delivered 
rewarding levels of new business, 
helped by improved markets, leading 
to increased revenues and improved 
operating margins. I would like to 
thank all our staff for their continued 
hard work and support and welcome 
our new employees to the Group. 
I would especially like to thank my 
fellow Board members for their strong 
contributions over this reporting period 
and to welcome Jim Pettigrew as a 
new director. Jim brings considerable 
experience and knowledge of the global 
asset management industry that will 

be a great benefit to the Board over 
the coming years. Finally, I would 
like to pass on the Board’s thanks to 
Donald Waters who, following ten years 
valuable service, will retire following 
the AGM.

Looking ahead, while we are conscious 
of the risk of further market volatility, 
we plan to grow further the Group’s 
revenues and profits by remaining 
focussed on the management and 
distribution of the wide range of 
investment activity that we have 
developed over the course of the last 
five years. Providing that we are able 
to sustain current progress we aim to 
use improving cashflow to strengthen 
the balance sheet still further, and 
believe the Group’s improved financial 
strength and diversified product 
and client base, coupled with robust 

investment performance should lead to 
growing benefits to shareholders over 
the years ahead.

 

Roger C Cornick
Chairman

Funded
£bn

Yet to fund
£bn

Total
£bn

Equities:
Gross inflows 23.0 1.1 24.1
Outflows (9.2) – (9.2)
Net flow 13.8 1.1 14.9

Fixed income:
Gross inflows 8.6 0.5 9.1
Outflows (19.5) – (19.5)
Net flow (10.9) 0.5 (10.4)

Alternative investment strategies:
Gross inflows 6.5 – 6.5
Outflows (4.3) – (4.3)
Net flow 2.2 – 2.2

Property:
Gross inflows 2.3 0.3 2.6
Outflows (1.7) – (1.7)
Net flow 0.6 0.3 0.9

Money market:
Gross inflows 6.2 – 6.2
Outflows (9.3) – (9.3)
Net flow (3.1) – (3.1)

Group total:
Gross inflows 46.6 1.9 48.5
Outflows (44.0) – (44.0)
Net flow 2.6 1.9 4.5
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What we do

At Aberdeen, asset management is our business.

We believe our focus, size and approach enable us to provide 

effective asset management and superior client service.

Consistently strong performance across strategies is our priority.

We aim to deliver strong organic growth by retaining 

clients as well as attracting new ones. We seek to work with 

distributor partners and clients who share our values and 

standards internationally.

A strong team culture and distinctive and transparent investment 

processes set us apart.

Our global network of offices supports a uniformly high 

standard of local client service.

Find out more about us through our website at  

www.aberdeen-asset.com



8       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Global stretch,  
local activation

BRITISH ISLES

Aberdeen (Head office)
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Jersey
London

The British Isles are our home market 
accounting for 29% of our clients by 
AuM, some £51 billion. The city of 
Aberdeen is our headquarters where we 
locate many Group functions including 
finance, information management 
and human resources. London, our 
largest office by number of staff, is the 
investment centre for UK and European 
equity, fixed income and alternative 
investment strategy teams. Edinburgh 
is the investment centre for our global 
equity team, some of the alternative 
investment managers, as well as the 
base of company secretaries for the UK 
closed end funds. Edinburgh is also the 
base for our global e-marketing resource.

CONTINENTAL EUROPE

Amsterdam 
Brussels
Budapest
Copenhagen 
Frankfurt
Geneva
Helsinki
Luxembourg
Milan 
Oslo
Paris
Stockholm
St Petersburg
Zurich

Our presence across Continental 
Europe has grown significantly over 
the last two years. The acquisition of 
certain parts of Credit Suisse in 2009 
bolstered our local presence in various 
European countries including Milan 
and Paris. Continental Europe accounts 
for 34% of Group AuM. Amsterdam is 
the key marketing office for the Dutch 
pensions market and also European 
property clients. The Frankfurt office was 
opened in January 2007 to develop our 
business with German institutions. The 
Nordic region is the base of operations 
for much of our global property 
capability. Luxembourg is the domicile 
for the Aberdeen Global fund range.

AMERICAS

Philadelphia
São Paulo
Toronto

Philadelphia is our hub for North 
America and includes fixed income and 
US equity teams. We manage almost 
£30 billion on behalf of US clients 
and have developed a strong platform 
on which to service institutional and 
wholesale channels.

In the last year, we opened new offices 
in Brazil and Canada. The São Paulo 
and Toronto offices were opened in 
October and November respectively.
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Middle eAst And AfRicA

the Middle east and Africa are 
important sources of institutional 
funds and we have a strong client base 
which we service from london. We 
currently manage over £15 billion of 
assets for institutional and sovereign 
wealth entities in those regions.

AsiA PAcific

Bangkok
Hong Kong
Kuala Lumpur
Shanghai
Singapore
Taipei
Tokyo

the Asian headquarters of the 
Group is in singapore and is home 
to most of our Asian fund managers 
covering the main asset classes as 
well as substantial marketing, client 
servicing and administrative functions. 
Other full service offices are in Hong 
Kong, Kuala lumpur and Bangkok. 
We also have research and client 
servicing in north Asia. Asian clients 
account for £11 billion of AuM and 
our investment in Asian securities, 
both equities and fixed income, is a 
core competence for the group.

AustRAliA

Melbourne
Sydney

the Group's Australian operation 
accounts for over £10 billion AuM and 
has a sizeable presence in this relatively 
sophisticated retirement savings market. 
Our funds in Australia offer local 
investors a comprehensive choice of 
domestic, regional, global and emerging 
market investments. Additionally, we 
manage a range of specialist mandates 
in fixed income and equities and an 
investment company that is listed 
on the Australian stock exchange.

We know global markets from the local level 
upwards, drawing on over 1,800 staff, across 
31 offices in 24 countries.

We believe our focus, size and approach enable 
us to provide effective asset management and 
superior client service.

Our teams champion original thinking and 
knowledge, so investment decisions are based 
only on our own research.

As a group, we have the scale to provide 
global coverage of financial markets; 
yet we are small enough to focus on 
each and every portfolio decision.  

close-knit teams, clear investment processes 
and flat structures are important to us.  

We seek to grow our clients’ assets in a way 
that is manageable and sustainable over the 
longer term.



Equity investment process

Company visit note

Quality
Pass or fail?

Potential
revisit

Watchlist/
review

Monitor

Aberdeen
universe

Price
Cheap or
expensive

Portfolio
construction

Risk
controls

1
STEP

2
STEP

3
STEP

Equities breakdown

US
£2.9bn

UK
£2.9bn

Global
£16.8bn

Europe
£1.4bn

Emerging
markets

£22.7bn

Asia Pacific
£25.4bn

Total £72.1bn (2009: £46.0bn)  As at 30 September 2010
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• Bottom-up investment style, emphasising company fundamentals

• Team approach, with asset managers based in the regions where we invest

• Low portfolio turnover, buying stocks and holding them for the long term

• First-hand research is central to our process

• No investment without interviewing the company’s management first

Aberdeen’s mainstream equity process dates from the early 1990s and we believe its advantage lies in the consistency of its 
approach, irrespective of market conditions. 

From the company visits and analysis carried out regionally, through to portfolio construction decisions, we adopt a team approach. 

Cross-coverage of securities locally ensures objectivity; we avoid cultivating ‘star’ managers. Diversification at the stock level is 
our main control of risk. We aim to add value by capitalising on original research and in avoiding fashions. We see equity risk in 
terms of investing in a poor quality company, or overpaying for a good one.

Active management
We aim to add value by identifying good quality 
stocks, defined chiefly in terms of management and 
business model, which are attractively priced. Good 
stockpicking is the key to our performance. We downplay 
benchmarks in portfolio construction since these 
provide little clue to future performance. Our asset 
managers avoid businesses that we do not understand 
or those with discriminatory shareholder structures.

Proprietary research
Our mainstream equity managers always visit companies 
before investing, making thousands of visits annually 
to existing and prospective holdings. Every contact is 
documented in detail. If a security fails our screens, we will 
not own it, irrespective of its index weight.

Long-term focus
Our mainstream strategies are simple; we buy and hold, add 
on price dips and take profits on price rises. This reduces 
transaction costs and keeps portfolios focused. We rarely 
pursue short-term returns for mainstream equity strategies, 
albeit for specialist portfolios activity may be more dynamic.

Team approach
We employ over 140 equity investment professionals globally. 
Portfolio decisions are made collectively, and we avoid 
cultivating ‘star’ fund managers. Cross-coverage of securities 
also increases objectivity and lessens reliance on individuals.

Equities
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Asia Asset Management’s latest survey revealed that assets 
sourced or raised in the Asia-Pacific region ex-Australia by the 
asset management industry totalled more than $2.0 trillion, 
up nearly 40% from 2009. In June 2010, Aberdeen ranked 16th 
by AuM in the top twenty asset managers in the region with 
institutional assets under management in Asia making up 22%  
of our total global AuM. 
Source: Asia Asset Management Sept 2010 Fund Manager Survey.



Fixed income investment process

 
 

1 
Portfolio manager
Agree client risk 
and return 
requirements

2
Product team

Sets client
investment

 strategy

4
Product
team
Risk budgeting,
review and 
oversight

3
Alpha

 teams
Idea generation

in an unconstrained
universe

 
 

Evaluating risk
at every step

Fixed income breakdown

Global
£6.4bn

Emerging
markets
£3.2bn

Currency
overlay
£0.6bn

Convertibles
£0.3bn

Asia Pacific
£11.5bn

UK 
£10.8bn

Total £45.1bn (2009: £51.7bn) As at 30 September 2010

US
£7.2bn

High yield
£0.7bn

European
£4.4bn
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Fixed income

•  Active management, operating globally, in a transparent and accountable structure, within a risk 
framework

•  Multiple sources of added value improve the risk-return profile

•  Specialist teams working independently within their area of expertise

•  Local presence in London, Philadelphia, Singapore and Sydney

•  Strong derivatives capability to assist implementation of both active and liability matching strategies 

We believe outperformance should be generated within a risk framework, adding value through multiple uncorrelated sources 
to create natural diversification. As such, our fixed income structure comprises independent alpha teams who are charged with 
generating investment ideas and outperformance in their own area of specialisation, with their investment universes being as 
unconstrained as possible. 

Our global product team is responsible for capturing all these investment ideas into specific client portfolios, working within 
individual client portfolio guidelines. Team members meet to discuss portfolios, but are also in continual discussion with the 
alpha teams to ensure that the best decisions of these teams are implemented across all mandates. 

Active management
We aim to add value by exploiting market inefficiencies in 
interest rates, currency, investment grade credit, emerging 
market debt and high yield. We have dedicated portfolio 
managers and analysts in the three main time zones. They 
operate as close-knit teams, with investment decision-making 
devolved to specialists, based on their knowledge  
and expertise.

Flexible and disciplined investment process
Our investment structure enables us not only to 
follow a disciplined investment process but also to be 
flexible to manage portfolios for a wide variety of client 
requirements. This may range from strategies which 
employ multiple sources of uncorrelated returns to 
those that are focused on a particular specialist area.

Team approach
We employ over 130 investment professionals across our 
teams. They invest within clearly delineated parameters, 
with defined reporting lines. Our team structure is based on 
transparency and accountability.

Diverse solutions
Many clients are moving to higher performance or core plus 
mandates. Another trend is the move away from market-
based indices and the use of liability driven benchmarks. We 
aim to deliver performance across the full range of our fixed 
income capabilities. We also use derivatives, such as interest 
rate and credit default swaps, to add value and also to match 
liability exposures.
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Aberdeen Asset Management is Australia's largest manager of 
domestic infl ation linked bonds, managing some A$4.7 billion for 
a range of institutional clients in a domestic bond market valued 
at A$146 billion. Infl ation linked bonds, or TIPS as Treasury based 
notes are known in the United States, are securities whose principal 
increases at the same rate as the consumer price index. These 
securities are attractive to institutional investors whose liabilities 
increase with infl ation.
Source: Morningstar, InvestorSupermarket Market Wrap; June Qtr 2010. As at 30 September 2010.



Property investment process

Investment
strategy

Forecasts
& relative
pricing

Investment
plan

Selection
Management

Allocation

Re
vi

ew

Asset

managem
ent

Transactions

Assetselection

Tenant

relationship

Property breakdown

Europe indirect
£1.3bn

UK indirect
£0.2bn

Total £21.7bn (2009: £22.6bn) As at 30 September 2010

UK direct
£5.7bn

Nordics direct
£6.8bn

Asia indirect
£0.6bn

Europe direct
£4.2bn

Global
direct

£2.9bn
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Property

Active management
Our understanding of the factors that drive returns stems 
from our local presence and our dedicated research capability. 
A unique feature of property is the value that can be added 
by active asset management, and selecting assets with this 
potential enables a skilful investment manager to create alpha 
and outperform the market. 

Local presence
Active property investment requires a local presence. We have 
expanded in Europe’s heartland and, through our Singapore 
office, into Asia. We now number over 300 professionals based 
in 14 countries. This unrivalled local reach is essential to our 
understanding of local markets and our commitment to local 
decision making.

Structured investment process
Our proven investment process links the three essential 
disciplines of allocation, selection and asset management. We 
apply it rigorously to all property sectors and geographies. 
Our principle is to combine advanced top-down research with 
a pragmatic, but structured, bottom-up approach from our 
local professionals. The former focuses on managing beta, or 
portfolio risk, the latter on creating alpha.

Delivering risk-adjusted returns
We aim to help our institutional clients achieve well 
diversified property exposure by delivering superior risk-
adjusted returns through funds that offer a clear choice of 
geographic or sectoral exposure. With our advanced portfolio 
modelling techniques, we provide an understanding of the risk 
of different property investments and their place in multi-
asset portfolios.

• An active property investment manager

• Unrivalled local presence in key international markets

• Separate accounts and collective funds, including funds-of-funds

• Disciplined investment process, supported by research on the ground

• Team approach, with managers based in the regions where we invest

Active management, top-class research, local presence and a rigorous investment process are the means by which we add value 
to property investment. We offer a wide range of well-structured vehicles that provide strong risk-adjusted returns and a choice 
of geographic and sector allocations.

In addition to funds holding direct property, we have pioneered the development of funds of property funds, with exposure 
to Continental Europe and Asia. This team invests in third party funds, not in direct property and its clients are exclusively 
institutional investors. Their philosophy focuses on creating alpha and not on general market exposure.
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According to the influential Europroperty/INREV Annual Survey 
2010, Aberdeen is now the fourth largest property asset manager 
in Europe. This survey shows that Aberdeen is now the largest 
property manager in Europe that is not owned by a bank or a life 
assurer. And in a year where many managers in the top ten have 
seen their assets under management fall, the report reveals that 
Aberdeen bucked the trends by growing its AuM over the year.
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Alternatives investment process
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Alternative strategies breakdown

Indexed equities
£7.4bn

Fund
of hedge
funds
£3.9bn

Total £29.1bn (2009: £12.4bn) As at 30 September 2010

Multi asset
£7.0bn

Multi manager
£10.0bn

Fund of private equity
funds
£0.8bn

Alternative investment strategies

• Active management of diversified multi-asset portfolios, multi-manager funds and funds of  
hedge funds

• Bottom-up and proprietary research are the cornerstone of our investment process

• No investment in any asset is made without first interviewing management

• Continual improvement to risk management controls, as superior methodologies emerge

• Team-based approach with managers based in London, Edinburgh, Paris and Philadelphia, with 
access to all of the group’s skill sets worldwide

Our new fund of hedge funds and multi-manager capabilities enhance and complement Aberdeen’s traditional skills in multi-
asset investing. Our aim is to provide client portfolios and funds that diversify and control risk while optimising returns, whether 
using in-house capabilities or those of third party managers. A range of passive fund solutions is also available, according to 
client need.

Active management
Our multi-asset team builds portfolios by investing in 
securities that have been researched and selected by our 
specialist asset class teams in-house, while our multi-manager 
and fund of hedge fund teams research and invest in highly-
skilled third party manager funds. 

A focus on long-term investing
In multi-manager funds, we aim to add value by identifying 
and building strong relationships with those managers which 
we believe will excel at providing risk-adjusted performance. 
This approach mirrors our mainstream equity investment 
process, which is based on regular company visits with 
management. In multi-asset portfolios and the ‘balanced’ 
element of multi-manager products, we also employ top-
down processes to aid superior portfolio construction and 

reduce risk.

Risk management
Our risk management controls are both specific to asset 
classes and characterised by our institutional clients’ own risk 
appetites, their agreed risk budgets and any other mandate 
constraints. While the strength of our investment decision-
making process is predominantly qualitative, in our fund of 
hedge funds and multi-manager teams we also draw on a 
number of quantitative inputs to help guide our investment 
decision making.

Proprietary research
First-hand analysis is a central tenet to Aberdeen as an 
investment manager. Despite the differences of our alternative 
asset capabilities, our stock and manager selection processes 
share the key values of our mainstream investment processes, 
namely due diligence, repeated investment meetings to verify 
our decisions and a disciplined attention to risk control.
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This year we consolidated our various multi asset, multi manager 
and fund of funds teams into a new group, known as Alternative 
Investment Strategies. The team, enlarged by January’s acquisition 
of the former RBS fund of hedge fund business, is now one of the 
largest multi-manager businesses in the industry and includes over 
60 investment professionals worldwide.
Source: Financial Times/Towers Watson, June 2010.
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Aberdeen has signed a four year agreement which will see 
Aberdeen be the title sponsor of the Dad Vail Regatta until 2013, 
the event’s 75th Anniversary. Aberdeen’s support has helped 
to ensure that this prestigious Regatta remains in the heart of 
Philadelphia. The British American Business Council awarded 
Aberdeen its sixth “Building a Better Future” Award for our 
commitment to the City of Philadelphia.
Source: Aberdeen.



Introduction
The year began with a re-stocking boom from manufacturing, 
which was expected to lead to a self-sustaining economic 
recovery, with technology, infrastructure, energy and materials 
companies all setting the pace. But despite record amounts 
of stimulus, and the recession ending in June 2009, the US 
economy has remained sluggish. The huge household debt 
overhang continues to affect jobs and housing. The Federal 
Reserve has announced another round of money printing, 
buying $600 billion of treasury bonds, known as QE2.

The failure of events to go according to plan has had 
multiple consequences, some good, some bad, and nearly 
all unintended. With interest rates held close to zero in the 
US, savers have been looking for alternative sources of yield. 
This has led to capital flows mainly into real assets, notably 
emerging markets, whose economies have rebounded strongly.  

Governments in the developing world are concerned that an 
influx of ‘hot money’ may inflate assets and drive up the value 
of their currencies and make exports less competitive. With 
the dollar being debased, they are relatively powerless. As a 
result trade tensions have been increasing across the world. 

The long-running US charge that China is a ‘price manipulator’ 
is just the most visible illustration of this trend, and one that 
obscures a deep mutual dependency – China is the biggest 
buyer of US debt, after all. China’s unwillingness to back down 
has been quietly cheered by other emerging nations who 
question, given the global financial crisis, the US’s continued 
right to leadership. Yet their shared hope that domestic sources 
of demand can replace Western ones appears premature.

The US has gone in different directions to some other 
developed countries within Europe for example. Unlike the 
US, Europe has generally chosen fiscal austerity over further 
stimulus. It has less room for manoeuvre as it lacks the same 
degree of reserve currency status and hence other nations’ 
propensity to fund its deficits. The dangers it faces are both 
political and economic: that voters reject structural reforms, 
including big cuts in living standards, but without continued 
public spending, growth may stall again. 

Policy has rarely been so consequential – and controversial. 
Some investors are counting on the notion that government 
spending will work in their favour. Others are depending on 
its failure (simplistically, that deflation will prove a bigger 
threat than inflation, which has been the fate of Japan for two 
decades). But the more the authorities’ intervention distorts 
markets, the less predictable the outcome. That is why the 
biggest winner has been gold, because in many people’s eyes 
it is the only real store of value.

 
New orders declined after the re-stocking cycle
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Gold price is still seen as a safe haven
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Investment trends
Opportunistic investors identified value in credit markets 
following the mis-pricing that prevailed at the end of 2008-9. 
Gradually, liquidity-led buying drew in the more cautious 
and the cost of missing out on rising markets increased the 
pressure for further investment through late 2009 and into 
the second quarter of this year. In May however the possibility 
that Greece might default sent shockwaves through markets, 
taking equity indices and credit spreads back to where they 
were at the beginning of 2010, though in September some 
stability returned from whence nearly all mainstream markets 
have risen.

In our UK home market, client allocations to equities have 
remained quite steady with a lot drawn to the emerging 
sphere, but in addition many are adopting a more global 
approach for their overall exposure. On the Continent a 
bond bias prevails with equity allocations typically weighted 
to domestic markets. Interestingly though, enthusiasm for 
alternatives persists despite poorer performance from this 
area in recent quarters. In terms of overall industry fund 
flows for the year, net winners have also typically been higher 
yielding bond funds, which is not unsurprising given low 
interest rates in many countries. 

In the US, disenchantment with equity returns (stretching 
back a decade) has led to reduced institutional allocations 
to active equity mandates, but at the same time more 
money has been directed to international rather than 
domestic markets. As with Europe, a sustained enthusiasm 
for alternatives is somewhat surprising, not least because in 
the private equity arena for example much of the funding 
committed in recent years has yet to be invested. Elsewhere 
Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) continue in their popularity, as 
does the trend to passive investing overall, meaning active 
managers are being constantly challenged to prove their 
worth in delivering alpha. 

Investment Performance
Equities
In general, the less volatile positive tone to markets combined 
with sustained strong performance and our established 
pedigree in emerging markets worked in our favour. We 
attracted substantial new assets in both dedicated emerging 
market and Asian accounts, although new business in 
segregated mandates for these markets has been constrained 
as we remain closed to new money (existing clients and 
buyers of pooled funds are unaffected).

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

 
Emerging Markets lead global recovery
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Our global equity team has also had a successful year. We 
have raised in excess of £5 billion in terms of net new business 
with a number of mandates won but yet to fund. Clients 
include sovereign wealth funds and national pension schemes. 
As well as winning new mandates, we have seen strong 
additional flows from existing clients. While the majority 
of new money has been into our core unconstrained global 
product, we also saw an increasing level of new business into 
our EAFE-plus product, a favourite of US-based clients.  

In all the above strategies along with US equities, our long 
term performance numbers over three and five years remain 
competitive and, although difficult to quantify, feedback 
from new business pitches indicates that the simplicity and 
transparency of our investment process is a major selling 
point. This is a support for our core UK and European products, 
where we are top quartile over one year but longer-term 
numbers are less compelling. As a theme, interest continues in 
equity income strategies, and in particular regional and single 
country mandates (such as Latin America or India). 

Fixed income 
After the credit debacle in 2008-9, our fixed income teams 
have delivered better relative performance. Credit markets 
rallied from previously oversold levels, supported by a recovery 
in growth and company earnings. Risk appetite improved as 
most major developed economies moved out of recession.

Our specialist teams performed best, namely in Australia, 
Asia, emerging market debt and high yield, where investor 
demand for yield also meant asset gathering was successful. 
We are still witnessing strong interest in our emerging market 
debt and Asian fixed income products. Our core products’ 
performance also improved and encouragingly in our US 
portfolios, we are now achieving top quartile performance 
over the year-to-date. However this turnaround will need to 
be sustained as Core mandates continued to see outflows 
during the year. 

We have responded to this issue by addressing weaknesses 
in our investment process, namely through greater 
accountability at the product level, while maintaining the 
traditional strength of our specialist alpha teams. We have 
also sought to combine our strong regional capabilities 
with our existing global teams in order to forge a uniform 
investment approach. As a result, our business is increasingly 
moving from low margin core products towards higher margin 
specialist mandates. 

As concern mounts over the West’s debts and developing 
nations become net creditors, the ‘old way’ of seeing safety in 
G3 or G7 bonds is being challenged. From a return perspective, 
the rally witnessed in US Treasuries this year has benefited 
most markets, but yield spreads in many emerging markets are 
as wide as before the crisis. Even though fund flows may be 
vulnerable to reversal in the short term, structural demand over 
time is likely to shift towards these assets. 

Fear that Greece might default sent  
shockwaves through Europe
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Public debt ratios projected to rise
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Property
The past year has seen most international property markets 
stabilise after the turbulence of the credit crisis. Recovering 
confidence has supported increased investor appetite. The 
UK saw a 15% year-on-year rebound in property values to 
mid-2010, and most UK clients allocated new money to the 
sector, delivering a significant boost to profitability. UK assets 
under management increased by nearly £800 million over the 
year. Despite the termination of a low margin local authority 
mandate, a further £300 million of allocations to invest and 
the award of a new mandate of £120 million are evidence of 
continued momentum in this market place.

In Continental Europe and the Nordic region, inflows have 
also resumed across a range of pooled products, with Nordic 
markets in particular now being targeted by international 
investors, attracted by their relative transparency and liquidity. 
In Germany, we reluctantly decided that with the two-year 
maximum permitted suspension period on redemptions 
approaching, along with an increase in the number of 
investors seeking return of their money, it was best to 
announce a wind up of the e1.3 billion DEGI Europa mutual 
property fund. This will be met by selling underlying properties 
over the next three years.

We made a handful of organisational changes, following the 
full integration of the distribution and operations functions 
and the elimination of the corporate property brand. The 
specialist indirect property team has been expanded and 
refocused to better embrace the growing demand for global 
indirect property mandates. Following the retirement of 
Rickard Backlund as chief executive of our property business, 
the senior management team in London has been restructured 
under Andrew Smith. 

Alternative investment strategies
This year we consolidated our various multi asset, multi 
manager and fund of funds activities into a new asset class, 
known as Alternative Investment Strategies. The team, enlarged 
by January’s acquisition of the former RBS fund of hedge fund 
business, is now one of the largest multi-manager businesses in 
the industry (Financial Times/Towers Watson, June 2010) and 
includes over 60 investment professionals worldwide. 

Strong performance from multi-asset products has 
strengthened existing client relationships and led to additional 
funding. The Aberdeen brand is now well established in the 
UK charities sector, much of which adopts a multi-asset 
investment approach. Our common investment funds (our 
charity focussed pooled products) are also performing well.

The fund of hedge funds business has been properly 
integrated into the department, and performance is good. 
We look forward to developing this unit and feel it has good 
long term potential as investors value the strong due diligence 
and emphasis on quality that is its hallmark. We have also 
developed our Fund of Private Equity Fund capability in 
the last year through the acquisition of two management 
contracts from Bramdean Asset Management. One of these is 
a UK quoted investment company that has since renamed as 
Aberdeen Private Equity Fund Limited. Encouragingly we have 
seen interest in this capability from our existing client base 
that has previously had no exposure to the area.  

Finally, our indexed equities business experienced a significant 
inflow of new business during the year with assets under 
management standing at £7.4 billion at 30 September 2010. 
The indexed equity portfolios cover a variety of country, 
regional, global and sector mandates and are invested using 
either full replication or optimisation strategies.

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

 
Property assets by domicile

Middle East
& Africa
£0.4bnAsia

£0.6bn

Continental &
Eastern Europe

£10.1bn

UK
£5.6bn

Nordic
£5.0bn

Total £21.7bn (2009: £22.6bn) As at 30 September 2010

Source: Aberdeen Asset Management.

 
Short term uncertainty has fallen

22

24

26

28

30

32

34

36

Mar  11Jan  11Nov 10Sep 10Jul 10

30/06/201031/05/201030/04/2010% 22/09/2010

Near-term
uncertainty
has fallen

But medium-term
uncertainty
remains elevated

Source: Bloomberg. 

Note: VIX is the Chicago Board Options Exchange Market Volatility Index.

22       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010       23  

Aberdeen's pooled fund range in Luxembourg saw net inflows of 
over £1.2 billion as at September 2010. Of this, over £250 million 
came through Switzerland, 15 Swedish institutions topped up by 
nearly £120 million and some 28 Italian institutions bought almost 
£100 million of the funds, while 27 German institutions bought just 
under £125 million from the fund range. Elsewhere in Europe, French 
institutions bought over £30 million.

Source: Aberdeen.



Business development
The very powerful dynamics in markets had a strong influence 
on asset gathering, and mainly for the better. Over the period 
we recorded gross sales of £46.6 billion which translated into 
net sales of £2.6 billion. 

Key wins came across global emerging markets, including 
regional and single country strategies. Most gratifyingly this 
included fixed income as well as equities, a traditional strength. 
We also continued to boost our reputation in global equities, 
although consultant ratings acceptance has been glacial in 
some cases, but appears now to have turned in our favour.

Perhaps the most exciting development was the capture of 
two institutional accounts from sovereign wealth funds by our 
Asian fixed income team. We have high hopes for this asset 
class. Our distinct GEM debt team also cemented its standing 
with further institutional wins (with local currency mandates 
now attracting interest) as well as from pooled fund inflows. 
Our biggest frustration was in Australia where our fixed income 
performance was exceptional, yet only now is our team being 
considered by consultants who had adopted a ‘wait-and-see’ 
approach after the Credit Suisse purchase last year. 

From the point of view of fund launches, the winners have 
been those houses able to capture cross-border flows. A wall 
of money – some $500 billion, twice as much as the year 
before – went into funds globally in the first half of 2010, the 
vast majority into bonds. Global fixed income, especially high 
yield strategies, emerging market and Asian bonds have all 
done spectacularly well, as have Asian equities. But the salient 
feature in all this has been the dominance of just a handful 
of groups.  

In terms of new products we launched little new during the 
year. A notable exception was a new UK closed-end fund, 
Aberdeen Latin American Income Fund, which raised £52.6 
million; and an emerging market fixed income local currency 
fund, which is growing steadily. The relative dearth of new 
product launches underscores the fact that we already have 
representative vehicles among most of the main selling asset 
classes of this past year. 

Like much of the industry we saw outflows from our money 
market funds, which is unsurprising given the low level of 
interest rates, although these flows are stabilising. We suffered 
too from net outflows in our core UK and US fixed income 
products. 

Distribution trends 
There have been several developments of note to the 
structure of the funds industry, especially in the West, many of 
which have gained impetus following the credit crisis or have 
come about because of it.

As we noted last year, there has been a strong trend by 
wholesale distributors to narrow their relationship with 
fund managers to a handful of partners, and hence abandon 
more open architecture. This is most apparent among the 
big European private banks. Indeed, one of the attractions of 
our purchase of Credit Suisse assets was to gain access to its 
considerable distribution network.

However, no distributor can provide uniform reach and 
we have had to develop relationships on multiple fronts: 
on the one hand with centralised product advisers or fund 
gatekeepers; on the other with local office sales managers. 

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED
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Shorter fund lists make cross-selling of products to 
distributors much harder. This has led to a concentrated 
interest in our Asian and GEM equities. Against this, global 
financial institutions looking to develop strategic partnerships 
tend to favour organisations such as ourselves with a strong 
footprint globally and with local fund management in the 
regions where we invest.  

The financial crisis shook faith not only in markets, policy-
makers and regulators, but also in the professional managers 
to whom they entrust their money. In some cases this was 
a failure of the notion of diversification as all asset classes 
fell together, but it may also have been a failure of risk 
measurement. In casting around for new models however, 
new ideas have been wanting. Attachment to efficient market 
theory, on which established risk models are largely based, runs 
deep, despite evident flaws. Philosophy aside, the practical issue 
of where to allocate funds suggests that investor behaviour 
may not have changed much, but due diligence is being given 
more importance. More quarterly client reviews have resulted.

In the case of Credit Suisse in particular, our key challenge 
has been to integrate and energise offices that were used 
to managing captive client pools which has proved testing 
at times. We have also had to invest in brand promotion 
to achieve recognition in new territories. That has involved 
engagement with the media, third party distributor 
platforms and running fund campaigns. By and large, 
however, our first cross-border marketing campaigns have 
been promising, with our Latin American equity campaign 
shortlisted to win “Marketing Campaign of the Year” by 
Funds Europe magazine, a title we also won last year for the 
emerging market equity SICAV.

Products
In the past year we have captured a good percentage of 
wholesale money into Asian equity, GEM equity and emerging 
market debt funds. In all three areas we were helped by 
well-established teams, a distinctive investment process and 
excellent long-term performance. But to an extent the size of 
these gains has been assisted by superior market returns and 
may not necessarily be repeated.

If we are to maintain our rate of growth we must find new 
sources of distribution and new products. While Credit Suisse 
has provided an enlarged European platform, we still need 
to get onto the myriad of platforms that belong to insurers, 
financial advisers, banks, securities houses and broker dealers 
that dominate in these markets. 

In Australia fund platforms and dealer groups form a tight 
compact with consultants whose endorsement is critical 
to achieving funds sales. In the wake of the Credit Suisse 
acquisition, consultants put our acquired funds on automatic 
review. It has been a frustrating twelve months awaiting a 
follow-up evaluation, but during which we have managed to 
add outperformance.

What this underscores is that we would be unwise to 
presume on any local loyalty, be this in Australia, the UK, 
US or anywhere else, and irrespective of whether we have 
established roots. We must instead invest constantly both to 
retain clients and to attract new ones. Asian fixed income, 
high yield and equity income are all areas where we have 
credibility and have recently developed products where we 
would expect to gain sales. 

 
Continued dominance of bond funds globally  
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With the RBS-Coutts deal, we now find ourselves with some 
very competitive funds, but where their distribution was tied 
to the Coutts relationship. In order to drive new sales we must 
open up channels in the UK and Europe involving marketing 
campaigns with a more retail flavour. 

Unlike the institutional pitches that have become second 
nature, this means more support from advertising, 
campaigning and fund manager roadshows; a focus on 
competitive fee structures; tailored product features (such as 
monthly payouts for income funds); and at the most retail end 
of the market, more old-fashioned prospecting of new clients. 

It is a tall order insofar as our biggest rivals have very 
considerable resources. What gives us confidence is that 
market needs change fast and so does market leadership. The 
UK market, for example, remains surprisingly fragmented. 
In Europe, entrenched but tired distribution networks mean 
we have been welcomed in many places as a new name. 
The upfront costs of attacking new markets can tot up fast; 
equally the fees can be compelling once volume follows.

Americas
Turning to our main regions, our strong efforts to build scale 
and grow recognition in the US gained national attention 
as Barron’s named Aberdeen as one of its Best Mutual Fund 
Families in their annual survey, with additional top ten 
citations across fund categories. The mutual funds have 
developed considerably over the year with now more that 
$5 billion in assets through a combination of fund flows and 
consolidation of internal mergers and acquisitions.

In July, we acquired a number of mandates from the Bank of 
Hawaii, adviser of the Pacific Capital Funds. The $450 million 
in assets was reorganised into four Aberdeen Funds. We are 
however looking to grow organically as well and, with disarray 
in the wider financial sector for much of the period, we 
directed efforts away from traditional "wirehouse" wholesaling 
and towards the more institutional arena of regional bank 
discretionary platforms and sophisticated (implicitly larger) 
fee-based registered investment advisers. 

With the successful integration of four new closed-end funds 
previously under Credit Suisse, repackaged as Aberdeen, we 
also launched our first ever US advertising campaign. This has 
helped energise this channel and the boards which fund us 
have responded positively. 

After a number of years building a solid foundation, our 
institutional arm is now benefiting from strong support across 
investment consulting firms and developing relationships 
directly with plan sponsors. After gaining an initial foothold via 
our global emerging markets product, we are encouraged to see 
recent success and increased activity focused on the Global and 
EAFE Plus products. Consistent with strong interest in the asset 
class, we have been actively promoting our competitive EMD 
capabilities and won our first EMD local currency mandate.  

In Canada, we passed C$5 billion in assets, including a roster 
of financial institution, government and corporate accounts. 
Realistically, although we don't anticipate a slowdown in 
new global/EAFE assets, the current rate of growth is not 
sustainable; in anticipation of this we are shifting our efforts/
visibility into other products and are optimistic about the 
potential in global property, EMD and small cap mandates.

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED
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Europe and the UK
We see Continental Europe as a prime area of growth, in 
wholesale and retail as well as institutional channels. This 
is because of relatively deep pools of savings that may not 
have been efficiently deployed, which coincides with our now 
established offices taking root. Retirement fund shortfalls will 
put pressure on providers to raise returns. 

Saying all this, Europe’s distribution structures still appear 
tight thanks to the prevailing bancassurance model, although 
uncertainties circle the banking sector with capital pressures 
from regulatory changes that may have begun to favour 
independent managers. Switzerland led the way for gross fund 
sales for Aberdeen Global, our cross-border Luxembourg range, 
attracting over £250 million in net sales during September. 
The Aberdeen Global range saw over £1.2 billion of net inflows 
in the month, with strong fresh demand from Sweden, France 
and Germany, behind Switzerland’s pole position. 

The UK market saw us consolidate our strength in key funds, 
rather than lead to any new developments, although we 
have enjoyed support in the key wholesale channels. Overall 
the UK industry has bounced back from knocks to its larger 
reputation as an international financial centre. There continues 
to be considerable debate over the impact of the proposed 
AIFM directive from Brussels (see opposite). In the UK, where 
we have experimented most with short media bursts and site-
buying we promoted emerging market equity fund and global 
equity, raising over £800 million into the OEIC range.

Closed end funds in the UK have also seen considerable new 
issuance. Alongside the launch of Aberdeen Latin American 
Income Fund, a further £100 million was raised by the issue of 

Regulation

A key driver for developments in our industry in recent years 
has been the huge number of changes proposed in legislation 
and regulation as policymakers and regulators around the 
world attempt to grapple with the consequences of banking 
failure and the credit crunch. The speed of such changes is, if 
anything, increasing and in the next few years the industry will 
be at least, partly shaped by them. In the UK, for instance, we 
are facing the impact of the retail distribution review (RDR), in 
Europe the implementation of UCITS IV from 1 July 2011, and 
the introduction of the Alternative Investment Funds Directive 
(AIFM) from January 2013. 

The EU's AIFM Directive, which has been a subject of much 
controversy between different member states for the last 18 
months has just been adopted by the European Parliament. 
Two of the most contentious issues were in the marketing of 
funds and liability of the depositaries.  A passport allowing 
authorised fund managers (whether based in or outside 
the EU) to market funds to professional investors in the EU 
will come in to force at a future date, likely to be in 2015.  
Existing national private placement rules in relation to non-EU 
funds can continue until at least 2018 but will be subject 
to additional conditions. Every fund must have a depositary.  
Depositaries will have strict liability where they delegate their 
functions subject to certain exceptions. Despite being hugely 
detailed and complex in some ways, the Directive still does 
not paint the full picture of EU regulation of alternative fund 
managers. Practically every section of the Directive provides 
for the Commission or the new European Securities and 
Markets Authority ("ESMA") to produce rules that will further 
explain what that section of the Directive means in practice. 
So, while fund managers can be relatively certain of the basic 
rules that will govern their regulation in the EU, the devil - as 
always - will be in the detail.

Elsewhere, local regulations are also tightening with the UK 
seeing the implementation of the RDR from 31 December 
2012. This review has a number of noble aims including the 
introduction of a more transparent and fairer charging system.  
Managers seem uncertain as to whether the regulation will 
result in a proliferation of different share classes for funds and 
whether by responding in different ways they will be exposed 
to greater regulatory risk and uncertainty. The FSA expect 
to see a fall in fund managers’ annual management charges. 
These regulatory changes will contribute however to more 
detailed segmentation strategies by asset managers. Likewise, 
distributors are expected to become more concentrated, which 
may have both positive and adverse effects depending upon 
business models. 

The IMF's recent report on global financial stability 
underscores a need for a new regulatory and institutional 
landscape to ensure financial stability. The report urges a 
reform agenda for the financial sector, beyond the banking 
industry, that addresses "systemic risks generated by individual 
firms and collective behaviour". Regulatory changes can 
therefore only be expected to increase in the coming years. 

 
Assets by client domicile

Americas
£29.5bn

Europe ex UK
£61.2bn

Middle East & Africa
£15.7bn

UK
£50.9bn

Total £178.7bn (2009: £146.2bn) As at 30 September 2010

Asia pacific
£21.4bn

Source: Aberdeen Asset Management.
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new shares from existing investment trusts. We also continued 
to win industry awards for our investor communications 
in our investment trust business, both online, for the sixth 
consecutive year and also for our retail magazine, the Bulletin. 
In the pension funds arena, where some of our core clients 
have left after poor bond performance, we were pleased 
that our UK “Pension Intelligence” programme won the Best 
Trustee Education provider award from Engaged Investor 
Magazine, testament to the effort the team has been placing 
in defending this business channel. 

Asia and Australia
We once again had a strong year in the region. Regional 
equities rebounded along with economies, thanks in part 
to loose global money. We outperformed benchmarks. As 
a result we are now one of the largest managers of Asia ex 
Japan securities globally with $18.7bn under management. 
Our size, however, has put pressure on us to allocate any 
remaining capacity judiciously, with an eye to not just fees 
but servicing costs.

But while AuM has increased thanks to global institutional 
interest, local retail buying stayed quiet for much of the 
period amid a preference for global income products. Indeed,  
having been in Asia for almost 20 years we can say domestic 
growth continues to be attractive because of rising wealth 
creation, more liquid local markets, regulatory encouragement 
and exogenous factors (such as the migration of private bank 
money from Switzerland to the city states of Singapore and 
Hong Kong). But it is as easy to exaggerate growth rates as 
to underestimate competition and the obstacles of informal 
barriers to market growth.

Where we recorded net flows, this was largely on the strength 
of our standing with a handful of key distributors, such as 
insurers. In Japan, our institutional partnership with Mitsubishi 
is progressing well and it will be interesting to see how this 
relationship can now be developed to include retail products 
(such as Asian fixed income) given an inherently fickle market.

In due course we anticipate equities making way for fixed 
income (and in time, property) as a focus for new business. 
This has been a long planned development - and is a timely 
one, given the global demand for yield. Our Singapore-based 
Asian fixed income team won its first segregated accounts 
within the region. In Australia the Sydney office has integrated 
well and, though there have been continued outflows from 
our international equity funds, we have worked hard to 
develop due recognition for our investment process and 
teams. Next year we must gather assets.    

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED
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Pensions Intelligence, a UK initiative led by Aberdeen to 
support trustees, won the award for Best Trustee Education Provider 
at the Engaged Investor Awards for the second year running this 
year. Aberdeen partnered with the University of Edinburgh Business 
School to provide a series of educational seminars which aim to 
increase pension schemes’ understanding of their market. Topics 
are driven by the delegates and cover key fi nancial, regulatory and 
administrative issues.

Source: Aberdeen.



Outlook
As investors, the most profound global change we face is the 
erosion of traditional distinctions between developed and 
developing economies. In the West, the risks of deflation are 
still prevalent, particularly in the US where nominal GDP 
growth has slowed more significantly than real GDP. Private 
consumption (in the form of both spending and investment) 
is still weak. US policymakers are therefore turning to further 
monetary easing to depress bond yields, push investors into 
risk assets and so create a renewed 'wealth effect'. But easing 
may backfire. Apart from the questionable willingness of banks 
to lend and consumers' ability to borrow, money is going 
instead to the developing world where economies are doing 
fine but their ability to absorb inflows is finite.

Such collateral effects may seem small. Yet today's imbalances 
mean currencies have become a critical element of investor 
returns. In the past year the yen has touched a 15-year high 
against the dollar; many emerging market currencies, such as 
the Brazilian real hit new peaks, the Australian dollar is worth 
the same as the US dollar, and the Euro is appreciating, further 
endangering recovery in an area where the banking system 
is suspect. No wonder capital controls are being increasingly 
enacted across the developing world.

In the short term, we believe liquidity will support all markets. 
But for bonds frankly policy has become experimental. High 
yield markets are better protected. Equities, meanwhile, have 
more room to perform because companies have managed 
their costs in this cycle. Whether top line sales growth can 
be maintained is the open question: in emerging markets 
prospects are more elevated, but so are valuations. 

For our industry all this may suggest renewed volatility, which 
will test investors' appetite for risk. Even more than usual 
it may be a case too of 'to the victor the spoils' in terms of 
having the right products at the right time. Our efforts in the 
past few years have been directed at meeting investor needs 
across a range of strategies. We can present a more coherent 
front than ever before; not only in product choice but in terms 
of where and to whom we sell. 

Financial objectives
Our objective is to deliver long-term shareholder value 
by pursuing a strategy that involves organic growth 
supplemented, at appropriate times in the business cycle, 
by selective acquisitions. Having successfully completed 
two acquisitions in the last 18 months which each bring 
additional distribution relationships, we are focused on 
growing organically for the foreseeable future. Our principal 
aims are to grow the recurring revenues that can be generated 
from the assets under our management and to maintain an 
efficient cost base from which to service this business, thus 
generating sustainable profits and cashflows. The level of net 
new business flows is a key driver of the growth in revenues 
and profits.

Acquisitions
We completed the acquisition of the fund of alternatives 
and long only multi manager business from Royal Bank of 
Scotland in late January 2010 and have made good progress 
in integrating these activities into the wider Group and 
introducing these new capabilities to our clients. 

Taken with the Credit Suisse acquisition which we completed 
in June 2009, we now have a broader platform from which 
to build further organic growth; progress to date has been 
encouraging and we look forward to continuing this trend in 
the months and years to come.

We also increased the scale of our US mutual fund offering by 
merging some funds previously managed by Bank of Hawaii 
into the Aberdeen range.

Review of results
Global markets have remained somewhat volatile during 
the year under review, albeit at higher levels than prevailed 
in 2009. The Group’s AuM has grown as a consequence, 
boosted by acquisition activity and net new business won. 

Changes in AuM are summarised in the following table:

£bn

At 30 September 2009 146.2

Net new business flows 2.6

Corporate transactions 12.4

Markets and performance 17.5

At 30 September 2010 178.7

Against this background, income has grown steadily 
throughout the year and operating costs have been carefully 
controlled; the results for the year to 30 September 2010 
therefore disclose a 147% increase in underlying profit 
before taxation to £210.0 million. Overall net new business 
flows have returned to positive territory, with an improving 
trend experienced throughout the year. 

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED
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At the gross level, new business flows have grown very 
strongly, delivering £46.6 billion of new AuM during the year 
(2009: £19.1 billion). We have continued to experience a 
higher than normal level of withdrawals and redemptions, 
principally from our fixed income business, rate of outflow 
declined as the year progressed. Outflows for the year were 
£44.0 billion, against £29.2 billion reported for 2009. As a 
result, net new business flows turned positive for the year at 
+£2.6 billion (2009: -£10.7 billion). A further £1.9 billion of 
new mandates had been awarded at 30 September 2010 for 
which the funding was not received from clients until after 
the year end. 

We anticipate continued healthy net inflows into equities as 
we continue to see strong appetite for our global equities and 
global emerging markets products; the latter remains closed 
to new segregated business as we seek to manage the quality 
and flow rate of assets we take on. 

Fixed income performance has recovered strongly, but we 
believe that some further outflows may still be experienced 
until the three year performance numbers recover towards 
benchmark during 2011.

With fee margins on equities being considerably higher than 
on fixed income, the effect on revenues is strongly positive.

Consistent with the approach we have adopted in previous 
years, this business review discusses the results on the basis 
of presentation adopted for management purposes, which 
separates exceptional items, amortisation and impairment 
from the underlying revenues and costs which drive the 
Group's recurring cashflow. The Board believes that discussing 
the results in this way will provide more helpful information 
to investors, and the Group income statement on page 73 has 
been presented in a manner which enables this distinction.

Revenue for the year increased by 51% to £638.2 million, 
while underlying operating expenses grew by 28% to £416.3 
million; operating profit consequently grew by 132% to 
£221.9 million. Net finance costs amounted to £11.9 million 
(2009: £10.6 million), resulting in an underlying profit before 
taxation of £210.0 million, a 147% increase on 2009. 

Revenues have improved as a consequence of higher 
market levels and investment performance; this has been 
supplemented by including a full year of the ex-Credit Suisse 
business and by the addition of the ex-RBS business from 
29 January. Cost growth has been carefully controlled, at a 
much lower rate than increases in income, resulting in a much 
improved operating margin of 34.8% (2009: 22.7%). 

Underlying earnings per share, which takes account of the 
increased number of shares in issue as well as the change in 
profits, improved by 110% to 13.3p per share on a diluted basis.

Exceptional expenses of £19.5 million were incurred during 
the first half of the financial year. The largest element, 
£12.5 million, represented the final element of the Credit 
Suisse transition and migration of systems. A further £6.1 
million was charged in respect of the acceleration of lease 
costs as we moved to a larger London office following this 
transaction. We also recorded a charge of £1.6 million for 
the costs of the RBS acquisition, accounting regulations 
no longer permitting such costs to be recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition. During the second half year we 
have reversed £1.3 million of provisions which are no longer 
required and the full year charge for exceptional items has 
therefore reduced to £18.2 million.

Summary of results for 2010

Underlying 
£m

Reclassifications
£m

IFRS
£m

Revenue 638.2 – 638.2

Operating expenses (416.3) (84.4) (500.7)

Operating profit 221.9 (84.4) 137.5

Net finance costs (11.9) – (11.9)

Profit before taxation 210.0 (84.4) 125.6

Tax expense (40.4) 22.1 (18.3)

Profit after taxation 169.6 (62.3) 107.3

Exceptional items (18.2) 18.2 –

Amortisation & impairment of intangible assets (66.2) 66.2 –

Tax on exceptional items, amortisation & impairment 22.1 (22.1) –

Profit for the year 107.3 – 107.3
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Key performance indicators

2010 2009 2008

Change in underlying profit before taxation +147% -10% +1%

Change in underlying EPS (diluted) +110% -30% -19%

Operating margin 34.8% 22.7% 23.2%

Conversion of operating profit to cashflow 115% 83% 106%

Gross new business – funded in year £46.6bn £19.1bn £21.8bn

Net new business – funded in year +£2.6bn -£10.7bn +£1.0bn

New business awarded but not funded at year end £1.9bn £3.9bn £1.9bn

Financial review
Revenue
Revenue increased by 51% to £638.2 million, with increased 
performance fee income being a welcome reward for 
consistently good investment performance; yet the major part 
of the growth came once again from recurring management 
fees which, at 94% of total revenues (2009: 98%), provide 
a high quality base on which to build. Approximately £82 
million (19%) of the increase is due to the new business 
added by the Credit Suisse and RBS acquisitions, with £136 
million (32%) due to organic growth.

Operating expenses
Overall, operating expenses have grown by £90.1 million 
(28%), of which approximately £40 million (12%) is due to 
the Credit Suisse and RBS acquisitions. Organic growth in 
costs of £50 million (16%) has been at a considerably lower 
rate than the growth in revenues.

Operating profit and margin
Underlying operating profit for 2010 was 132% higher 
at £221.9 million, representing an operating margin of 
34.8% (2009: 22.7%). While the impetus for this margin 
improvement was provided in the final quarter of the last 
financial year, the margin achieved this year has been 
delivered by further improvements in the average revenue 
yielded by our assets under management while keeping close 
control of operating costs.

Net finance costs
The main elements of net finance costs are interest paid on 
the bonds issued by the Group and on bank borrowings drawn 
from time to time, less interest earned on cash balances. Net 
finance costs have increased slightly, from £10.6 million in 
2009 to £11.9 million this year. In cash terms net finance 
costs are largely unchanged last year.

Tax
The effective tax rate, defined as the tax charge divided by 
profit before taxation, was 19.2% in 2010. This relatively low 
rate is achieved because significant elements of the Group’s 
profits are earned in jurisdictions which charge tax at lower 

rates than the UK corporation tax rate of 28%. The effective 
tax rate is expected to increase slightly going forward, to 
around 20%, as the Group’s profits from Europe grow.

Earnings per share
As discussed above, the Board believes that the most 
appropriate measure of the Group’s profitability is the 
underlying EPS number, which excludes from its calculation 
exceptional costs, exceptional income and gains and the 
amortisation and impairment charges on intangible assets. On 
this measure the Group’s underlying diluted EPS has increased 
by 110% to 13.3p per share.

Coupon on 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities
The coupon payable on these securities, which were issued 
in 2007 to introduce additional flexibility to the capital 
structure, is fully deductible for UK tax purposes, so that the 
post-tax cost is approximately 5.7% pa. This is considerably 
less than the cost of ordinary share capital, currently 
estimated at around 10.4% pa. Earlier this year we obtained 
confirmation that the FSA would not object to our converting 
these securities into non-cumulative preference shares, as we 
are entitled to do under their terms of issue; we have chosen 
not to proceed with conversion at this time but we will keep 
this under review.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 3.2p per share was paid to ordinary 
shareholders in June 2010 and the Board is recommending 
payment of a final dividend of 3.8p per share, resulting in 
a total payment for 2010 of 7.0p, a 17% increase on 2009. 
This dividend is covered approximately 1.9 times by recurring 
earnings per share and is fully covered by diluted earnings per 
share, stated after amortisation and exceptional items.

Cashflow
The year to 30 September 2010 has seen extremely strong 
cashflow, with operating profit of £221.9 million turned into 
£255.0 million of operating cashflow, a conversion rate of 
115% (2009: 83%). The Group’s cashflow performance over 
the last three years is set out in the following table.
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Financial position
Total equity increased by £162.9 million to £1,184.9 million at 30 September 2010. The main components of this increase were 
as follows:

Changes in equity

£m

Profit for the year 107.3

Net expense recognised directly in other comprehensive income (12.9)

Issue of equity 115.8

Preference dividends paid (2.7)

Coupon paid on perpetual capital securities (14.7)

Ordinary dividends paid (67.5)

Equity component of convertible bond issue 6.4

Movement in minority interest 6.6

Release from reserves to match charge for share-based payments in Income Statement 26.8

Purchase of own shares (2.2)

Increase in total equity 162.9

Cash flow performance

2010 
£m

2009 
£m

2008 
£m

Operating cashflow before interest and tax 255.0 79.6 106.3

Interest and tax paid (26.9) (37.3) (27.4)

Cashflow from operating activities after interest and tax 228.1 42.3 78.9

Maintenance capital expenditure (6.5) (6.8) (3.0)

Dividends and coupons paid (90.6) (61.5) (55.0)

Recurring free cashflow 131.0 (26.0) 20.9

Exceptional costs and gains (15.5) (25.3) (10.2)

Acquisitions and disposals (73.3) 19.9 (202.3)

Debt drawn (repaid) (90.9) 31.8 98.2

Issue of share capital 115.8 (0.8) 95.2

Purchase of own shares (2.2) (0.3) –

Exchange fluctuations 4.5 – (0.3)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 69.4 (0.7) 1.5

Net borrowings at 30 September 2010 were £7.7 million, 
equivalent to a gearing ratio of 0.6% of total equity (2009: 
17.1%). During the year we issued a new £90 million 
convertible bond and used the proceeds to repay bank debt, 
and we have subsequently repaid all remaining bank debt 
from operating cashflow. The holders of £35.9 million of the 
convertible preference share units decided to exercise their 
rights to convert their holdings to ordinary shares, further 
strengthening the Group’s core capital position. 

At the year end the Group had access to £75 million of 
committed but undrawn bank facilities and an overdraft 
facility, also undrawn, of £15 million, in addition to cash 
resources of £150.8 million. These facilities are used for the 
management of working capital requirements including the 
provision of seed capital to enable fund launches. The Group’s 
liquidity position is therefore very robust and we will renew 
these facilities in an appropriate manner as we move forward.
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Pension deficits
The net deficit on the Group’s legacy defined benefit pension 
schemes has increased slightly to £35.0 million at 30 
September 2010, compared to a net deficit of £33.4 million 
at the previous year end. Assets held by the schemes have 
increased by £15.2 million during the year as markets have 
improved; however, the value attributed to the liabilities of 
the schemes has increased by £15.8 million. In estimating the 
liabilities, we are required by IAS 19 to use a discount rate 
calculated by reference to the yield on AA-rated corporate 
bonds. The discount rate used this year is 5.0%, compared to 
5.5% in 2009 and, as a result, the present value of the future 
cashflows which comprise the liabilities of the schemes has 
increased. The Group’s ongoing cash contribution to these 
schemes is approximately £5.9 million per annum, and there 
is no expectation of any material change in this figure in the 
near term.

Capital increases
The principal element of capital issued during the year was 
the issue to finance the acquisition of certain businesses 
from Royal Bank of Scotland; 90 million new ordinary shares 
were issued at a price of 132p per share. The value of this 
issue was £115.8 million, net of expenses. 39 million new 
ordinary shares were issued on the conversion of £35.9 
million of the 6.75% convertible preference share units and 
a further 170,800 new ordinary shares were issued pursuant 
to the exercise of share options by employees. The Company 
also issued 12 million new shares to the Group’s Employee 
Benefits Trust to enable vesting of deferred shares awarded as 
part of 2006 and 2008 variable remuneration.

Risk management
Principal risks and uncertainties
In common with many businesses, the Group is exposed to 
a range of risks. Some of these risks are an inherent part of 
the business, such as taking investment decisions on behalf 
of clients and our energies are focused on managing this 
risk, as opposed to eliminating it. The Group is also subject 
to regulatory and compliance risk which we actively seek to 
manage. An update on emerging regulatory risks is given on 
page 27. The management of risk is embedded in the culture 
of the Group and the way we conduct our business. This is 
managed at an executive level through the risk management 
committee which, together with the risk, compliance and 
internal audit departments, is responsible for overseeing 
the implementation of our risk strategies; this involves the 
provision of regular reports to the Audit Committee, Risk 
Committee and the Board. In order to mitigate risk, the Group 
manages risk in a variety of ways depending on the nature of 
the risk and the areas of potential impact. The key risks for the 
Group include:

Interest rate risk
We finance our activities from a combination of equity, 
including perpetual capital securities and preference shares, 
and debt. Coupon payments on the perpetual capital securities 
and preference dividends are payable, at the discretion of 
the Board, at fixed rates. Bank borrowings under the Group’s 
multi-currency revolving credit facilities are drawn in the 
desired currency at variable interest rates. Interest on the 
US dollar subordinated loan is charged at a fixed rate for 
five years from the date of issue, July 2006. The convertible 
bonds issued in December 2009 bear interest at a fixed rate 
throughout their five year life. The Board believes that the 
balance between floating rate and fixed rate borrowings is 
appropriate to the Group’s business needs and will continue 
to monitor this position on a regular basis.

Liquidity risk
The Group's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group's reputation. Details of the bank 
facilities available to the Group are provided in note 27. The 
headroom between available facilities and amounts drawn is 
substantial, and will be maintained at a healthy level in future, 
using committed borrowing facilities where necessary to 
supplement cash resources retained by the Group.

Credit risk
We face credit risk as a result of counter party exposure. We 
monitor the credit worthiness of our major counter parties. 
This includes actively monitoring credit ratings from rating 
agencies at the banks where we deposit cash.

Foreign currency risk
Revenues are earned principally from fees which are calculated 
on the basis of the value of AuM managed for clients and 
many mandates include investments valued in currencies 
other than sterling. Fluctuations in the rates at which overseas 
currencies are convertible to sterling can therefore affect the 
value of the Group’s revenues on an ongoing basis. The fact 
that we operate on a global basis, with offices in a number of 
countries worldwide, means that a proportion of operating 
costs is also incurred in foreign currencies and interest on 
the Group’s $125 million subordinated debt and coupons on 
the 7.9% perpetual capital securities is incurred in US dollars. 
Variations in the sterling value of these operating costs and 
interest cost will, to an extent, offset any similar impact of 
fluctuating exchange rates on revenues and the Board has 
therefore decided that it is not appropriate to undertake any 
specific hedging of the Group's US dollar exposure.
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Martin Gilbert
Chief Executive

Bill Rattray
Finance Director

Fair value of financial instruments
As explained in note 29 to the accounts, there is no material 
difference between the book value and fair value of financial 
instruments as at 30 September 2010.

Client relationships
Our relationships with clients are fundamental to our 
business. Our client relations teams keep in regular contact 
with them to ensure that we address their changing needs. 
More widely, we aim to provide a high level of information to 
our customers, through a variety of means. 

Investment performance risk
The majority of the Group’s revenue is derived from 
management fees which are calculated on the basis of the 
value of AuM from time to time. The value of AuM will be 
affected by general movements, positive or negative, in the 
markets in which the assets are invested but, more specifically, 
will be affected by the actual investment performance 
achieved by the asset managers. Our investment performance 
will, from time to time and measured over various time 
periods, exceed or lag general market or benchmark 
performance - referred to as relative performance. We 
deliberately adopt a long term investment style, founded on 
a robust investment process which involves detailed research 
of individual stocks, both before and following investment. 
This investment style is designed to deliver superior returns 
over the longer term but it may result in below benchmark 
returns in periods when markets generally are driven 
forward by positive (and often shorter term) sentiment. We 
seek to mitigate this risk by ensuring that both clients and 
investment consultants are kept fully aware of the nature 
of our investment philosophy and by openly discussing the 
drivers of such performance, supported by relevant analysis 
of the components of performance, and comparing this with 
benchmark performance.

Employee risk
We operate internationally and the Group's most important 
resource is its staff. Their knowledge and abilities are central 
to meeting clients’ needs and expectations. Retention of key 
staff is vitally important in maintaining this focus on client 
service. The Group’s team-based approach to investment 
management is considered to be a key mitigant of employee 
risk, and the Group seeks to further reduce dependence on 
key staff through its graduate recruitment programme and 
the provision of ongoing training and development courses. 
Appropriate incentive packages are in place to encourage and 
reward strong performance.

Business continuity risk
We have an obligation to ensure that the business can operate 
at all times. We have continuity plans which are tested 
regularly. Our main back office is outsourced to third parties. 
We monitor these providers closely. We also have offsite 
back up for our systems in place to cover each of the Group’s 
principal operating sites. We are insured in the event of loss of 
revenue through business interruption. 

Project risk
We are reliant on the smooth and efficient delivery of key 
projects and manage the risks involved in these through 
a clearly defined process which is overseen by a senior 
management team. This Group projects committee ensures 
prioritisation and allocation of resources across Group projects.
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Board of directors

ROGER CORNICK 2

CHAIRMAN (AGE 66)
Roger was appointed to the Board on 23 January 2004 and became chairman on  
22 January 2009. Roger was with Perpetual PLC for over 20 years, serving latterly as deputy 
chairman. Roger has over 30 years' experience of marketing and distribution in financial 
services and is currently a trustee of the River and Rowing Museum. Roger is chairman of 
the Group's nominations committee.

MARTIN GILBERT MA LLB LLD CA
CHIEF EXECUTIVE (AGE 55)
Trained as a chartered accountant in Aberdeen, Martin is a founder of the Company and 
was first appointed a director on 1 July 1983. He is chairman of FirstGroup plc and Chaucer 
Holdings PLC. Martin is also a director of Aberdeen Asian Smaller Companies Investment 
Trust PLC, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income Fund, Inc, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income 
Investment Company Limited, Aberdeen Development Capital PLC, Aberdeen Football Club 
plc, Aberdeen Global Income Fund, Inc and Primary Health Properties PLC.

ANDREW LAING MA LLB
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (AGE 58)
Andrew joined the Group in 1986 with responsibility for private equity investment. Andrew 
was subsequently appointed chief operating officer, originally joining the Board in 1987 
and then again on 23 January 2004 and was appointed deputy chief executive in 2008. 
Andrew graduated from Aberdeen University with a MA in Politics and International 
Relations and a degree in Law. Andrew is a director of a number of Group subsidiaries.

BILL RATTRAY MA CA
FINANCE DIRECTOR (AGE 52)
Bill joined the Group in 1985 as company secretary and subsequently became Group 
financial controller. He was appointed finance director on 31 January 1991. Before joining 
the Group, he trained as a chartered accountant with Ernst & Whinney in Aberdeen and 
qualified in 1982. Bill is a director of a number of Group subsidiaries.

1 Member of the audit committee
2 Member of the nominations committee
3 Member of the remuneration committee
4 Member of the risk committee
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DONALD WATERS OBE CA 1

SENIOR INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 72)
Donald was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2000. A chartered accountant, Donald is 
a non-executive director of James Johnston & Co of Elgin Limited. He was formerly deputy 
chairman and chief executive of Grampian Television plc and a director of SMG plc.

ANITA FREW BA MPhil 1,2,3,4

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 53)
Anita was appointed to the Board on 1 October 2004. Anita started her career at The 
Royal Bank of Scotland before moving to Scottish Provident where she became head of UK 
investment. Anita then joined WPP Group PLC as director of corporate development. She has 
also served as an executive director at Abbott Mead Vickers plc. Anita is currently chairman 
of Victrex PLC and a non-executive director of IMI plc and Northumbrian Water Limited, and 
has recently been appointed to the Board of Lloyds Banking Group plc.

GERHARD FUSENIG
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 46)
Gerhard was appointed to the Board on 8 October 2009, following the agreement entered 
into by Aberdeen with Credit Suisse Group AG in 2008. Gerhard achieved a Masters in 
Mathematics and Business Management and started his career at SMH Research, before 
moving to Landesbank Hessen, Dresdner Bank and then UBS where he fulfilled several roles 
in operations, portfolio management and distribution until he joined Credit Suisse Asset 
Management in 2008. Gerhard is currently head of multi asset class solutions, equities and 
fixed income and head of asset management Switzerland.

KENICHI MIYANAGA
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 50)
Kenichi was appointed to the Board on 26 November 2009, as a result of the business 
and capital alliance between Aberdeen and Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation. 
Kenichi was awarded a degree in Economics from Sophia University before starting his 
career with the bank and is a CFA Charterholder. Kenichi has fulfilled various roles within 
the bank including proprietary investment as well as corporate strategic planning and is 
currently executive officer and general manager in charge of the global asset management 
business division.
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JIM PETTIGREW LLB MCT CA 1,4

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 52)
Jim Pettigrew was appointed to the Board on 23 April 2010. Jim is currently a non-
executive director of the Edinburgh Investment Trust Plc, Hermes Fund Managers 
Limited and Royal Bank of Canada Europe Limited. He was formerly chief executive of 
CMC Markets Plc and prior to joining CMC, was group finance director of ICAP Plc and 
subsequently chief operating officer and director at Ashmore Group plc. Jim is chairman of 
the Group’s audit committee.

THE RT. HON SIR MALCOLM RIFKIND KCMG QC 3

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 64)
Sir Malcolm joined the Board on 1 August 2000. He is Conservative Member of Parliament 
for Kensington, having previously served as UK defence secretary and UK foreign secretary. 
Sir Malcolm is a director of Unilever PLC. Sir Malcolm is chairman of the Group's 
remuneration committee.

SIMON TROUGHTON MA MRICS 2,3

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 57)
Simon was appointed to the Board on 29 July 2009. Simon started his career at Cazenove 
and Company Limited before moving to Fauchier Partners where he became chief 
operating officer. Simon is currently a non-executive director of Fauchier Partners Allocator 
Fund, Fauchier Partners Incubator Fund and Fauchier Partners Counterpoint Fund.

GILES WEAVER FCA 1,3,4

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (AGE 64)
Giles was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2000. A chartered accountant, Giles 
was formerly managing director and chairman of the Murray Johnstone Group until its 
acquisition by Aberdeen in 2000. He is currently chairman of Charter European Trust PLC, 
Tamar European Industrial Fund Limited and Helical Bar PLC. Giles is also a director of 
Anglo & Overseas PLC and IRP Property Investments Limited.  Giles is chairman of the 
Group's risk committee.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

1 Member of the audit committee
2 Member of the nominations committee
3 Member of the remuneration committee
4 Member of the risk committee
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Gordon Brough
Global Head of Legal
Gordon joined Aberdeen in February 2009 to head up the 
Group's legal function having previously been the partner 
responsible for the Group's affairs at Maclay Murray & Spens 
LLP. Prior to its merger with Maclays, Gordon had helped 
found specialist law firm, The City Law Partnership. Gordon is 
qualified as a lawyer in both Scots and English law.

Kerry Christie
Global Head of Human Resources
Kerry is global head of human resources and was appointed to 
the Group management board in 2010.  She joined Aberdeen 
in March 2000 and was appointed head of human resources 
in October 2003.  Kerry graduated from Robert Gordon 
University with a BA in Public Administration and holds a 
postgraduate Diploma in Personnel Management.

Chris Ellyatt
Head of Distribution 
Chris is group head of distribution, overseeing business 
development, client service and marketing staff in our offices 
worldwide. He joined Aberdeen in 2002, initially based in 
the Singapore office before moving to London in 2003. Chris 
has over 20 years experience in financial services sales and 
marketing, having worked previously for HSBC, James Capel 
and Barclays De Zoete Wedd. Chris was educated in Hong 
Kong and the UK, and holds a MSc in Development Studies 
from the University of London.

Ken Fry
Chief Operating Officer 
Ken Fry graduated from the University of Essex with a BA in 
Computer Science and joined Aberdeen with the acquisition 
of Frederick’s Place Holdings in 1989 as Group IT manager. He 
was appointed to the Group management board in 2006 as 
chief technology officer and to his current role in 2008.

Paul Griffiths
Global Head of Fixed Income
Paul is the global head of fixed income having joined Aberdeen 
in July 2009 via the acquisition of the Credit Suisse Asset 
Management business, where he was chief investment officer 
and global head of fixed income. Paul previously held a similar 
role at AXA Investment Managers, as well as being its UK chief 
executive officer. Paul graduated with a BSc in Physics from 
the University of York.

Rod MacRae
Group Head of Risk
Rod is responsible for UK and global risk including internal audit, 
regulatory compliance, legal services, business and investment 
risk and serves as chairman of the Group risk management 
committee. Rod joined Aberdeen in 2003, following the 
acquisition of Edinburgh Fund Managers. Rod graduated with 
a MA in Economics from the University of Edinburgh and is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.

Gary Marshall
Head of Americas
Gary was appointed head of the Americas in January 2010.   
He is chief executive of Aberdeen Asset Management Inc in 
the US and president of Aberdeen's US mutual fund range, 
Aberdeen Funds.  Gary joined Aberdeen via the acquisition of 
Prolific Financial Management in 1997 and has had experience 
in many aspects of Aberdeen's operations, having been based 
in London and Edinburgh prior to moving to the US.  He 
graduated with a BSc (Hons) in Actuarial Mathematics and 
Statistics from Heriot Watt University in Edinburgh and is a 
qualified actuary.

Charles McKenzie
Deputy Head of Fixed Income
Charles joined Aberdeen via the acquisition of Deutsche 
Asset Management’s London and Philadelphia fixed income 
businesses in 2005. Charles was head of UK fixed income at 
Deutsche Asset Management in London which he joined in 
1993. Previously, Charles worked at Global Asset Management 
as a fixed income portfolio manager. Charles graduated with a 
BSc from Southampton University and a MBA in Finance from 
London City University Business School.

Anne Richards
Chief Investment Officer
Anne is chief investment officer and head of alternative 
investment strategies. She is also head of the EMEA region.  
Anne was chief investment officer and joint managing director 
of Edinburgh Fund Managers, which was acquired by Aberdeen 
in 2003. Prior to joining EFM, Anne worked for Merrill Lynch 
Investment Managers. Anne graduated in Electronics and 
Electrical Engineering from the University of Edinburgh and 
has a MBA from Insead.

Andrew Smith
Global Head of Property
Andrew Smith is global head of property. Andrew joined 
Aberdeen in 2002 from Henderson Global Investors. His 
property career began at Pearl Assurance plc, where he 
established one of the industry’s first institutional property 
research teams. The business subsequently became part of 
Henderson Global Investors. Andrew graduated with a BA in 
Geography from the University of Birmingham.

Hugh Young
Global Head of Equities
Hugh is managing director of Aberdeen Asset Management 
Asia Limited, the Group’s regional headquarters, and is also 
group head of equities. He founded Singapore based Aberdeen 
Asia in 1992, having been recruited in 1985 to manage Asian 
Equities from London. Hugh graduated with a BA in Politics 
from Exeter University.
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report 
and financial statements for the year to 30 September 2010.   

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the provision of asset 
management services. Further information on the Group’s 
business, which is required by section 417 of the Companies 
Act 2006, can be found in the following sections of the Annual 
report, which are incorporated by reference into this report: 

• Chairman’s statement on pages 4 to 6;

• Business review, including details of principal risks and 
uncertainties, on pages 19 to 35; and, 

• Environmental, social and community matters and 
employees on page 59 to 62.  

Financial
The results for the year are shown in the Group income 
statement on page 73.  

An interim ordinary dividend of 3.2p per share was paid on 17 
June 2010. The directors recommend a final ordinary dividend 
of 3.8p per share, making a total of 7.0p per share for the year 
to 30 September 2010.  

The proposed final dividend, if approved, will be paid on  
27 January 2011 to shareholders on the register at the close 
of business on 10 December 2010. A preference dividend 
of 6.75% was paid on 30 June 2010 and quarterly coupon 
payments have been made on the 7.9% perpetual capital 
securities.

Directors
The names and biographical details of the present directors 
of the Company, are given on pages 36 to 38.  The 
Company’s articles of association require a director to retire 
from office no later than the third Annual General Meeting 
following his or her last election or re-election and for a 
minimum of one third of the Board to retire annually.  In line 
with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all directors will 
now retire annually and will offer themselves for re-election.  
Three directors were appointed during the year: Gerhard 
Fusenig was appointed on 8 October 2009, Kenichi Miyanaga 
on 26 November 2009 and both were elected at the 2010 
Annual General Meeting; Jim Pettigrew was appointed on 
23 April 2010 and will stand for election at the 2011 Annual 
General Meeting.  All other directors served throughout the 
year.  Donald Waters has decided to retire at the conclusion 
of the Annual General Meeting and will not seek re-election.  
All other directors will retire and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election.

Directors’ interests in the share capital and equity of the Company at the year end were as follows:

Ordinary shares 
of 10p Options

Convertible preference  
share units

7.9% Perpetual 
subordinated capital 

securities

2010
Number

2009
Number

2010
Number

2009
Number

2010
Number

2009
Number

2010 
US$'000

2009 
US$'000

Beneficial

Martin GilbertA 8,285,786  7,869,973 413,000 653,000 3 106 – –

Bill RattrayA  2,388,076  2,244,463 144,000 244,000 – 50 – –

Andrew LaingA  1,235,565  992,724 178,000 378,000 13 13 – –

Donald Waters  220,530  200,530 – – – – – –

Giles Weaver  112,173  110,000 – – – 2 256 256

Gerhard Fusenig  100,000  – – – – – – –

Anita Frew  37,500  37,500 – – – – – –

Simon Troughton  30,000  30,000 – – – – – –

Roger Cornick  11,000  11,000 – – – – – –

Sir Malcolm Rifkind  7,500  7,500 – – – – – –

Kenichi Miyanaga  –  – – – – – – –

Jim Pettigrew  –  – – – – – – –

A The holdings for Messrs Gilbert, Rattray and Laing include shares awarded under the Group’s LTIP and which remain subject to forfeiture pending 
achievement of the relevant performance criteria. Full details are given in the remuneration report. 
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There have been no other changes to the directors' holdings 
between 30 September 2010 and 29 November 2010.

Substantial interests
At 29 November 2010, the Company has been notified of the 
following interests, other than the directors’, of 3% or more in 
the ordinary shares: 

Share capital
Details of changes in share capital are set out in note 23.  
The authority for the Company to purchase, in the market, 
up to 101,144,154 of its ordinary shares, representing 
approximately 10% of its issued ordinary share capital, expires 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  This authority 
was not required during the year; however, at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting, shareholders will be asked to renew 
such authority for a further year.

Employees
Details of the Company’s employment practices, including 
the employment of disabled persons, can be found in the 
corporate governance report on pages 53 to 62.  

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance and compliance with the 
provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, 
which forms part of this directors' report, is set out on pages 
53 to 62. 

Going concern
The business review discusses the Group's business 
activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future 
development, performance and position and sets out the 
financial position of the Group, its cash flows and liquidity. 
Notes 36-37 of the financial statements set out the Group's 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital and 
its financial risk management objectives, together with 
details of financial instruments and exposure to credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources, a strong  
cash position and low gearing. The Board has prepared 
forecasts, including rigorous sensitivity analysis, which 
demonstrate that the Group will continue to operate within 
its available resources.

After making these enquiries, the Board considers that the 
Group has adequate resources to meet its business needs and 
it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing these financial statements. 

Number % of class

Credit Suisse 240,088,100 20.98

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust & Banking Corporation 188,186,082 16.45

MFS Investment Management 79,938,317 6.99

Legal & General Group Plc 43,867,435 3.76

BlackRock 38,436,986 3.36
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Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made various charitable 
contributions totalling £245,000 (2009: £202,000). The Group 
has committed a further £500,000 to fund the Aberdeen Asset 
Management Charitable Trust which will seek to formalise 
the work of the charity committee and co-ordinate charitable 
giving across the Group. It is the Group’s policy not to make 
contributions for political purposes.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company maintains directors and officers’ liability 
insurance which provides appropriate cover for any legal 
action brought against its directors.  

Policy on payment of creditors
All open end fund repurchase settlements are paid 
within four working days of receipt of the appropriate 
documentation from investors. Unless otherwise agreed, 
payments to other creditors are made within thirty days 
of receipt of an invoice. At the year end, the Group and 
Company had an average of 15 days’ purchases outstanding 
in respect of trade creditors and an average of 4 days 
outstanding in respect of open end fund repurchase 
settlements.  

Audit information
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and each director has taken all the 
steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and  
to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of  
that information.  

2011 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at The Marcliffe 
Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen at 12 noon on Thursday 
20 January 2011. Details of all resolutions being put to 
shareholders are contained in the Notice of the Annual 
General Meeting on pages 137 to 141.  

Electronic proxy voting
Registered shareholders have the opportunity to submit their 
votes (or abstain) on all resolutions proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting by means of an electronic voting facility 
operated by the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited. This 
facility can be accessed by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk.  
CREST members may appoint a proxy or proxies by using the 
CREST electronic appointment service.  

Electronic copies of the annual report and financial 
statements 2010 and other publications
Copies of the 2010 Annual Report and financial statements, 
the notice of Annual General Meeting, other corporate 
publications, press releases and announcements are  
available on the Company’s website at  
www.aberdeen-asset.com.  Shareholders are encouraged to 
take advantage of the provisions allowing the Company to 
deliver notices of meetings and associated documentation 
electronically via the Company’s investor relations webpages 
at www.aberdeen-asset.com/investorrelations, or by email.  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  CONTINUED

By order of the Board

Scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

29 November 2010
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Remuneration report

Introduction from the chairman of the  
remuneration committee
This has been a very successful year for the Group despite 
the continuing uncertainty in the global economy. With 
significant increases in assets under management and 
revenues and close control of costs, we have reported an 
147% increase in pre-tax profits. We have also continued 
to build the Group's position as an independent global asset 
manager. I have felt very privileged to chair the remuneration 
committee since 2003 and am delighted that Simon 
Troughton will succeed me after the Annual General Meeting.

This report describes the role of the remuneration committee, 
its responsibilities and membership and matters considered 
during the year.

It has been prepared in compliance with the Companies Act 
2006 and related regulations, which impose certain statutory 
requirements for the disclosure of directors’ remuneration. 
The report also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing 
Rules of the UK Listing Authority and describes how the 
Company has complied with the Combined Code throughout 
the year to 30 September 2010 as it relates to directors’ 
remuneration. A resolution to approve this report will be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The auditors are required to report to shareholders on the 
auditable part of the report and to state whether, in their 
opinion, that part of the report has been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and related 
regulations. The tables detailing directors’ emoluments, interests 
in deferred shares, share options and shares awarded under the 
Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) on pages 50 to 52 have 
been audited. The remainder of the report, which is unaudited, 
sets out the remuneration policy that applied during 2010 and 
describes arrangements which are intended to apply for 2011.

Remuneration committee
The members of the committee when it considered directors’ 
remuneration for the financial year were Sir Malcolm Rifkind 
(chairman), Anita Frew, Simon Troughton and Giles Weaver, 
all of whom are independent non-executive directors.  Their 
biographical details are shown on pages 36 to 38. 

The committee, which operates on the basis of detailed written 
terms of reference, has been established by the Board to:

a)  determine and recommend to the Board the Company’s 
policy on remuneration of executive directors and senior 
employees;

b)  determine the specific remuneration levels of the 
chairman, the executive directors and other senior 
employees;

c) determine the overall size of the annual bonus pool;

d)  ensure that appropriate performance targets are set and 
that any payments made to executive directors and senior 
employees reflect achievement against such targets;

e)  consider individual awards to executive directors, senior 
employees and others with earnings in excess of stated 
thresholds under all incentive schemes;

f)  consider any redundancy or severance payment which 
exceeds the terms of the Company’s standard policies, 
subject to a de minimis limit of £25,000;

g)  ensure that the Company maintains contact with its 
principal shareholders on remuneration matters;

h)  approve all substantial changes to the Group’s pension 
arrangements;

i)  ensure proportionate compliance with the Remuneration 
Code of the Financial Services Authority; and,

j)  report to shareholders in accordance with relevant legal 
requirements and associated codes of practice.

The terms of reference of the committee, which are reviewed 
annually, are available on request and are published on the 
Company’s website.

The committee is authorised to take external advice in 
order to fulfil its duties and appointed an external firm of 
consultants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), to provide 
advice on remuneration market practice for executive 
directors and other senior employees. PwC also provide the 
Group with remuneration and other advisory services.

The committee met ten times during the year. Some of the 
key activities of the committee during the year included:

• Reviewing and agreeing increases in the levels of base 
salary for executive directors and certain other senior staff;

• Determining the extent to which the economic climate 
should impact the overall bonus pool;

• Assessing the level of achievement of annual bonus key 
performance indicators (KPIs) for executive directors and 
senior employees; 

• Assessing the extent to which the performance conditions 
for the LTIP were met and determine vesting; and,

• Discussing the proposed recruitment of certain key 
employees.

In undertaking its duties, the committee is conscious of 
the need to ensure consistency between the remuneration 
arrangements for its executive directors and those for other 
members of senior management and Group employees  
more generally.
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Remuneration policy
The Group’s remuneration policy is designed to reflect the 
importance of recruiting, retaining and motivating senior 
executives of the calibre necessary to maintain and improve 
the Group’s position in the asset management sector. The 
policy seeks to reward performance in a manner which 
aligns the interests of clients, shareholders, executives and 
other employees. The remuneration policy will support the 
Company’s aim, which is to maximise long-term shareholder 
value. To meet this aim, the Company's strategy continues to 
be reflected in the remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy applies to executive directors and 
senior employees and will remain unchanged for 2011 and 
subsequent years. The aim, within the overall policy design of 
retention and motivation, is to pay basic salaries and award 
benefit packages which are reasonable but competitive 
within the asset management sector and to deliver additional 
rewards through appropriate incentive schemes, both annual 
and long term. These are directly linked to performance at 
both a corporate and an individual level. 

The committee recognises that any remuneration policy 
must be sufficiently flexible to take account of changes 
in the business environment. The committee therefore 
takes into account the overall competitiveness of the 
total remuneration packages of all senior executives. 
The committee has reviewed remuneration in light of 
the current market conditions and remains satisfied that 
the remuneration policy and framework support the 
achievement of the Company's long terms goals. The 
committee has considered the levels of remuneration paid 
throughout the Group, having regard to the advice of PwC 
and having also consulted with Roger Cornick and Martin 
Gilbert when considering the remuneration packages of the 
executive directors and senior employees. No employee was 
involved in discussions relating to their own remuneration. 
As a consequence of the Group's overall performance and 
profitability, the committee has agreed that overall bonus 
awards for all employees, including the executive directors, 
should be significantly increased over those paid in 2008  
and 2009, when the prevailing market conditions drove the 
material reductions in bonus awards.

It is the committee’s intention that the ‘at risk’ (ie 
performance-related) elements of remuneration should form 
the most significant proportion of the overall package for 
executive directors and senior employees, where justified by 
performance. Outlined below are the details of the individual 
reward components of the remuneration policy. 

Executive remuneration
Executive remuneration comprises a number of elements:

i)  Basic salary
 The salaries of all employees, including executive 

directors, are reviewed annually and are determined by 
reference to external market research. The Group’s policy 
is to pay salaries which are market competitive in the 
asset management sector as this will enable the retention 
and recruitment of the key talent required to achieve the 
Group’s strategy. The Group participated in the McLagan 
Partners 2009 compensation survey and the Investment 
Management Reward Survey 2009 carried out by PwC. In 
addition, PwC provided data and comment on the salaries 
and benefits packages for the executive directors and 
other senior employees. The committee also considered 
information included in other publicly available research 
and survey results and all other relevant data, recognising 
that the Group’s transformation to a truly global asset 
manager with substantially increased scale had resulted 
in a considerable increase in the level of management 
responsibility. As a consequence of this review, the 
committee agreed that the current salaries no longer 
reflected market rates, having not been materially 
increased for a number of years. The committee therefore 
decided to increase the executive directors and a number 
of other senior employees' salaries with effect from 1 
April 2010. Martin Gilbert's salary has increased from 
£400,000 to £500,000 with increases from £250,000 to 
£350,000 for each of Andrew Laing and Bill Rattray.

ii)  Annual bonus
 The policy is to recognise corporate and individual 

achievements each year through an appropriate annual 
bonus scheme. The aggregate value of awards in any 
year is dependent on the Group’s overall performance 
and profitability. Consideration will also be given to the 
levels of bonuses paid in the market place. Individual 
awards, which are payable to all members of staff and 
are non-pensionable, are determined by a rigorous 
assessment of achievement against defined objectives, 
and are reviewed and approved by the committee. 

REMUNERATION REPORT  CONTINUED
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 Awards to individuals in any year will be made partly in 
cash with a further element to be settled by the award of 
the Company’s shares, which will vest in equal tranches 
over the following three year period.

 For the current year, 25% of awards will be paid in cash 
and 75% in deferred shares. The committee believes that 
the significant element of deferral is helpful in mitigating 
retention and performance risk and that this practice will 
fully satisfy emerging regulation. 

 The performance objectives may vary each year to 
ensure that they are linked to the principal strategic 
objectives of the Group, but for 2010, the principal 
objectives selected by the committee for the executive 
directors focused on the delivery of organic growth, the 
meeting of budgets and operating efficiencies and 
ensuring key client and staff retention.  

 Martin Gilbert has been awarded a bonus of £3,300,000 
for meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £825,000 of this award 
will be paid in cash and £2,475,000 will be used to 
acquire a number of the Company’s shares which will 
vest in equal tranches in December 2011, 2012 and 2013.

 Andrew Laing has been awarded a bonus of £675,000 for 
meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £168,750 of this award 
will be paid in cash and £506,250 will be used to acquire 
a number of the Company’s shares which will vest in 
equal tranches in December 2011, 2012 and 2013. 

 Bill Rattray has been awarded a bonus of £650,000 for 
meeting his defined objectives for the year which 
included those detailed above. £162,500 of this award 
will be paid in cash and £487,500 will be used to acquire 
a number of the Company’s shares which will vest in 
equal tranches in December 2011, 2012 and 2013. 

 The principal objectives for 2011 will look to focus on 
the continuing delivery of the strategic objectives of  
the Group.

iii)  Long Term Incentive Plan
 The Group operates a share-based LTIP which was 

approved and adopted by shareholders on 24 March 2005 
and is administered by an independent professional 
trustee. Awards are considered each year to selected 
executive directors and other senior executives. LTIP 
awards over ordinary shares are designed to incentivise 
senior executives in a manner which is consistent with the 
creation of value for shareholders. 

 The LTIP encourages focus on the Group's earning per 
share (EPS) growth over a three year period against the 
average movement in stock markets in which the assets 
managed by the Group are invested. Awards can be made 
either as LTIP Conditional Ownership Awards or LTIP 
Incentive Options. Under LTIP Conditional Ownership 
Awards, the executive acquires a conditional interest in a 
specified number of shares on terms which mean that 
the shares are not acquired absolutely if the participant 
does not remain in service throughout the relevant 
measurement period or the performance conditions are 
not met. 

 The participant will not obtain absolute ownership of any 
of the shares until the end of the measurement period 
and then only to the extent that the performance targets 
have been satisfied. Participants will be entitled to 
receive any dividends paid on the shares during the 
measurement period, even though the shares held will 
not have vested unconditionally. Such dividends paid to 
directors are disclosed on page 52.

 LTIP Incentive Options provide the participant with a 
right to acquire a specified number of shares. LTIP 
Incentive Options vest to the extent that, following the 
third anniversary of the date of grant, the performance 
condition has been met. The total vested LTIP Incentive 
Options are split into three equal tranches, the first 
tranche being exercisable from the vesting date, the 
second tranche one year after vesting and the third 
tranche two years after vesting. 

 This deferral of the exercise of vested options provides an 
additional retention mechanism and ensures that the 
interests of participants continue to be aligned with 
those of other shareholders. LTIP Incentive Options must 
be exercised before the tenth anniversary of the grant 
date. Participants will not be entitled to receive dividends 
on LTIP Incentive Option shares until the LTIP Incentive 
Option has been exercised.

 It remains the committee’s intention not to recommend 
awards to any one individual in excess of 100% of 
annual salary in any one year except in exceptional 
circumstances, for example to aid recruitment or 
retention of staff. However, as reported above, an 
element of annual bonus is also awarded in the form of 
shares with deferred vesting conditions.
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 Performance conditions
 The performance target which will determine the extent 

to which any LTIP award will vest requires the growth in 
the Company’s underlying earnings per share over the 
relevant measurement period to exceed the average 
movement in the stock markets in which the assets 
managed by the Group are invested as shown below:

Excess of EPS growth over average 
movement in stock markets Vesting %

Less than 5% per annum 0%

5% per annum 30%

10% per annum 100%

Between 5% and 10% per annum Pro rata

 This criterion has been chosen as being reflective of 
success in the asset management sector as it compares 
the Group’s performance with a dynamic and meaningful 
comparator. The committee has reviewed the 
appropriateness of the existing performance criterion and 
has decided that there should be no changes for awards to 
be made in 2010 and 2011. The committee will consider 
thereafter whether these targets remain appropriate and 
challenging and any amendments to these targets in 
respect of future awards will be disclosed in the 2011 
remuneration report.

 At the end of a performance period, the committee will 
select indices appropriate to the assets managed by the 
Group and shall compare the Company’s EPS performance 
with the growth in the relevant indices. The basket of 
indices currently identified as being representative of the 
assets managed by the Group includes the following:

FTSE All-Share MSCI Emerging Markets

FTSE Europe  
excluding UK

MSCI World Barclays 
Capital Sterling Agg Bond

FTSE Asia Pacific 
excluding Japan

Barclays Capital US 
Aggregate Bond

FTSE Japan Barclays Capital European 
Aggregate Bond

IPD Pan European 
Property Index

Barclays Capital Global 
Aggregate Bond

J P Morgan EMBI Global 
Diversified

Barclays Capital Australian 
Aggregate Bond

HFRI Composite Russell 1000 

 For the purposes of calculating earnings per share for any 
period, adjustments will be made to the earnings per 
share figure disclosed in the audited financial statements 
to exclude the effects of (i) amortisation and impairment 
of intangible assets; (ii) impairment of goodwill; (iii) any 
charges arising from share options and LTIP awards; and 
(iv) exceptional items, unless the committee consider 
this to be inappropriate.

 The committee remains satisfied that the performance 
condition is an appropriate measure of the Company's 
success within the asset management sector and is 
clearly linked to the focus on improving efficiency and 
profitability.

 In addition to the performance condition summarised 
above, the Plan rules state that no award will vest unless, 
in the opinion of the committee, the underlying financial 
performance of the Company has been satisfactory over 
the relevant measurement period. The length of the 
performance period for any award will be three years.  

 A total of 696,416 shares were granted in 2007. Of 
these, 76,127 shares were previously forfeited by a leaver, 
and 620,289 shares were therefore considered for vesting 
in accordance with the rules in December 2010.  The 
growth in adjusted earnings per shares achieved in the 
three years to 30 September 2010 is 42.1% of the 2007 
figure.  The composite index calculated by applying the 
appropriate indices to the Group’s quarterly AuM has 
grown by 15.4% over the three years to 30 September 
2010.  Applying the sliding scale between 30% and 100% 
vesting, 84.7% of the awards will vest with participants.  
After further restriction for a later leaver, 484,038 shares 
(78.0%) will vest in December 2010. The awards that will 
vest for the executive directors are as follows:

 Initial award
Number of 

shares vesting

Martin Gilbert 76,127 64,484

Andrew Laing 60,902 51,587

Bill Rattray 60,902 51,587

REMUNERATION REPORT  CONTINUED
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 Executive share option scheme
 The Group has an executive share option scheme which 

is approved by HM Revenue and Customs and was 
approved by shareholders prior to its introduction. In 
March 2004, the scheme reached the end of the ten year 
period during which the grant of options was permitted.  
All options outstanding are now capable of being 
exercised, having met their performance criteria. Details 
of share options held by the executive directors are 
shown on page 51.

 Shareholder dilution
 As at the date of this report, LTIP Conditional Ownership 

Awards, LTIP Incentive Options and executive share options  
are outstanding over the following numbers of shares: 

Number of 
shares

Percentage of 
issued share 

capital 
%

LTIP Conditional 
Ownership Awards 1,184,106 0.1

LTIP Incentive Options 17,750,000 1.5

Executive share options 2,393,400 0.2

 Details of the awards which have been made to directors 
of the Company under the LTIP are shown on page 52. 

iv)  Other benefits
 Private health care is offered to all executive directors 

and employees who also have the option to cover their 
partners and unmarried dependent children.  All 
permanent employees (including executive directors) are 
included in the Group life assurance scheme which 
provides death in service benefits, currently amounting 
to seven times their basic annual salary.

v)  Pension
 Executives, including executive directors, are entitled to 

membership of the Group’s defined contribution pension 
arrangements. The employer’s contribution to this 
scheme on behalf of all permanent employees, including 
executive directors, is 20% of basic salary.

 In light of changes to pensions legislation introduced in 
the UK from 6 April 2006, certain of the Group’s UK 
employees have elected for employer contributions to 
the scheme to cease. In these cases, the committee has 
approved additional cash allowances to be paid, such that 
the overall cost to the Group is no greater than the 
pension contribution which would otherwise have been 
made. Any similar requests which may be made by 
employees in future will be treated in the same manner. 
No such request will arise in respect of the Group’s 
legacy defined benefit schemes, all of which are closed to 
future accrual.

 During the year under review, Andrew Laing and Bill 
Rattray elected for employer contributions to the Group’s 
defined contribution pension arrangement on their behalf 
to cease and as a consequence, they received additional 
cash payments of £45,000 and £34,000 respectively for 
the year to 30 September 2010 (2009: nil).  Martin 
Gilbert who, as previously reported, had elected for 
employer contributions to the Group’s defined 
contribution pension arrangements to cease, agreed not 
to receive any additional cash payments in lieu of such a 
benefit (2009: £70,000).
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Total shareholder return
The Regulations require the inclusion of a graph which 
illustrates the total shareholder return for a holding in the 
Company’s shares against a broad equity market index. 
The FTSE All-Share Index has been used on the basis that it 
includes all UK listed stocks, including the Company’s ordinary 
shares. The graphs below also include as a comparator the 
FTSE All-Share General Financial Index. The Board considers 
this to be an appropriate index against which to measure 

performance because it includes all other UK listed financial 
stocks and therefore represents the closest comparator for 
benchmark purposes. Both of these indices are calculated on a 
total return basis, ie assuming reinvestment of dividends.

The Regulations require this information to be provided for 
the five year period to 30 September 2010. The Board has 
decided to include an additional graph showing equivalent 
information for a three year period, consistent with the period 
over which the vesting of long-term incentives is measured.

External directorships
Executive directors are permitted to accept a limited number 
of directorships outside the Group, recognising that this 
can assist in the development of a director’s knowledge and 
capabilities. All such appointments are approved in advance by 
the Board. Where the appointment is accepted in furtherance 
of the Group’s business, any fees received are remitted to the 
Company. If the appointment is not connected to the Group’s 
business, the director is entitled to retain any fees received. 
The Group earned fees of £40,000 for Martin Gilbert’s services 
as a non-executive director of several companies. Martin 
Gilbert earned and retained fees of £262,000 for acting as 
chairman of both FirstGroup plc and Chaucer Holdings PLC. 

Shareholding requirement
The Board has a policy which requires executive directors to 
acquire and retain a beneficial shareholding in the Company 
equivalent to 100% of salary, to be acquired over a period 
of no more than five years. The holdings of the executive 
directors comfortably exceed this requirement, as shown in 
the directors' report on pages 40 to 42.

REMUNERATION REPORT  CONTINUED
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Service contracts
The policy is to provide executive directors with service 
contracts requiring the Company to give the executive 
directors twelve months’ notice and requiring the executive 
directors to give the Company six months’ notice of 
termination. If the Company decides to terminate the 
director’s appointment without giving the required period 
of notice then the director is entitled to be paid one year’s 

remuneration, which will include the value of all benefits 
including any bonus to which the director would otherwise 
have been entitled. The directors’ contracts also provide for 
termination on three months’ notice if, in the opinion of the 
Board and having given the director adequate opportunity to 
improve, the director has failed to perform at a satisfactory 
standard. In such a case, the directors’ contracts do not 
provide for any liquidated damages to be paid.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are engaged under letters of 
appointment and they do not have contracts of service. The 
letters of appointment are available for inspection at the 
Company’s registered office during normal business hours and 
are available on the Company’s website. The appointment will 
normally terminate on:

i)  a director choosing to resign voluntarily; or

ii)  a director being prohibited from serving by law, 
bankruptcy or illness; or

iii)  annually, if the nominations committee does not approve 
the extension of his/her appointment; or 

iv)  a director being found guilty of misconduct; or

v)  a director not being re-elected by the shareholders 
following retirement by rotation at an Annual General 
Meeting.

The non-executive directors do not participate in the annual 
bonus scheme or the LTIP. 

The remuneration of non-executive directors is determined 
by the Board. The level of fees is reviewed on a regular basis 
against market data. The chairman, who also chairs the 
nominations committee, currently receives a fee of £150,000 
per annum.

Fees are paid to the other non-executive directors at the 
following current annual rates:

For services as a director £39,000

For services as senior independent director £5,000

For chairmanship of audit committee £15,000

For membership of audit committee £5,500

For chairmanship of remuneration and risk committees £11,000

For membership of remuneration and risk committees £5,500

Name Date of contract
Notice period  

from Company
Notice period  

from directors
Provision of compensation  

for loss of office

M J Gilbert 30 August 1996A Twelve months Six months One year's gross remuneration

A A Laing 30 August 1996A Twelve months Six months One year's gross remuneration

W J Rattray 30 August 1996A Twelve months Six months One year's gross remuneration

A Amended by Deed of Variation dated 30 November 2001.
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Directors’ emoluments (audited information)

Salary  
& fees 
 £'000

Pension 
allowance

£'000

Non-cash 
benefits 

 £'000
Bonus 
 £'000

Total 
 2010 
 £'000

Total 
2009 

 £'000

Pension 
contributions 

2010 
£'000

EXECUTIVE

M J Gilbert 450 – 1 3,300 3,751 1,925 –

A A Laing 300 45 1 675 1,021 472 12

W J Rattray 300 34 1 650 985 457 21

1,050 79 3 4,625 5,757 2,854 33

NON-EXECUTIVE

R C Cornick 150 – – – 150 115 –

D H Waters 55 – – – 55 59 –

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 50 – – – 50 50 –

C G H Weaver 54 – – – 54 50 –

A M Frew 52 – – – 52 50 –

S R V Troughton 44 – – – 44 7 –

J N Pettigrew 37 – – – 37 – –

G W Fusenig – – – – – – –

K Miyanaga – – – – – – –

C L A Irby – – – – – 50 –

442 – – – 442 381 –

Total 1,492 79 3 4,625 6,199 3,235 33 

Potential LTIP awards to executive directors and current year dividend entitlements are set out on page 52.
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Directors' interests in shares arising from deferred element of annual bonus awards (audited information)

Interest at 
1 October 

2009

Awarded  
during 

the year
Vested  
in year

Issue  
price

Interest at  
30 September  

2010
Vesting  

date

M J Gilbert 769,344 – (769,344) 170.6p – Jan 2010

799,331 – – 164.2p 799,331 Dec 2010

1,811,166 – (603,722) 84.2p 1,207,444 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A  

– 817,668 – 139.9p 817,668 Dec 2010, 2011 and 2012A

A A Laing 80,598 – (80,598) 170.6p – Jan 2010

83,740 – – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

237,531 – (79,177) 84.2p 158,354 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A

– 114,384 – 139.9p 114,384 Dec 2010, 2011 and 2012A

W J Rattray 80,598 – (80,598) 170.6p – Jan 2010

83,740 – – 164.2p 83,740 Dec 2010

237,531 – (79,177) 84.2p 158,354 Dec 2009, 2010 and 2011A

– 107,235 – 139.9p 107,235 Dec 2010, 2011 and 2012A

A Awards will vest in three equal tranches in the years stated.

These interests represent ordinary shares which will vest on the dates stated.  The market prices of the shares at the dates of 
vesting were 139p and 132p.

Directors’ interests in share options (audited information)

Date of grant 2009
Exercised  

during year
Lapsed  
in year  2010

Exercise
price

Earliest  
exercise

Latest  
exercise

Status of 
performance

M J Gilbert 8.12.99  240,000 – (240,000)  – 185p – – –

23.01.04  413,000  –   –   413,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

  653,000 – (240,000)   413,000  

A A Laing 8.12.99  200,000 – (200,000)  – 185p – – –

11.6.03  89,000  –   –   89,000 42p Jun 2006 Jun 2013 Achieved

23.01.04  89,000  –   –   89,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 378,000 – (200,000)   178,000  

W J Rattray 8.12.99  100,000 – (100,000)   – 185p – – –

23.01.04  144,000  –   –   144,000 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

 244,000 –  (100,000)   144,000 

The middle market price of the Company's ordinary shares at 30 September 2010 was 160.5p and the range during the year 
was 112.8p and 163.0p. 
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Directors' interests in Long Term Incentive Plan (audited information)

Held at 
1 October 2009

Awarded  
during 

the year
Vested  
in year

Lapsed  
in year

Issue  
price

Held at  
30 September  

2010
Vesting  

date

Partial settlement 
of share awards  

in year

M J Gilbert 73,271 –  – (73,271) 170.6p – Dec 2009 –

76,127 – – – 164.2p 76,127 Dec 2010 £4,872

148,456 – – – 84.2p 148,456 Dec 2011 £9,511

– 67,022 – – 139.9p 67,022 Dec 2012 £4,289

A A Laing 58,617 – – (58,617) 170.6p – Dec 2009 –

60,902  – – – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,897

118,765 – – – 84.2p 118,765 Dec 2011 £7,601

– 57,192 – – 139.9p 57,192 Dec 2012 £3,660

W J Rattray 58,617 –  – (58,617) 170.6p – Dec 2009 –

60,902 – – – 164.2p 60,902 Dec 2010 £3,897

118,765 – – – 84.2p 118,765 Dec 2011 £7,601

– 53,617 – – 139.9p 53,617 Dec 2012 £3,431

The remuneration report was approved by the Board of directors on 29 November 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Sir Malcolm Rifkind
Non-executive director
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Corporate governance report

The Company has complied throughout the year with the 
provisions set out in section 1 of the 2008 Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance (the Code). We have also considered 
the recently published UK Corporate Governance Code and 
are working to ensure full compliance with its provisions 
during the forthcoming financial year. This report describes 
Aberdeen’s corporate governance arrangements, explaining 
how we have applied the principles of the Code.

The Board
The Board currently comprises the chairman, eight non-
executive directors and three executive directors.  Gerhard 
Fusenig was appointed on 8 October 2009, Kenichi Miyanaga 
on 26 November 2009 and Jim Pettigrew on 23 April 2010; 
all other members of the Board served throughout the year. 
The roles of the chairman and chief executive are separate, 
clearly defined and have been approved by the Board. The 
chairman, Roger Cornick, is responsible for the effective 
conduct of the Board and for shareholder relations, while 
the chief executive, Martin Gilbert, is responsible for the 
day to day management of the Group. Donald Waters, who 
has continued to serve as the senior independent director 
throughout the year, will retire from the Board following the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on 20 January 
2011 and will be succeeded in that role by Anita Frew.

In considering director independence, the Board has taken 
into consideration the guidance provided by the Code and 
also more recently by the UK Corporate Governance Code. 
Of the non-executive directors, two have been appointed 
by shareholders and are therefore not considered to be 
independent.  The Board, having given thorough consideration 
to the matter, considers the other six non-executive 
directors to be independent, notwithstanding the fact that 
three will have served on the Board for more than nine 
years by the time of the 2011 Annual General Meeting. 

As reported last year, the Board has given careful 
consideration to its structure and its balance and decided that 
it would not be in the best interests of the Company, or its 
shareholders, to lose three non-executive directors in the same 
year and we therefore decided to refresh Board membership in 
an orderly manner. Jim Pettigrew, who was appointed during 
the year, has succeeded Donald Waters as chairman of the 
audit committee.  Sir Malcolm Rifkind has decided to step 
down as chairman of the remuneration committee following 
the conclusion of the 2011 Annual General Meeting and will 
be succeeded by Simon Troughton, who joined the Board 
in 2009.  Sir Malcolm will continue to serve on the Board 
and as a member of the remuneration committee until the 
conclusion of the 2012 Annual General Meeting. Sir Malcolm 
continues to act as a member of the Board with a high degree 
of independence of character and judgement and the Board 
considers that Sir Malcolm remains an independent director.  

Giles Weaver joined the Board in November 2000 and 
was appointed chairman of the recently formed risk 
committee. To enable refreshment of the Board in an 
orderly fashion, Giles has agreed to remain on the Board 
until the conclusion of the 2013 Annual General Meeting. 
Taking into consideration his independence of character and 
judgement, his asset management background and other 
relevant external experience, the Board reiterates its view 
that Giles remains an independent non-executive director.

Donald Waters will retire from the Board at the conclusion 
of the 2011 Annual General Meeting. Donald stepped 
down as chairman of the audit committee after the 
release of the 2010 interim results, but agreed to remain 
as a member of the committee in order to provide 
continuity and support to the new chairman, Jim 
Pettigrew.  Taking into consideration his independence of 
character and judgement, the Board reiterates its view 
that Donald remains an independent non-executive. 

The Board expects to make further appointments at 
appropriate intervals so that an appropriate balance is 
maintained between independent, executive and representative 
board members. The Board has conducted a thorough 
evaluation of its effectiveness, undertaken by an external 
consultant, and further details are provided later in this report. 

The Board confirms that it has considered and authorised any 
conflicts or potential conflicts of interest in accordance with 
the Company's existing procedures and has also implemented 
specific guidelines to address any potential conflicts that 
may arise in the future.  The Board has specifically considered 
the other appointments held by directors, details of which 
are contained in their biographies found on pages 36 to 
38 and has confirmed that it believes that each is able 
to devote sufficient time to fulfil the duties required of 
them under the terms of their letters of engagement.

The Board met eight times during the year to review financial 
performance and strategy and to follow a formal schedule of 
matters reserved for its decision, which includes the setting 
of Company goals, objectives, budgets and other plans. 
Comprehensive board papers, comprising an agenda and 
formal reports and briefing papers, are sent to directors in 
advance of each meeting. Throughout their period in office, 
directors are continually updated, by means of written and 
oral reports from senior executives and external advisers, on 
the Group’s business and the competitive and regulatory 
environments in which it operates, as well as on legal, 
environmental, social, governance and other relevant matters.
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In addition to its formal business, the Board received a 
number of briefings and presentations from senior executives, 
local management and external advisers covering a wide 
range of topics relevant to the Group’s business. The Board 
also has a policy of making periodic visits to the Group’s 
key overseas offices in order to meet local management and 
clients and to obtain an understanding of the local business 
environment. The Board visited the Helsinki, Philadelphia and 
Singapore offices during the year.  Certain directors have also 
visited other overseas offices on an individual basis during 
the year in order to meet with local management and staff.

All directors have access to independent professional advice, 
if required, at the Company’s expense, as well as to the 
advice and services of the company secretary. New directors 
appointed to the Board receive a full, formal and tailored 
induction, which includes meetings with relevant members 
of senior management, in order to help them gain a detailed 
understanding of the Group and its activities. During the 
year under review, three new non-executive directors 
undertook induction training.  The training plan provided the 
new directors with a wide range of data, including copies of 
previous meeting papers and other governance information, 
such as the current strategy and details of the companies' 
processes and procedures. The training plan also offered 
the opportunity to meet with members of the Board and 
the executive in order to better understand their roles.

The company secretary, under the direction of the chairman, is 
responsible for facilitating this induction programme, ensuring 
good information flow between the Board, its committees 
and management and assisting with directors’ continuing 
professional development needs. Directors are also advised, at 
the time of their appointment, of the legal and other duties 
and obligations arising from the role of director of a listed 
company and are reminded of these duties and obligations  
on a regular basis. 

Directors are required to seek election at the first Annual 
General Meeting following their appointment and all directors 
have previously submitted themselves for re-election by 
shareholders at intervals of no more than three years. In 
line with the guidance contained within the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, all directors will now offer themselves for 
annual re-election. Details of the attendance of individual 
directors are shown in the table below:

Maximum possible  
attendance

Meetings  
attended

Roger Cornick 8 8

Donald Waters 8 8

Anita Frew 8 8

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 8 8

Giles Weaver 8 8

Martin Gilbert 8 8

Bill Rattray 8 8

Andrew Laing 8 8

Simon Troughton 8 8

Gerhard Fusenig 8 7

Kenichi Miyanaga 7 7

Jim Pettigrew 4 4

Performance evaluation
A formal process has been established, led by the chairman, 
for the annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
appointed committees and each director, to ensure that they 
continue to act effectively and efficiently and to fulfil their 
respective duties, and to identify any training requirements. 

The Board appointed an external consultant, Trust Associates 
Limited, to carry out this year’s review.  The consultant 
used questionnaires, held interviews with each director 
and attended one of the scheduled Board meetings.  Trust 
Associates Limited followed this up with discussions with the 
Board and committee chairmen to discuss the results and 
thereafter, presented their recommendations to the Board. The 
results have been analysed and were discussed at subsequent 
meetings of the committees and of the Board, as well as in 
individual discussions between the chairman and each director.

The non-executive directors also met without the chairman 
present to discuss the results of the evaluation of the 
chairman’s performance, having taken into consideration 
the views of the executive directors, and the results of this 
meeting were subsequently discussed between the senior 
independent director and the chairman. Additionally, the 
non-executive directors held a meeting without the executive 
directors present at which executive directors’ performance 
was discussed. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  CONTINUED
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Board committees
The Board has appointed the following committees to assist in 
the execution of its duties. All committees operate on written 
terms of reference, which are reviewed annually and which 
are available on the Company’s website, and the chairman of 
each committee reports to each meeting of the Board. Each 
of the committees is authorised to obtain, at the Company’s 
expense, external legal or other professional advice to assist 
in the performance of its duties. Only the members of each 
committee are entitled to attend its meetings but others, such 
as senior management and external advisers, may be invited 
to attend, as appropriate. 

Current membership of the committees is shown in the 
directors’ biographies on pages 36 to 38. The composition 
of these committees is reviewed annually, taking into 
consideration the recommendations of the nominations 
committee.

Nominations committee 
The nominations committee is chaired by Roger Cornick and 
he is supported by two independent non-executive directors, 
Anita Frew and Simon Troughton, who were appointed as 
members of this committee during the year, replacing Sir 
Malcolm Rifkind and Donald Waters. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size 
and composition of the Board and for recommending new 
directors for appointment to the Board. The Board as a whole 
has responsibility for the appointment of new directors and 
for nominating them for election by shareholders at the first 
opportunity following their appointment. The committee is 
also responsible for considering and making recommendations 
to the Board on succession planning for directors and other 
senior executives.

During the year, the committee reviewed the proposals for 
rotation and re-election of directors at the Annual General 
Meeting; considered and made recommendations to the Board 
for the appointment of three new directors; discussed the 
results of the annual performance evaluation exercise; noted 
the satisfactory operations of the committee and reviewed its 
terms of reference. 

As has been reported, three new non-executive directors 
were appointed in the year under review. Two of these, 
Gerhard Fusenig and Kenichi Miyanaga, are not independent 
and were appointed at the request of the Company’s two 
major shareholders, Credit Suisse and Mitsubishi UFJ Trust 
and Banking Corporation, respectively. In respect of the 
appointment of Jim Pettigrew, the committee appointed an 
external search consultant and provided a full specification 
of the skill set required from a new appointee.  In addition, 
all three new non-executive directors were interviewed 
by the members of the the nominations committee and 

other members of the Board and thereafter they were also 
interviewed and approved by the FSA prior to being appointed.

The committee met on five occasions during the year and 
details of the attendance of individual members are shown in 
the table below:

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings  
attended

Roger Cornick 5 5

Anita Frew 3 3

Simon Troughton 3 3

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 2 2

Donald Waters 2 2

Audit committee 
The audit committee is chaired by Jim Pettigrew, who joined 
the committee on 28 April 2010 and who succeeded Donald 
Waters as chairman on 4 May 2010. He is supported by three 
independent non-executive directors, Anita Frew, Donald 
Waters and Giles Weaver. Anita and Giles each served on the 
committee throughout the year. The Board is satisfied that 
all of the committee’s members have recent and relevant 
commercial and financial knowledge and experience to 
satisfy the provisions of the Code, by virtue of their having 
held various executive and non-executive roles in investment 
management and business management. Additionally, Jim 
Pettigrew, Donald Waters and Giles Weaver are chartered 
accountants. 

The committee’s role is to assist the Board in discharging 
its duties and responsibilities for financial reporting, internal 
control and risk management, and the appointment 
and remuneration of independent external auditors. The 
committee is also responsible for reviewing the scope and 
results of audit work and its cost effectiveness, and the 
independence and objectivity of the auditors. In order to 
ensure the objectivity and independence of the auditors, the 
committee has approved a comprehensive policy to regulate 
the provision of non-audit services by the Group’s external 
auditors. The policy provides details of the types of service 
which are and are not permitted and those which require 
the explicit prior approval of the committee. Permitted 
non-audit services include: the provision of tax compliance 
services; the provision of certain recruitment services; and 
acting as reporting accountant in appropriate circumstances, 
provided there is no element of valuation work involved. The 
provision of tax advisory services, due diligence/transaction 
services and litigation services may be permitted with the 
committee’s prior approval. The provision of internal audit 
services, valuation work and any other activity that may give 
rise to any possibility of self-review are not permitted under 
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any circumstance. The committee also has responsibility for 
reviewing the Company’s arrangements on whistle blowing, 
ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for 
employees to be able to raise, in confidence, matters of 
possible impropriety, with suitable subsequent follow-up 
action.

During the year, the committee discharged its responsibilities, 
under its terms of reference, by: 

a) reviewing the Group’s draft 2009 financial statements 
and 2010 interim results statement prior to discussion 
and approval by the Board, and reviewing the external 
auditor’s reports thereon;

b) reviewing the continuing appropriateness of the Group's 
accounting policies;

c) reviewing the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the 
Group’s 2010 financial statements, receiving and 
reviewing confirmations of auditor independence and 
approving the terms of engagement and proposed fees 
for the 2010 audit;

d) making recommendations to the Board for a resolution 
to be put to shareholders to approve the re-appointment 
of the external auditor; 

e) reviewing management’s annual report on the Group’s 
system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting 
to the Board on the results of this review and receiving 
regular updates on key risks and controls;

f) reviewing the internal audit department terms of 
reference, its work programme and regular reports on its 
work during the year;

g) receiving reports from the Group's head of risk; and

h) reviewing the committee’s terms of reference, carrying 
out an annual performance evaluation exercise and 
noting the satisfactory operation of the committee.

The committee receives regular reports from the Group’s 
external and internal auditors and can, and does, request 
supplementary reports from management to enable it to 
fulfil its duties under its terms of reference. The committee 
met four times during the year, with representatives of senior 
management and KPMG Audit Plc in attendance at each 
meeting. During the year under review, a risk committee 
was established to monitor all aspects of the Group’s risks.  
The risk committee is scheduled to hold four meetings per 
annum, three of which are to be held on the same days as 
the meetings of the audit committee, in order to facilitate 
appropriate interaction between the two committees.  To 
assist in this interaction, a standing agenda item for the 
meetings of the audit committee is to receive an oral report 

from the chairman of the risk committee providing an update 
on matters relevant to the audit committee of those issues 
considered by the risk committee.

The committee carried out a review of the effectiveness of the 
external audit process in the year under review and considered 
the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc.  The review covered 
all aspects of the global audit service including, amongst other 
factors, the quality of the staff, the expertise, the resources 
and independence of KPMG Audit Plc.  The committee also 
took into consideration the levels of fees paid for the global 
services provided by the auditors.  Consideration was also 
given to the likelihood of a withdrawal of the auditor from 
the market and, it was noted that there were no contractual 
obligations which would restrict the choice of alternative 
auditor.  The committee agreed that it was appropriate to 
recommend to the Board that KPMG Audit Plc be reappointed 
as auditors for a further year and, accordingly a resolution will 
be put to shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting 
recommending their reappointment.

Details of the attendance of the individual members of the 
committee during the year are shown in the table below:

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings 
 attended

Donald Waters 4 4

Anita Frew 4 4

Giles Weaver 4 4

Jim Pettigrew 2 2

Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee is chaired by Sir Malcolm Rifkind 
and he is supported by three independent non-executive 
directors, Anita Frew, Simon Troughton and Giles Weaver. All 
members of the committee served throughout the year.  Sir 
Malcolm Rifkind will step down as chairman of the committee 
after the conclusion of the 2011 Annual General Meeting 
and will be succeeded by Simon Troughton. Sir Malcolm has 
agreed to continue as a member of the committee. 

The role of the committee is to monitor, review and make 
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s remuneration 
policy, as set out in the report on pages 43 to 52, and to make 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 
of the executive directors and other senior employees of the 
Group. The committee is also responsible for approving the 
design of all share incentive plans and for recommending their 
approval by the Board and by shareholders. The remuneration 
committee held ten meetings during the year and details of 
the attendance of the individual members of the committee 
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are shown in the table below. In addition, and in accordance 
with the requirements of its terms of reference, the members 
of the committee were also consulted on a range of issues 
during the year, including specific matters related to both 
recruitment and redundancy. The committee also received 
updates from the Executive and from the external advisors, 
PwC, on a range of relevant topics, including the proposals in 
respect of the introduction of the FSA Remuneration Code. 

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings 
 attended

Sir Malcolm Rifkind 10 10

Anita Frew 10 10

Giles Weaver 10 10

Simon Troughton 10 10

Risk Committee
Following a review of the Company’s corporate governance 
arrangements, it was agreed that it would be in the 
shareholders' and the Company's best interests to establish a 
separate risk committee to review and monitor all aspects of 
the Group’s risks. This committee held its inaugural meeting 
in July, with a further meeting being held shortly after the 
year end.  The committee is chaired by Giles Weaver and he 
is supported by Anita Frew and Jim Pettigrew, each of whom 
are independent non-executives; Gerhard Fusenig was also 
appointed to this committee on its formation but, in order to 
comply with the terms of the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
Gerhard, a non independent non-executive director, stepped 
down from membership after the year end.  

The committee operates under formal terms of reference and 
is scheduled to hold four meetings in each year. Three of the 
audit committee's meetings are held on the same day as the 
risk committee, in order to facilitate appropriate interaction 
between the two committees.

The committee has oversight of the risk management 
framework and, more specifically, the effectiveness of 
risk management, governance and compliance activity 
within the Group. The committee will also advise the 
Board on considerations and processes relevant to setting 
the risk appetite and related tolerances. In addition, the 
committee has a responsibility to review the implementation 
of appropriate procedures to identify and control all 
fundamental operational, financial, reputation and regulatory 
risks within the Group.  The committee has appointed PwC 
to provide independent technical support and advice to 
the committee and to assist in the development of the risk 
management framework.

Maximum possible 
attendance

Meetings 
 attended

Giles Weaver 1 1

Anita Frew 1 1

Gerhard Fusenig 1 –

Jim Pettigrew 1 1

Management board 
The operational management of the Group is delegated by 
the Board to the management board which comprises the 
executive directors and other heads of department. Brief 
biographies of its members are provided on page 39. The 
management board meets three times each month, has specific 
terms of reference which have been approved by the Board 
and has responsibility for implementing the Board’s strategy. 

Relationships with shareholders
The Company places great importance on communication 
with investors and aims to keep shareholders informed 
by means of regular communication with institutional 
shareholders, analysts and the financial press throughout the 
year. Annual and interim reports and interim management 
statements are widely distributed to other parties who 
may have an interest in the Group’s performance and these 
documents, together with copies of investor presentations, 
are also made available on the Company’s website. The 
chief executive and finance director make regular reports to 
the Board on investor relations and on specific discussions 
with major shareholders and the Board receives copies of 
all research published on the Company. Private investors are 
encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting at which 
they have an opportunity to ask questions. 

The Annual General Meeting is normally attended by all 
directors, and the chairmen of each of the Board committees 
are available to answer questions. The senior independent 
director is always available to shareholders if they have 
concerns which contact through the normal channels of 
chairman, chief executive or finance director has failed 
to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate. 
The Company continues to offer major shareholders the 
opportunity to meet any or all of the chairman, the senior 
independent director and any new directors. The Group will 
continue its policy of announcing the number of proxy votes 
cast on resolutions at the Annual General Meeting and any 
other general meetings.
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Internal control
The Board recognises the importance of a sound risk 
management solution to safeguard company and client assets, 
protect the interests of shareholders and stakeholders, and 
meet its responsibilities as a UK listed and regulated fund 
management group. 

Consequently, the Board and management, have taken steps 
to build and continually improve an effective risk management 
framework and are committed to ensuring that it is embedded 
within the business and monitored up to Board level. In 
particular, the audit committee and the recently established 
risk committee support the Board in discharging its oversight 
duties with regard to internal control, risk management 
and capital adequacy. In addition, these committees have 
responsibility for ensuring the Group strategy is informed by 
and aligned with the Board’s risk appetite, as set forth in a 
formal Board statement.  The audit committee is responsible 
for ensuring appropriate internal controls are in place for the 
financial reporting processes.  The audit committee monitors 
the risks and associated controls over the financial reporting 
processes, which include those in respect of the consolidation 
processes.  The financial reporting controls are monitored and 
maintained through the use of internal control frameworks 
which address key financial reporting risks, including risks 
arising from changes in the business or accounting standards.  
Effectiveness is assessed through quarterly self-certification 
and independent testing of the controls.  The integrity of 
the Company’s external reporting is further supported by a 
number of processes and steps to provide the assurance over 
the completeness and accuracy of the content, including 
internal management reviews; external verification; reviews by 
the audit committee and by the board of directors.

The risk management framework includes a sound system of 
internal controls that is designed to: 

• identify and appraise all risks related to achieving the 
Group’s objectives including all business, operational, 
reputational, financial and regulatory risks;

• manage and control risk appropriately rather than 
eliminate it; 

• provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss;

• ensure the appropriate internal controls are embedded 
within the business processes and form part of the 
Group’s culture which emphasises clear management 
responsibility and accountabilities;

• respond quickly to evolving risks within the Group and 
the external business environment; and

• include procedures for reporting any control failings or 
weaknesses to the appropriate level of management 
together with the details of corrective action.

Responsibility lies with the risk management committee, 
operating under terms of reference approved by the Board and 
chaired by the group head of risk, for embedding the system 
of controls within the day-to-day operations of the Group  
and maintaining a strong control culture which emphasises 
clear management accountabilities. The committee drives  
the process of reporting and monitoring critical risks, issues 
and high priority projects. It serves to reconcile the key risks 
and issues identified by the business with those raised by  
the Group’s monitoring functions and provides assurance  
to the Board that risks and issues are adequately escalated 
and managed.   

Membership of the committee comprises executive directors 
and senior management from all business functions. The 
committee meetings are also attended by the heads of the 
primary monitoring functions which sit within the risk division 
and comprise the following: 

• The compliance department reviews the effectiveness of 
controls that ensure compliance with regulatory 
requirements in each jurisdiction in which the Group 
operates.

• The legal department is responsible for ensuring that the 
Group complies with statutory requirements globally. 

• The business risk department is responsible for the 
management and oversight of both operational risk and 
counterparty risk.

• The investment risk department covers the risk profiles 
within the various investment strategies with the 
exception of the property portfolios which are managed 
by specialist resource within that function.

• The internal audit department reviews the effectiveness 
of all controls, either by reviewing the methods and 
findings of the other independent monitoring functions, 
or by directly auditing the controls operated by 
management. 

The heads of these functions each report to the group head 
of risk who, in turn, reports to the chief executive and also 
attends and reports at meetings of the board of directors, the 
risk and the audit committees.  The head of internal audit, 
however, reports to the audit committee and has unrestricted 
access to the chairman of the audit committee.
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of 
internal controls and the ongoing management of significant 
matters. Various reports addressing the effectiveness and 
embedding of the risk management framework and system 
of internal controls are regularly submitted to the Board or to 
one of the Board committees. The Board is also responsible 
for the internal capital adequacy assessment process, a 
document required by the UK regulator, which summarises 
the risk management framework and regulatory capital 
requirements of the UK regulated entities. A year end annual 
risk control report is reported to the Board summarising the 
control environment and oversight framework reported during 
the year. Identifying, evaluating and managing the Group’s 
significant risks is an ongoing process, which is in accordance 
with the Turnbull guidance and which is regularly reviewed 
by the Board and has been in place throughout the year to 
30 September 2010 and up to the date of approval of these 
financial statements. 

Corporate responsibility
As part of the Group’s corporate responsibility, the Board 
takes account of the significance of environmental, social 
and governance (ESG) matters that are of importance to 
the Group. Primary responsibility for these matters rests 
with Andrew Laing, the deputy chief executive, however 
reporting to the Board will come from a number of sources 
including the Group risk division via the Group’s automated 
risk management framework. The Board has identified and 
assessed the significant ESG risks to the Group’s short and 
long-term value, as well as the opportunities to enhance value 
that may arise from an appropriate response. 

The Board confirms that it has received sufficient information 
to make this assessment and that account is taken of the ESG 
matters in the induction and training of directors. The Board is 
of the opinion that the Group has effective systems in place 
for managing and mitigating significant risks which, where 
relevant, incorporate performance management systems and 
appropriate remuneration incentives. 

As previously stated, the most important ESG matters of 
relevance to the Group are employee retention and client 
relationships. The Board has received specific reports from 
the executive on each of these matters, identifying the 
risks and the issues and have taken steps to ensure that 
they are managed in an appropriate manner. In addition, it 
is recognised that the Group’s activities do have an impact 
on the environment and the Group remains committed 
to minimising waste and using energy efficiently, thus 
aiming to reduce the negative impact of our operations on 
the environment. Full details are contained in the Group's 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) report, which is available 
on the Group's website and on the CSR website, at  
www.aberdeen-asset.com/csr.

Managing CSR at Aberdeen 
The Group CSR programme begins with and is driven by the 
Board of directors. This senior level commitment is invaluable 
for helping make CSR a focal point for the business.  Assisting 
the Board is the CSR steering committee which comprises the 
heads for each of the seven pillar areas: corporate governance, 
responsible investing, the environment, people and human 
rights, health and safety, supplier issues, and community / 
charitable activities. The steering committee meets regularly 
and reports to the Board on all aspects of the Group's 
activities in these areas.

The Group has adopted an embryonic approach to the 
development of the CSR pillars by establishing each pillar 
within the UK first before expanding to the other regions.  
All regions are collaborating to establish best practice and 
consistency in the Group's approach.

The CSR programme will expand over the next year and the 
Group will continue to engage with stakeholders on these 
issues. In particular, targets are being delivered and KPIs 
for the most significant CSR activities across each of the 
regions. The Group aims to include these KPIs in the 2010 / 
2011 reporting information and these will help the Group to 
realise continuous improvement in the CSR programme.

Stewardship 
The Group invests for its clients’ portfolios in companies 
globally and actively seeks to invest in those companies 
with sound corporate governance practices. The Group 
is committed to exercising responsible ownership with 
a conviction that companies adopting best practices in 
corporate governance will be more successful in their core 
activities and deliver enhanced returns to shareholders. The 
Group complies with the principles of the UK Stewardship 
Code and full details on how it discharges its stewardship 
responsibilities are set out on the Group website.

The Group's corporate governance principles provide a 
framework for investment analysis, engagement and proxy 
voting for investee companies worldwide and are set out on 
the Group's website. The Group recognises its obligation to 
monitor its investee companies and to participate actively 
in the corporate governance process. In the Group's active 
equity business, corporate governance and engagement 
are key components of the investment process. A review of 
the corporate governance practices of a potential investee 
company is part of the initial screening process and an 
investment will only be made after meeting with the 
management team. After investing in a company, regular 
meetings are held with management to discuss strategic, 
operational and governance matters. Engagement is therefore 
embedded in the investment process which is reinforced with 
all voting decisions being taken by the Group's investment 
managers. The Group endeavours to exercise proxy votes at  



60       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

all shareholder meetings where authorised to so by clients  
and periodically reports on its proxy voting decisions, 
engagement activities and findings to clients who request  
that information. Details of the proxy voting decisions taken 
at shareholder meetings of investee companies are posted  
on the Group website.

The Group also provides socially responsible investment 
services to meet the demand from clients who want their 
investments to reflect an ethical bias. During the year 
under review, the Group engaged in dialogue with over 150 
companies to improve our understanding of their ESG issues.

People
The Group has over 1,800 employees worldwide and 
recognises that their involvement is key to the future success 
of the business. The people and human rights committee 
comprises representatives from each of the Group's business 
regions and ensures that the policies and procedures reflect 
best practice in each of the countries in which the Group 
operates.  Global policies, including those on employment and 
equal opportunities are detailed on the Group's website at 
www.aberdeen-asset.com/Aberdeen.nsf/groupcsr/policiespeople.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities, 
both for existing employees and for new applicants, and seeks 
to ensure that the workforce reflects, as far as is practicable, 
the diversity of the many communities in which the 
Group operates. It is the Group’s policy to give full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment from disabled 
persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and 
abilities. For the purposes of training, career development and 
promotion, disabled employees, including anyone who may 
become disabled during the course of his or her employment, 
are treated on equal terms with other employees. The Group 
operates a zero tolerance policy to harassment and bullying. 
Details of the Group’s equal opportunities policy is available 
on the Company’s website and this policy is supplemented 
by specific policies that reflect local employment legislation 
and expectations.

Health and safety
The Group continues to recognise that the maintenance of 
high standards of health & safety management is imperative 
to ensure the welfare of its employees and external visitors.  
In order to comply with health and safety regulations regular 
external training is provided to key members of staff with 
all other staff receiving in-house training. The Group is also 
committed to improving and building on this and to that end 
have developed the health and safety section on the internal 
database and have expanded the training provided as part of 
the induction process.

Environment
The Group's environment committee is responsible 
for coordinating all environmental activities across the 
business and reporting to the CSR steering committee. 
Since September 2009, the environment committee, 
which is headed by the global head of infrastructure, has 
made impressive progress towards improving the Group’s 
environmental performance.

The Group rewrote its environmental policy in November 
2008 and has been proactive in communicating this with 
staff, stakeholders, suppliers, contractors and the public. The 
Group has put in place systems, procedures, objectives, and 
monitoring programmes to help it work within the parameters 
set out in its policy.

The Group has developed an environmental management 
system (EMS) which was initially based in the UK, aligned to 
BS EN ISO 14001:2004. This has helped provide a framework 
for all its environmental initiatives already in place.  The 
development of the EMS has given the Group a greater 
understanding of the actual and potential impact of the 
Group operations and activities, both locally and globally. 

During the year, the Group has rolled out its EMS to all of the 
regions in which it operates.  The Group's aim is to achieve 
the highest possible standards for its operations, while 
considering the differences across the regions of the world in 
which it operates.

To support this and facilitate the implementation of initiatives 
locally, the Group has established regional environmental 
committees in the UK, USA, Asia, and Australia. Through the 
development of the Group's EMS, a broad range of objectives 
has been set relating to: waste management; energy / utilities; 
business travel; facilities, suppliers and contractors; and other 
business considerations. The Group's initiatives and objectives 
have been implemented at both global and regional levels 
and are communicated to staff through the committees and 
through a regular environmental newsletter.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  CONTINUED



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010       61  

Energy consumption
Building on the Group's work in previous years, reducing the 
energy intensity of its operations is a key objective within 
the EMS. In addition to estimating the carbon footprint for 
the Group's UK offices, the Group has undertaken a number 
of initiatives to reduce its energy consumption. For example, 
during the reporting period, the Group has trialled and 
implemented software to ensure that, where possible, all PCs 
are switched off outside of business hours. 

The Group's move to a new London office took place during 
the year under review, hence it is not possible to compare 
like-for-like energy consumption with previous years’ data. 
However, the Group has worked to calculate the CO2 
emissions from its UK office network, and the Group has 
estimated its scope 1 and 2 emissions for the period to be 
4.23 tonnes CO2 per FTE. As in previous years, the Group has 
submitted information on its CO2 emissions to the Carbon 
Disclosure Project and, this year, has also registered under 
the Government’s Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy 
Efficiency Scheme.

Data for the reporting year on electricity consumption at 
Bow Bells House, the Group's new London office, is now 
available, meaning that it is possible to compare this with the 
equivalent information for the Group's old premises at Bow 
Churchyard. In previous years, the Group has reported on total 
energy consumption for Bow Churchyard, however it is not yet 
possible to provide this information for Bow Bells House due to 
the way in which the gas usage is re-charged by the landlord. 
The graph below demonstrates that although the Group's 
overall electricity consumption has increased as a result of the 
move to these larger premises, a small decrease is shown when 
the respective staffing levels are taken into consideration.
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Travel
The Group now monitors business travel and this information 
is being used to inform the development of a business case 
for investment in technologies such as video conferencing and 
teleconferencing in its UK, Philadelphia and Singapore offices. 

The Group has also implemented a cycle to work scheme for 
its UK based staff.

Carbon management
This is a key priority within the Group's EMS and it has 
calculated its carbon footprint for its UK operations. The 
Group monitors its scope 1 (direct emissions) resulting 
from activities within its control, and its scope 2 (indirect 
emissions) from electricity, heat or steam purchased and used.

Water consumption
The Group recognises the importance of water conservation, 
and, in the past, has established a number of initiatives to 
encourage this, including the use of sensors in taps and 
reduced flow mechanisms. The Group will continue to work 
to ensure that all offices have proactive measures in place to 
reduce water consumption on an ongoing basis.  The Group 
does not have access to data on water consumption across all 
its offices due, primarily, to shared occupancy.

Waste
The Group undertook a review of waste disposal arrangements 
across its UK sites to identify the potential for improvements 
and ensure consistency in its approach to waste management.  
A number of recycling and monitoring initiations have been 
set up to look to reduce waste.
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Key Performance Indicators
The Group has generated environmental KPIs, for its UK 
business, using a base year of 2009. In subsequent years, it will 
be possible to report against this baseline and, where additional 
monitoring procedures have been put in place, provide a further 
breakdown and comparison of different facilities.

Variable (2009) Absolute figure Relative figure

Carbon footprint 
– UK offices 2,990 tonnes CO2

4.23 tonnes  
CO2 / FTE

Carbon footprint 
– business travel 2,093 tonnes CO2

2.93 tonnes  
CO2 / FTE

General waste  
to landfillA 9.51 tonnes 29.8 Kg / FTE

Paper card 
(recycled)A 15.2 tonnes 47.7 Kg / FTE

Other recyclablesA 2.1 tonnes 6.7 Kg / FTE

A Due to the Group's move to a new London office, information on waste is only 
included for the Edinburgh, and Queens Terrace and Union Plaza (Aberdeen) offices.

Community and charity
Aberdeen recognises the value of giving back to the 
communities in which it operates around the world.

The Group concentrates its efforts on smaller charities 
focused on children, health and supporting older people. The 
Group endeavours to engage locally with the communities in 
which it operates, to maintain a number of national charity 
relationships and to increase its contribution to international 
development. Support can be either financial or in the 
provision of time or resource.

Throughout the Group, Aberdeen encourages employees’ 
personal charitable activities and are delighted to have 
supported employees' efforts, be it in sporting challenges or 
by providing time in charitable work.  

Aberdeen was one of five financial services organisations 
to join forces with Heriot-Watt University in Edinburgh to 
establish the UK’s first Financial Risk Academy. The academy 
will focus on quantitative risk management, a specialist area 
that is coming under increased scrutiny by governments, 
national and international regulators, and the public as a 
consequence of the global financial crisis.

Aberdeen was awarded the Charities Aid Foundation Bronze 
Award for its Give as You Earn (GAYE) scheme in the UK. 
Through GAYE, Aberdeen offers to match all charitable 
contributions made by employees up to a maximum of 
£1,000 per month. 

As previously reported, the Group has committed a further 
£500,000 to fund the Aberdeen Asset Management Charitable 
Trust which will seek to formalise the work of the charity 
committee and co-ordinate charitable giving across the Group.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the group and parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and 
parent company financial statements for each financial 
year. Under that law they are required to prepare the group 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by 
the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the 
parent company financial statements on the same basis.

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and 
parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 
preparing each of the group and parent company financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and the parent company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent 
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the parent company and 
enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are 
also responsible for preparing a Directors' report, Directors' 
remuneration report and Corporate governance statement 
that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditor's report to the members 
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Aberdeen Asset 
Management PLC for the year ended 30 September 2010 set 
out on pages 65 to 134. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as 
a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Company and the Company's 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 63, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with  
the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards  
for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial  
statements is provided on the APB's website at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKP.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs 
as at 30 September 2010 and of the Group's profit for 
the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU; 

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by 
the EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006; and

• the information given in the Directors' Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• the Directors' statement, set out on page 41, in relation 
to going concern; and

• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on 
pages 53 to 62 relating to the Company's compliance 
with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined 
Code specified for our review.

G Bainbridge (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants 
37 Albyn Place
Aberdeen
AB10 1JB

29 November 2010
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by 
the EU (adopted IFRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except that certain of the Group’s 
financial instruments are stated at their fair values and the 
measurement of long-term employee benefits at present 
value of the obligation less fair value of any assets held to 
settle the obligation. The principal accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated, are 
set out below.

Statement of compliance
Both the parent company financial statements and the Group 
financial statements have been prepared and approved by 
the directors in accordance with adopted IFRS. In publishing 
these financial statements, the Company is taking advantage 
of the exemption provided by section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006 not to present its individual income statement 
and related notes that form part of the approved financial 
statements.

Going concern
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial 
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and 
the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the forseeable future. Thus they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements. Further detail is contained in the 
directors' report on page 41.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use 
of estimates, assumptions and judgements. These estimates, 
assumptions and judgements affect the reported values of 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet 
date as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for 
the year. Although the estimates are based on management’s 
knowledge and judgement of information and financial data, 
the actual outcome may differ from these estimates. The key 
assumptions which affect these results for the year and the 
balances as at the year-end are specifically identified, where 
appropriate, in the following notes to the Group financial 
statements:

a) Periods used for amortisation of intangible assets - note 13

b) Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets - 
note 13

c) Deferred tax assets - note 16

d) Share-based payments - note 24

e) Provisions - note 30

f) Pensions - note 34
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New standards and interpretations applied
A number of new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been issued, some of which are 
mandatory for the financial year, with the remaining becoming effective in future periods. 

Following the adoption of IFRS3, ‘Business Combinations (Revised 2008), the most significant changes to the Group's previous 
accounting policies for business combinations are as follows: 

• acquisition related costs which previously would have been recognised as a cost of a business combination are included in 
administrative expenses as they are incurred; 

• any pre-existing equity interest in the entity acquired is remeasured to fair value at the date of obtaining control, with 
any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss; 

• any changes in the Group's ownership interest subsequent to the date of obtaining control are recognised directly in 
equity, with no adjustment to goodwill; and 

• any changes to the cost of an acquisition, including contingent consideration, resulting from events after the date of 
acquisition are recognised in profit or loss. Previously, such changes resulted in an adjustment to goodwill.

The revised requirements have been applied to the acquisition of the business from RBS as described in note 13. 

The following standards and interpretations adopted in the year required the Group to amend its primary statements 
(Statements of comprehensive income and Statements of changes in equity) and its disclosures within the notes to the 
financial statements:

• IAS 1 (Revised 2007) – ‘Presentation of financial statements’;

• Amendments to IFRS 7, ‘Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments’; 

• IFRS 8 –‘Operating Segments’; and

• Amendments to IFRS 2 – ‘Share-based Payment’ (amendment relating to vesting conditions).

New standards and interpretations not applied
The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following standards, which are relevant to the Group's reporting 
but which have not yet been applied and have an effective date after the date of these financial statements:

Endorsed and available for early adoption:

Effective date

IAS 24  
(revised 2009)

‘Related Party Disclosures’ 1 January 2011

IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments’ 1 July 2010

Amendment to 
IFRIC 14

‘Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’ 1 January 2011

Standards and interpretations not endorsed:

IFRS 9 
(November 2009)

‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’ 1 January 2013

Improvements to 
IFRS (May 2010)

‘Improvements to IFRS 2010’ 1 July 2010 –  
1 January 2011

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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The directors do not expect the adoption of these standards 
to materially impact the Group's financial results in the 
period of initial application although there may be revised 
presentations to the primary financial statements and 
additional disclosures. No material impact on the Group is 
expected to arise from any other standards which are available 
for early adoption. 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial information contained within these 
financial statements incorporate the results, cash flows and 
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries for 
the period to 30 September 2010. Subsidiaries are entities 
controlled by the Company and are included from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

All intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses 
between Group entities are eliminated on consolidation. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 
for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values 
at completion of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, 
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in the income statement as incurred.

Where applicable, consideration for an acquisition includes 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, measured at its fair value at completion. 
Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against 
the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement 
period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes 
in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an 
asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant 
IFRS. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration 
classified as equity are not recognised.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 
3 (Revised 2008) are recognised at their fair values at the 
completion date, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets 
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes 
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to the 
replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based 
payment awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 
Share-based Payments; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for 
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in 
accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is 
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts 
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 
period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, 
to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if 
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at  
that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date 
of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and such revenue 
can be reliably measured. Revenue is recognised as services are 
provided and includes management fees, transaction fees and 
performance fees.

Initial income from the sale of shares in open end investment 
companies is taken to the balance sheet and amortised 
over the period of the asset management service, which is 
estimated based on the Group’s experience of the average 
holding periods by investors.

The Group is entitled to earn performance fees from a 
number of clients where the actual performance of the clients’ 
assets exceeds defined benchmarks by an agreed level of 
outperformance over a set time period. Performance fees are 
recognised when the quantum of the fee can be estimated 
reliably, which is normally at the end of the performance 
period, when this occurs on or before the reporting date, or 
where there is a period of less than six months remaining 
to the end of the performance period and there is evidence 
at the reporting date which suggests that the current 
performance will be sustainable.
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Finance revenue
Finance revenue comprises interest and dividends. Interest 
income is recognised using the effective interest rate method 
as it accrues. Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established which, in the case of 
listed securities, is the ex-dividend date.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses  
on investments
Gains and losses (both realised and unrealised) on financial 
assets designated as held for trading are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as an element of revenue.

Gains and losses on financial assets designated as available-
for-sale are initially recognised through the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. On disposal, any gain 
or loss previously recognised in comprehensive income is 
reversed and the full gain or loss from purchase, after any 
impairment charge previously recognised, is taken through the 
consolidated income statement.

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as 
the difference between the net sales proceeds and cost or 
amortised cost. Unrealised gains and losses on investments 
represent the difference between the valuation of investments 
at the balance sheet date and their original cost or amortised 
cost or, if they have been previously revalued, the valuation at 
the last balance sheet date. The movement in unrealised gains 
and losses recognised in the period also includes the reversal 
of gains or losses previously recognised on investments 
disposed of during the current accounting period.

Exceptional income and costs
Where the Group incurs significant non-recurring expenditure 
or earns significant non-recurring income in respect of items 
that arise outwith the Group’s normal business activities and 
which are sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure 
then the expenditure incurred is separately recognised on 
the face of the income statement as exceptional in order to 
provide more helpful information to investors.

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings 
recognised using the effective interest rate method.

Leases
All Group leases are operating leases, being leases where 
the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased asset.

Rental payments made under operating leases are charged 
to the income statement on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received by the Group are 
recognised as a reduction in the rental expense, recognised on 
a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Rental income from sub-leases is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant sub-lease.

Pension costs
The principal pension scheme operated by the Group is 
a group personal pension scheme. In addition overseas 
subsidiaries make contributions to various trade and state 
defined contribution schemes. Contributions to these defined 
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement as they become payable under the 
rules of the schemes.

The Group also operates a number of legacy defined benefit 
pension schemes which arose on acquisitions, one of which 
is operated by the Company. All schemes are closed to new 
membership and to future service accruals. The Group’s net 
obligation in respect of these schemes is calculated separately 
for each scheme by estimating the amount of future benefit 
that members have earned in return for their service in prior 
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. 
The benefits are discounted at a rate equal to the yield on 
high credit rated corporate bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations. The 
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.

The surplus or deficit in respect of defined benefit schemes 
is expressed as the excess or shortfall of the fair value of the 
assets of the scheme compared to the present value of the 
scheme liabilities and is recognised as an asset or liability of 
the Group or Company.

Interest costs on the liability, expected return on plan assets 
and the costs of curtailments and settlements are recognised 
in the income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. 
When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group or 
Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value 
of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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Other employee benefits
Profit sharing and bonus payments
These are recognised when there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result  
of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can 
be made.

Share based payments
The fair value of share options granted after 7 November 2002 
is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date 
and spread over the period over which the employee becomes 
unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the 
options granted is measured using a trinomial lattice model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that 
vest except where forfeiture is due only to share prices not 
achieving the threshold for vesting.

The fair value of awards under the Group’s LTIP is recognised 
as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The 
fair value is initially measured at the date of the award and 
is spread over the period during which employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the shares. The fair value of LTIP 
awards is based on the market price of the underlying shares 
at the date of the award, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the award was made.

The Group awards deferred shares to employees as an element 
of variable remuneration. These deferred shares are expensed 
to the income statement over the relevant vesting period.

Where the Company makes awards under the LTIP or deferred 
share scheme to employees of its subsidiaries it recharges the 
cost of these awards to each subsidiary based on the cash 
value of the shares at the award date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense and 
liability when the Group is committed to the termination  
of employment before the normal retirement date. A 
commitment to such termination benefits arises when the 
Group has initiated detailed plans which cannot realistically 
be withdrawn.

Employee Benefits Trust
The Group has an Employee Benefits Trust (EBT) which owns 
shares in the Company for the purposes of administering 
the Group’s LTIP and deferred share schemes. The EBT is 
consolidated into the Group’s financial statements, with 
any shares held by the EBT deducted from equity. Any 
consideration received for such shares is recognised within 
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
equity shares.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable 
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
basis used for tax purposes.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability 
method and is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply when the asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised, except:

• in respect of taxable or deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

• where the deferred tax asset or liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill.

• where the deferred tax asset or liability arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that:

– is not a business combination; and

– at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor loss.

Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant & equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on property, plant & equipment is capitalised on 
initial recognition. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised 
when it is probable that there will be future economic benefits 
attributable to the item and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the income statement as incurred.

Property, plant & equipment is depreciated so as to write off 
the cost of assets, on a straight line basis, over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

• Heritable property: 50 years

• Leasehold property: over the period of the lease
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• Property improvements: shorter of five years or the 
period of the lease

• Computers, fixtures and fittings: three to ten years

• Motor vehicles: four years 

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the income 
statement.

The carrying value of these assets is reviewed at each 
reporting date to consider whether there is any indication that 
the value of any asset may be impaired; if any such indication 
exists and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its 
recoverable amount, being the greater of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Any impairment losses are recognised 
in the income statement.

An item of property, plant & equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no further economic benefits are expected 
from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying value  of the asset) is included in 
the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation, representing the excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired, is capitalised in the balance sheet. The carrying value 
of goodwill at 1 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, 
is equivalent to the carrying value under UK GAAP and is 
subject to annual impairment testing.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. An impairment review is 
carried out at least annually and any impairment is recognised 
immediately in the income statement and not subsequently 
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to the appropriate cash-
generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing.

Management contracts
Intangible assets, such as management contracts acquired 
as part of a business combination, are capitalised where it is 
probable that future economic benefits attributable to the 
assets will flow to the Group and the fair value of the assets 
can be measured reliably.

Management contracts are recorded initially at fair value and 
then amortised, if appropriate, over their useful lives. The fair 
value at the date of acquisition is calculated using discounted 
cash flow methodology and represents the valuation of the 
net residual income stream arising from the management 
contracts in place at the date of acquisition. The contracts are 
included in the balance sheet as an intangible asset.

The useful lives of management contracts in respect of 
certain open ended funds are considered to be indefinite 

and are therefore not subject to amortisation. The indefinite 
nature of these contracts is re-assessed on an annual basis to 
ensure that the policy remains appropriate. The Group tests 
for impairment of these assets annually, or more frequently 
if there is an indication that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the greater of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Management 
contracts in respect of segregated mandates and certain 
open ended funds are considered to have a finite life and 
are therefore amortised on a straight line basis over their 
estimated average contract term of between five and ten 
years, with amortisation charged to the income statement. 

Other intangible assets - software
Purchased intangible assets have a finite life and are stated at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment  losses. 
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on  a 
straight line basis according to the useful economic life of 
the intangible asset which, for software, is estimated at three 
years. Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets 
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 

All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. At each 
reporting date, an assessment is made as to whether there 
is any indication that an asset in use may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists and the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, the asset is written down to 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater 
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. They are 
categorised as described below.

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded 
on organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to market bid prices at the close of business on the balance 
sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, 
the fair value is determined using valuation techniques. These 
techniques include recent arm’s length market transactions, 
reference to the current market value of another financial 
instrument which is substantially the same, discounted 
cashflow analysis and option pricing models.

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 
include investments held for trading purposes. They are carried 
at fair value in the balance sheet and gains or losses are taken 
to the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
The following assets and liabilities are classified as financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

• Current assets
– Financial investments

– Stock of units and shares

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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• Current liabilities
– Investment contract liabilities

Available for sale financial assets are also carried at fair value 
in the balance sheet. Movements in fair value are taken to the 
fair value reserve until derecognition of the asset, at which 
time the cumulative amount dealt with through this reserve is 
recognised in the income statement.

Where there is objective evidence that an available for sale 
financial asset is impaired, the cumulative impairment loss 
is reclassified from equity to profit and loss with subsequent 
movements recognised in profit and loss.

The following assets are designated as available for sale:

• Non-current assets
– Other investments

Included in this category are the Group’s investments in 
private equity partnerships. The fair value of these investments 
represents the Group’s direct investments and entitlement 
to carried interest distributions, both of which are measured 
with reference to the International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Association Valuation Guidelines. 

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are 
recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest  
rate method.

Convertible bonds that can be converted to share capital at 
the option of the holder, where the number of shares issued 
does not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted 
for as compound financial instruments with a liability and 
equity component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue of 
a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability 
and equity components in proportion to the allocation of 
proceeds. The equity component of the convertible bonds 
is calculated as the excess of the issue proceeds over the 
present value of the future interest and principal payments, 
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable to similar 
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The interest 
expense recognised in the income statement is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method.

The Group has adopted trade date accounting. Accordingly, 
a financial investment is recognised on the date the Group 
commits to its purchase and derecognised on the date on 
which the Group commits to its sale.

Assets held for sale
Assets acquired with the intention of subsequent disposal by 
sale are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Assets are only considered to be classified as held for sale if:

a) the carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use;

b) management is committed to the sale within one year of 
acquisition;

c) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition;

d) the asset is marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable 
in relation to its current fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call 
deposits and investments in money market instruments with 
an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement 
of cash flows.

Investment contracts
The Group sells unit linked life and pension contracts through 
its insurance subsidiary, Aberdeen Asset Management Life and 
Pensions Limited (L&P). Management fees earned from these 
contracts are accounted for as described in the accounting 
policy for revenue.

L&P is consolidated in the Group financial statements on a 
line-by-line basis. Unit linked policyholder assets held by L&P 
and related policyholder liabilities are carried at fair value, 
with changes in fair value taken to profit or loss.

Amounts received from and paid to investors under these 
contracts are treated as deposits received or paid and 
therefore not recorded in the income statement. Charges to 
investors due under these contracts are recognised in the 
income statement. At the balance sheet date the value of 
these contracts is stated at an amount equal to the fair value 
of the net assets held to match the contractual obligations.

Investments in subsidiaries
In the Company balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are 
carried at cost less any provision for impairment.

Impairment
The Group performs annual impairment reviews in respect of 
goodwill and intangible fixed assets with indefinite lives. The 
Group carries out impairment reviews in respect of intangible 
fixed assets with definite lives, property, plant & equipment 
and other assets, including fixed asset investments, whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement 
whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount for any asset or cash-generating unit is 
the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
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Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on 
a pro rata basis.

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

Equity instruments
Preference share capital
The issued preference capital is classified as an element of 
equity as it is irredeemable, except at the Company’s option, 
and dividend payments are discretionary. Dividends on 
preference shares are recognised as distributions within equity.

Perpetual subordinated capital securities
The 7.9% perpetual subordinated capital securities are 
classified as an element of equity as the securities are 
irredeemable, except at the Company’s option, and coupon 
payments are discretionary. Coupon payments, net of 
attributable tax, are recognised as distributions within equity.

Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the 
amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, is net of any tax effects, and is recognised 
as a deduction from equity. When these shares are sold or 
reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as 
an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on 
the transaction is transferred to or from retained earnings. 

Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised on the date 
of payment or, if subject to approval, the date approved by 
shareholders. Dividends on certain own shares held by the 
Employee Benefit Trusts are waived by the Trustees.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. 
No provision is established where a reliable estimate of the 
obligation cannot be made.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
sterling, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured in that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling 
at the balance sheet date and any exchange differences arising 
are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated to the functional 
currency using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction and so no exchange differences arise. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities stated at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Where fair value movements in assets 
and liabilities are reflected in the income statement, the 
corresponding exchange movements are also recognised in 
the income statement. Where fair value movements in assets 
and liabilities are reflected directly in other comprehensive 
income, the corresponding exchange movements are also 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated 
to sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated to sterling at rates approximating to the exchange 
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation
Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a 
financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment 
in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, in the foreign currency translation reserve, to the 
extent that the hedge is effective. To the extent that the 
hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised in profit 
or loss. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed 
of, the associated cumulative amount in foreign currency 
translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss as an 
adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES  CONTINUED
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Group income statement
For the year to 30 September 2010

2010 2009

Notes

 Before  
exceptional items 
and amortisation 

£m 

Exceptional items 
and amortisation 

£m
 Total  

£m

 Before  
exceptional items 
and amortisation  

£m

Exceptional items 
and amortisation 

£m
 Total  

£m

Revenue 2 638.2 – 638.2 421.9 – 421.9

Operating costs  (416.3) – (416.3) (326.2) – (326.2)
Exceptional items 5 – (18.2) (18.2) – (44.5) (44.5)
Amortisation and 
impairment of intangible 
assets  –  (66.2)  (66.2) –  (30.1)  (30.1)

Operating expenses  (416.3)  (84.4)  (500.7)  (326.2)  (74.6)  (400.8)

Operating profit   221.9  (84.4)  137.5  95.7  (74.6)  21.1 

Finance income   8  0.2 –  0.2  1.1 –  1.1 
Finance costs   8  (12.1) –  (12.1)  (11.7) –  (11.7)

Net finance costs  8  (11.9) –  (11.9)  (10.6) –  (10.6)

Profit before taxation  210.0  (84.4)  125.6  85.1  (74.6)  10.5 

Tax expense  9  (40.4) 22.1  (18.3)  (14.6)  10.8  (3.8)

Profit for the year 169.6  (62.3)  107.3  70.5  (63.8)  6.7 

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the 
Company 92.6  (8.1)
Other equity holders  14.7  14.8 

107.3  6.7 

Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic  12 8.32p (1.71p) 
Diluted  12 8.04p (1.71p) 
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Statements of comprehensive income
For the year to 30 September 2010

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009 
£m 

Profit for the year 107.3  6.7 151.9  50.1 

Net actuarial loss on defined benefit pension schemes (5.0)  (25.4)  (0.3)  (0.7)

Translation of foreign currency net investments (8.0)  21.7 – – 

Net change in fair value of available for sale investments  (0.3)  (6.4)  1.7  2.1 

Tax on items of other comprehensive expense  0.4 8.9  (0.9)  0.1 

Other comprehensive (expense) income, net of tax (12.9)  (1.2)  0.5  1.5 

Total comprehensive income for the year 94.4 5.5 152.4  51.6 

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 79.7  (9.3) 137.7  36.8 

Other equity holders 14.7  14.8 14.7  14.8 
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Balance sheets
30 September 2010

Group Company

Notes
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009 

£m 

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets  13 1,134.3  1,147.6  65.1  306.5 
Property, plant and equipment  14  19.8  18.9  10.2  8.5 
Other investments  15  58.6  59.9  1,533.4  1,165.1 
Deferred tax assets  16 29.7  36.1 15.2  2.9 
Trade and other receivables  17 16.8  6.8  5.0 –
Total non-current assets 1,259.2  1,269.3  1,628.9  1,483.0 

Current assets 
Stock of units and shares  18  0.3  0.5 – –
Financial investments  19  1,412.6  1,465.5 – –
Trade and other receivables  17 283.1  197.0  216.1  202.1 
Other investments  20 40.6  34.0 – –
Cash and cash equivalents  21  150.8  81.4  0.1  0.1 
Assets classified as held for sale  22 –  27.8 –  23.0 
Total current assets 1,887.4  1,806.2  216.2  225.2 
Total assets 3,146.6  3,075.5 1,845.1  1,708.2 

Equity 
Called up share capital  23  114.8  104.3  114.8  104.3 
Share premium account  25  812.1  683.2  812.1  683.2 
Other reserves  25  216.8  226.0  217.3  217.2 
Retained (loss) profit  25  (170.5)  (196.6) 106.7  34.3 
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent  973.2  816.9 1,250.9  1,039.0 

Minority interest  13.6  7.0 – – 
Perpetual capital securities  26  198.1  198.1  198.1  198.1 
Total equity  1,184.9  1,022.0 1,449.0  1,237.1 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  27  158.5  227.6  158.5  227.6 
Other creditors 0.7  0.6 –  –
Pension deficit  34  35.0  33.4  0.9  0.9 
Provisions  30  3.6  – 3.6  – 
Deferred tax liabilities  16 62.1  111.8 3.0  45.9 
Total non-current liabilities 259.9  373.4  166.0  274.4 

Current liabilities 
Investment contract liabilities 19  1,412.6  1,465.5 –  – 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  27 –  28.3  117.6  119.4 
Trade and other payables  28 274.0  178.4 111.5  76.2 
Provisions  30 –  1.3 –  – 
Deferred income  31  1.4  0.8 –  – 
Current tax payable  13.8  5.8  1.0  1.1 
Total current liabilities  1,701.8  1,680.1 230.1  196.7 
Total liabilities 1,961.7  2,053.5 396.1  471.1 
Total equity and liabilities  3,146.6  3,075.5 1,845.1  1,708.2 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 November 2010, and signed on its behalf by: 

R C Cornick Chairman W J Rattray Finance Director



76       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Statements of changes in equity
For the year to 30 September 2010

Share capital 
£m 

Share 
premium  
account  

£m 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
 £m 

 Merger 
reserve  

 £m 

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve  
£m 

Fair
Value

 £m 

Warrant/other 
reserve  

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

 £m 

Minority 
interests 

 £m 

Perpetual 
capital 

securities 
 £m 

Total 
equity 

 £m 

Group

Balance at 1 October 2008  79.7  396.0  31.1  172.7 (5.3) (0.7)  19.0 (147.2)  –    197.9  743.2 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   6.7 –  –   6.7
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    21.7 (4.6)  –   (18.3)  –    –   (1.2)
Total comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    21.7 (4.6)  –   (11.6) –  –   5.5
Arising on the issue of shares  24.6  287.2  –    –    –    –   (7.9) (1.3)  –    –    302.6 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.3)  –    –   (0.3)
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    25.5  –    –    25.5 
Exchange movement on coupon outstanding on perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.2)  –    0.2  –   
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (61.5)  –    –   (61.5)
Minority interest in consolidated funds  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   –  7.0  –   7.0
Balance at 30 September 2009  104.3  683.2  31.1  172.7  16.4 (5.3)  11.1 (196.6)  7.0  198.1  1,022.0 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    107.3 –  –    107.3
Other comprehensive expense  –    –   –  –   (8.0) (0.4) – (4.5)  –    –   (12.9) 
Total comprehensive (expense) income  –    –   –  –   (8.0) (0.4)  –   102.8 –  –   94.4
Arising on the issue of shares  9.0  106.8  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    115.8 
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   26.8  –    –   26.8
Shares issued in respect of employee compensation schemes  1.2  15.2  –    –    –    –    –   (16.4)  –    –   –
Equity element of convertible bond, net of deferred tax  –    –    –    –    –    –    6.4  –    –    –    6.4 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (2.2)  –    –   (2.2)
Conversion of preference shares  0.3  6.9 – – – – (7.2)  –    –    –   –
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (84.9) –    –   (84.9)
Minority interest in consolidated funds  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   – 6.6  –   6.6
At 30 September 2010  114.8  812.1  31.1  172.7 8.4 (5.7)  10.3 (170.5)  13.6  198.1  1,184.9 

Company

Balance at 1 October 2008  79.7  396.0  31.1  172.7  1.0 (0.8)  19.0  22.6  –    197.9  919.2 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   50.1  –    –   50.1
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    –    2.1  –    (0.6)    –    –   1.5 
Total comprehensive income  –    –    –    –    –    2.1  –    49.5  –    –    51.6 
Arising on the issue of shares  24.6  287.2  –    –    –    –   (7.9) (1.3)  –    –    302.6 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.3)  –    –   (0.3)
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    25.5  –    –    25.5 
Coupon outstanding on perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.2)  –   0.2 –
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (61.5)  –    –   (61.5)
Balance at 30 September 2009  104.3  683.2  31.1  172.7  1.0  1.3  11.1  34.3  –    198.1  1,237.1 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   151.9  –    –   151.9
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    –    0.9  –   (0.4)  –    –    0.5
Total comprehensive income  –    –    –    –    –    0.9  –   151.5  –    –   152.4
Arising on the issue of shares  9.0  106.8  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    115.8 
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   24.4  –    –   24.4
Shares issued in respect of employee compensation schemes  1.2  15.2  –    –    –    –    –   (16.4)  –    –    –   
Equity element of convertible bond, net of deferred tax  –    –    –    –    –    –    6.4  –    –    –    6.4 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (2.2)  –    –   (2.2)
Conversion of preference shares  0.3  6.9  –    –    –    –   (7.2)  –    –    –    –   
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (84.9)  –    –   (84.9)
At 30 September 2010  114.8  812.1  31.1  172.7  1.0  2.2  10.3 106.7  –    198.1 1,449.0
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Share capital 
£m 

Share 
premium  
account  

£m 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
 £m 

 Merger 
reserve  

 £m 

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve  
£m 

Fair
Value

 £m 

Warrant/other 
reserve  

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

 £m 

Minority 
interests 

 £m 

Perpetual 
capital 

securities 
 £m 

Total 
equity 

 £m 

Group

Balance at 1 October 2008  79.7  396.0  31.1  172.7 (5.3) (0.7)  19.0 (147.2)  –    197.9  743.2 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   6.7 –  –   6.7
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    21.7 (4.6)  –   (18.3)  –    –   (1.2)
Total comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    21.7 (4.6)  –   (11.6) –  –   5.5
Arising on the issue of shares  24.6  287.2  –    –    –    –   (7.9) (1.3)  –    –    302.6 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.3)  –    –   (0.3)
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    25.5  –    –    25.5 
Exchange movement on coupon outstanding on perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.2)  –    0.2  –   
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (61.5)  –    –   (61.5)
Minority interest in consolidated funds  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   –  7.0  –   7.0
Balance at 30 September 2009  104.3  683.2  31.1  172.7  16.4 (5.3)  11.1 (196.6)  7.0  198.1  1,022.0 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    107.3 –  –    107.3
Other comprehensive expense  –    –   –  –   (8.0) (0.4) – (4.5)  –    –   (12.9) 
Total comprehensive (expense) income  –    –   –  –   (8.0) (0.4)  –   102.8 –  –   94.4
Arising on the issue of shares  9.0  106.8  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    115.8 
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   26.8  –    –   26.8
Shares issued in respect of employee compensation schemes  1.2  15.2  –    –    –    –    –   (16.4)  –    –   –
Equity element of convertible bond, net of deferred tax  –    –    –    –    –    –    6.4  –    –    –    6.4 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (2.2)  –    –   (2.2)
Conversion of preference shares  0.3  6.9 – – – – (7.2)  –    –    –   –
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (84.9) –    –   (84.9)
Minority interest in consolidated funds  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   – 6.6  –   6.6
At 30 September 2010  114.8  812.1  31.1  172.7 8.4 (5.7)  10.3 (170.5)  13.6  198.1  1,184.9 

Company

Balance at 1 October 2008  79.7  396.0  31.1  172.7  1.0 (0.8)  19.0  22.6  –    197.9  919.2 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   50.1  –    –   50.1
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    –    2.1  –    (0.6)    –    –   1.5 
Total comprehensive income  –    –    –    –    –    2.1  –    49.5  –    –    51.6 
Arising on the issue of shares  24.6  287.2  –    –    –    –   (7.9) (1.3)  –    –    302.6 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.3)  –    –   (0.3)
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    25.5  –    –    25.5 
Coupon outstanding on perpetual capital securities  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (0.2)  –   0.2 –
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (61.5)  –    –   (61.5)
Balance at 30 September 2009  104.3  683.2  31.1  172.7  1.0  1.3  11.1  34.3  –    198.1  1,237.1 
Profit for the period  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   151.9  –    –   151.9
Other comprehensive income (expense)  –    –    –    –    –    0.9  –   (0.4)  –    –    0.5
Total comprehensive income  –    –    –    –    –    0.9  –   151.5  –    –   152.4
Arising on the issue of shares  9.0  106.8  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    115.8 
Share based payment charge  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   24.4  –    –   24.4
Shares issued in respect of employee compensation schemes  1.2  15.2  –    –    –    –    –   (16.4)  –    –    –   
Equity element of convertible bond, net of deferred tax  –    –    –    –    –    –    6.4  –    –    –    6.4 
Purchase of own shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (2.2)  –    –   (2.2)
Conversion of preference shares  0.3  6.9  –    –    –    –   (7.2)  –    –    –    –   
Dividends paid to shareholders  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   (84.9)  –    –   (84.9)
At 30 September 2010  114.8  812.1  31.1  172.7  1.0  2.2  10.3 106.7  –    198.1 1,449.0



78       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Statements of cash flows
For the year to 30 September 2010

Group Company

Notes
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009

£m 

Core cashflow from (used in) operating activities 254.6  84.3  195.9  (14.9)

Effects of short-term timing differences on open end 
fund settlements 0.4  (4.7)  –  – 

Cash generated from (used in) operations 255.0  79.6  195.9  (14.9)

Net interest paid (10.1)  (9.7)  (10.3)  (8.8)

Tax (paid) received (16.8)  (27.6) –  1.8 

Net cash generated from (used in) operations 228.1  42.3 185.6  (21.9)

Other non-recurring costs paid (15.5)  (25.2)  (5.8)  (6.8)

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities  6 212.6  17.1 179.8  (28.7)

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of investments 51.8  29.5 40.8  4.9 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment –  3.4  –  – 

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (90.2)  36.3  (84.7)  (3.1)

Investment in existing subsidiary undertakings  –  –  (114.0)  (2.9)

Acquisition of intangible assets (12.2)  (2.5)  (12.5)  (2.0)

Disposal of intangible assets – – 51.8 –

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (6.5)  (10.2)  (5.3)  (2.0)

Acquisition of investments (22.7)  (43.4)  (15.3)  (0.3)

Net cash (used in) from investing activities (79.8)  13.1  (139.2)  (5.4)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Issue of ordinary share capital, net of expenses 115.8  (0.9)  115.8  (0.9)

Issue of convertible bond, net of expenses 87.4  –  87.4  – 

Purchase of own shares (2.2)  (0.3)  (2.2)  (0.3)

New borrowings drawn –  178.3  –  178.3 

Repayment of borrowings  (178.3)  (146.5)  (178.3)  (146.5)

Dividends paid and coupon payments (90.6)  (61.5)  (90.6)  (61.5)

Net cash used in financing activities (67.9)  (30.9)  (67.9)  (30.9)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 64.9  (0.7)  (27.3)  (65.0)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October 81.4  82.1  (91.0)  (34.2)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash 
equivalents 4.5  –  0.8  8.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September 150.8  81.4  (117.5)  (91.0)
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year to 30 September 2010

1 Segmental disclosures

The Group operates a single business segment of asset management for reporting and control purposes. 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires disclosures to reflect the information which the Group Management Board, being 
the body that is the Group's chief operating decision maker, uses for evaluating performance and the allocation of 
resources. During 2010, the Board decided that the Group's property asset management activities should no longer 
operate as a separately managed business and these operations have been fully integrated with other elements of the 
Group's operations. As a result, the Group is now managed as a single asset management business, with multiple asset 
classes including equities, fixed income, property and alternative investment strategies that are managed across a 
range of products, distribution channels and geographic regions. Reporting provided to the Group Management Board 
is on an aggregated basis.

Under IFRS 8, the Group is required to disclose by geographical location revenue and amounts of non-current assets 
other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets and retirement benefit assets.

Year to 30 September 2010
UK  
£m

Europe  
£m

Singapore 
£m

Rest of Asia 
£m

Americas 
£m

Total  
£m

Revenue 260.0 114.6 131.4 90.7 41.5 638.2

Non-current assets 706.2 101.0 12.9 286.8   58.2 1,165.1 

Year to 30 September 2009
UK  
£m

Europe  
£m

Singapore 
£m

Rest of Asia 
£m

Americas 
£m

Total  
£m

Revenue 168.6 96.0 75.7 49.1  32.5  421.9 

Non-current assets 666.0 140.8 14.7 268.9 76.1 1,166.5

2 Revenue

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Revenue comprises:
Management fees 596.5 402.4
Performance fees 30.3 9.7
Transaction fees 11.0 6.9

637.8 419.0
Fair value gains on investments 0.4 2.9

638.2 421.9

The fair value gains and losses, both realised and unrealised, arose on financial assets held for trading which have been 
recognised in revenue.
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3 Operating expenses

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Operating profit is stated after charging (crediting): 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company's accounts 0.2 0.1 
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services

– audit of the Company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 1.2 0.9 
– other services pursuant to legislation (see below) 0.1 0.2 

1.5 1.2
– tax services – 0.2 
– all other services (see below) 0.1 0.3 

1.6 1.7

Operating lease payments 15.6  12.5 
Depreciation 4.8  4.4 
Amortisation of intangible assets  44.7  17.4 
Impairment of intangible assets  21.5  12.7 
Directors’ emoluments 4.2  3.3 
Exchange (gain) loss (0.3)  1.7 

 Fees paid to the Company's auditors
In 2010, other services pursuant to legislation includes £40,000 for the interim review. In 2009 it includes £100,000 for 
services provided to the Group's property subsidiaries and £40,000 for the interim review.

The Company's auditors received fees of £730,000 in 2009 in connection with acquisitions completed during that year. 
These costs have been capitalised together with other acquisition costs.

Fees paid to the Company's auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and its associates for services other than the statutory audit of 
the Company are not disclosed since the consolidated accounts disclose non-audit fees on a consolidated basis.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration report on pages 43 to 52. 

4 Other operating expense

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Operating expenses include the following:
Provisions recorded against other investments 1.4 –

Net (gain) loss on disposal of other investments  (1.2) 0.3

Other operating expense 0.2 0.3

 2010
The net gain on disposal of other investments comprises £1.7 million of gains and £0.5 million of losses on investments 
designated as available for sale.

 2009
The loss on disposal of other investments relates to losses on the disposal of property investments.
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5 Exceptional items

The main elements of exceptional costs for 2010 related to the final element of costs arising from the migration and 
integration of the businesses bought from Credit Suisse in 2009. This included charges in respect of transitional 
services provided by the vendor, costs of migration of the back office data and systems to the Group's third party 
administrator and costs of retaining duplicate staffing for a transitional period to ensure a smooth migration of data.

Advisory and legal fees incurred on the acquisition of the asset management business from The Royal Bank of Scotland 
as described in note 13, have been recognised as a cost, as required by amended financial reporting standards.

We have provided for all expected costs related to the remaining lease period for our former London office. In economic 
terms, this cost is largely offset by the benefit of a rent-free period negotiated on the new office lease but IFRS does 
not permit these items to be netted. The benefit of the rent-free period is being amortised over the lease term of 15 
years within operating expenses.

Exceptional credits have been recognised in respect of the release of a surplus provision for possible VAT costs (note 30) 
and receipt of contingent consideration of £0.7 million from the sale in 2009 of the Group's Belgian property business.

Exceptional costs in 2009 related to: (i) the costs in respect of the Credit Suisse acquisition as described above; (ii) non-
recurring rationalisation and redundancy costs were incurred in implementing a cost reduction programme; and (iii) 
one-off costs incurred in completing the integration of businesses acquired in the previous financial year, including 
office rationalisations. 

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Arising on Credit Suisse acquisition:

Transitional service costs from vendor  4.1  7.9 
Costs of migration and integration of back office data and systems  8.4  10.4 

 12.5  18.3 
Costs relating to businesses acquired from RBS  1.6 –

Acquisition and integration costs  14.1  18.3 

Acceleration of property lease costs on office rationalisation  6.1  7.0 

Redundancy and other non-recurring costs arising from cost reduction programme –  17.8 
Exceptional gain on disposal of Belgian property business (0.7) –

Surplus provision for VAT cost on investment trusts (1.3)  –

Costs arising on disposal of private equity business – 1.4

Total exceptional items  18.2  44.5 
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6 Analysis of cash flows

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Reconciliation of profit after tax to operating cash flow  

Profit after tax 107.3  6.7 151.9  50.1 
Depreciation charges 4.8   4.3  2.8  1.9 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets  66.2  30.1 2.5  1.2 
Fair value (gains) losses on investments (0.4) (2.9)  1.7 (0.4)
Loss (gain) on disposal of investments and other assets 0.2  2.2 (1.7)  0.2 
Share based element of remuneration 30.9  25.5 5.7  25.5 
Net finance costs 11.9  10.6  12.4  9.7 
Income tax expense (credit) 18.3  3.8 (15.7) (5.0)

239.2  80.3 159.6  83.2 
Increase (decrease) in provisions 2.3 (0.7) 3.6  –   
Decrease (increase) in stock 0.2 (0.2)  –    –   
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (84.5)  14.6  8.0 (135.5)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other payables 82.3 (39.6) 18.9  30.6 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 239.5  54.4  190.1 (21.7)
Net interest paid (10.1)  (9.7) (10.3) (8.8)
Corporation tax (paid) received (16.8)  (27.6) –  1.8 

Net cash generated from (used in) from operating activities 212.6  17.1  179.8 (28.7)

7 Employees

2010 2009

Group
Total

£m
Recurring

£m
Exceptional 

£m
Total 

£m 

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:   
Salaries and bonuses 159.0  142.5  –    142.5 
Share-based element of remuneration (note 24) 30.9 25.5  –    25.5 
Other benefits 4.3   3.7  –    3.7 
Social security costs 15.2  12.4  –    12.4 
Other pension costs 19.4  16.2  –    16.2 

228.8  200.3  –    200.3 
Redundancy costs  –    –    13.0  13.0 

228.8  200.3  13.0  213.3 

2010
Number

2009
Number 

Average number of employees during the year  1,817  1,790 
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7 Employees continued

Company
2010 

£m
2009 

£m

Aggregate employee costs, including directors:   
Salaries and bonuses 25.9 27.1
Share-based element of remuneration (note 24) 5.7 7.7

Other benefits 0.9 0.8 

Social security costs 3.1 2.2 
Other pension costs 4.1 3.3

39.7 41.1

Redundancy costs – 0.1

39.7 41.2 

2010
Number

2009
Number 

Average number of employees during the year 338 335

8 Net finance costs 

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Interest on 7.2% subordinated notes 2016  5.8  5.9 
Interest on 3.5% convertible bonds 2014  3.8 –
Interest on 4.5% convertible bonds 2010 –  0.1 
Interest on overdrafts, revolving credit facilities and other interest bearing accounts  2.0  5.6 

 11.6  11.6 
Amortisation of issue costs on convertible bonds  0.5  0.1 

Total finance costs  12.1  11.7 
Finance revenue - interest income (0.2) (1.1)

Net finance costs  11.9  10.6 
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9 Tax expense 

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Current tax expense

UK corporation tax on profits for the year 5.7  5.9 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.1)   (0.2)

5.6    5.7 

Foreign tax - current 19.7  8.3 
Foreign tax - adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.6) (0.2)

Total current tax 24.7  13.8 

Deferred tax credit

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (6.2) (10.8)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.2)  0.8 

Total tax expense in income statement 18.3  3.8 

The deferred tax credit is analysed in note 16.

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before tax 125.6  10.5 

Income tax calculated at the UK corporation tax rate 28% (2009: 28%)  35.2    2.9 
Effect of lower tax rates applicable in foreign jurisdictions (31.6) (21.1)

Effect of capital gains deductions and exempt capital losses (0.3)   (0.4)

Effect of non-UK group dividends net of double tax relief –  10.0 

Movement in unprovided deferred tax asset 17.2 8.3

Change in UK tax rates on deferred tax balances (0.9) –

Disallowed expenses 0.5  3.7 

Utilisation of unrecognised losses (0.6) –

Other timing differences (0.3) –

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.9) 0.4

Total tax expense in income statement 18.3  3.8 

 Domestic tax rate
The domestic tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%) is based on the UK tax rate.

All UK deferred tax assets and liabilities that will unwind after 1 April 2011 have been recognised at the rate of 27%, 
being the rate substantively enacted by the UK Parliament, effective from that date.

 Factors affecting future tax charge
The Group's overseas profits are subject to overseas tax rates some of which are lower than the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax of 28% (2009: 28%). The Group will be able to benefit from the offset of tax losses brought forward 
from prior years against its taxable profits in future years. 
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10 Profit for the financial year

The profit dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £151.9 million (2009 – £50.1 million).   

11 Dividends

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Dividend on convertible preference shares:   

Dividend paid   2.7  4.4 

Coupon payments on perpetual capital securities (net of tax)

Coupon payments made during the year  14.7  14.8 

Dividends on ordinary shares

Declared and paid during the year:
Final dividend for 2009 - 3.2p  (2008 - 3.0p)  32.2  21.2 
Interim dividend for 2010 – 3.2p (2009 – 2.8p)  35.3  21.1 

 67.5  42.3 

Total dividends and coupon payments paid during the year  84.9  61.5 

Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting 
(not recognised as a liability at 30 September)

Dividends on ordinary shares:   
Final dividend for 2010 - 3.8p (2009 - 3.2p) 43.5  32.2 

The total ordinary dividend for the year is 7.0p per share including the proposed final dividend for 2010 of 3.8p per 
share. This payment will trigger an adjustment to the subscription price applying to the warrants which form part of 
the 6.75% convertible preference share units issued in June 2005. Assuming approval of the final dividend payment at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the subscription price will reduce from 92p per ordinary share to 90p per 
ordinary share.
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12 Earnings per share

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the potentially dilutive shares into ordinary shares.

Underlying earnings per share figures are calculated by adjusting the profit to exclude exceptional items and, 
amortisation and impairment of intangible assets. The purpose of providing the underlying earnings per share is to allow 
readers of the accounts to clearly consider trends without the impact of exceptional and certain non-cash items.

IAS 33 Underlying

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Profit attributable to shareholders 107.3 6.7 107.3 6.7 
Dividend on convertible preference shares (2.7) (5.5) (2.7) (3.7)
Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax) (14.7) (14.8) (14.7) (14.8)

Profit (loss) for the financial year 89.9 (13.6) 89.9 (11.8)

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets,  
net of attributable taxation 49.2 27.2 
Exceptional items, net of attributable taxation  13.1 36.6 

Profit for the financial year - underlying basis 152.2 52.0 

Weighted average number of shares (millions) 1,080.1 796.7  1,080.1 796.7 

Basic earnings (loss) per share 8.32p (1.71p) 14.09p 6.52p 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Profit (loss) for calculation of basic earnings per share, as above 89.9 (13.6) 152.2 52.0
Add: interest on 2014 convertible bonds, net of attributable taxation 3.0 N/A 3.0 –
Add: dividend on convertible preference shares 2.7 N/A 2.7 3.7 

Profit (loss) for calculation of diluted earnings per share 95.6 (13.6) 157.9 55.7

Weighted average number of shares (millions)

For basic earnings per share  1,080.1 796.7  1,080.1 796.7 
Dilutive effect of 2014 convertible bonds  38.4 –  38.4 –
Dilutive effect of convertible preference shares  35.5 N/A  35.5 61.7
Dilutive effect of LTIP awards  1.2 N/A  1.2 1.0 
Dilutive effect of exercisable share options and deferred shares 34.2 N/A 34.2 23.8 

1,189.4 796.7 1,189.4 883.2 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 8.04p (1.71p) 13.28p 6.31p 

The effects of the convertible preference shares, the LTIP awards and exercisable share options and deferred shares were 
anti-dilutive on an IAS 33 basis in 2009.
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13 Intangible assets

Group
Goodwill

£m

Management 
contracts 

£m

Distribution 
contracts 

£m
Software

£m
Total 

£m 

Cost
At 1 October 2008  536.6  319.6 –  12.4  868.6 
Additions  –    –    –    2.4  2.4 
Arising on acquisition  120.8  192.1 –  2.8  315.7 
Disposal  –    –    –   (0.8) (0.8)
Exchange movement  20.1  11.8 –  0.1  32.0 

At 30 September 2009  677.5  523.5 –  16.9  1,217.9 
Arising on acquisition 16.6 28.3 45.2 – 90.1
Additions 0.3 10.3 – 1.9 12.5
Disposal – – – (1.7) (1.7)
Fair value adjustment (36.3) – – – (36.3)
Exchange movement (4.4) (7.3) –  –   (11.7)

At 30 September 2010  653.7 554.8 45.2  17.1  1,270.8 

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2008  –    30.7 –  9.5  40.2 
Amortisation for year –  16.1 –  1.3  17.4 

Impairment losses  –    12.7 –  –    12.7 
At 30 September 2009  –    59.5 –  10.8  70.3 

Amortisation for year – 37.1 6.0  1.6  44.7 

Impairment losses  –    21.5 – –  21.5 

At 30 September 2010  –   118.1 6.0  12.4  136.5 

Net book value 

At 30 September 2010 653.7 436.7 39.2 4.7 1,134.3

At 30 September 2009  677.5  464.0 –  6.1  1,147.6 



88       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

13 Intangible assets continued

Company
Goodwill

£m

Management 
contracts 

£m
Software

£m
Total 

£m 

Cost
At 1 October 2008  6.0  22.1  10.9  39.0 
Additions  –    –    2.0  2.0 
Arising on acquisition  112.9  164.1  2.8  279.8 
Disposal  –    –   (0.8) (0.8)

At 30 September 2009  118.9  186.2  14.9  320.0 
Additions  4.4  6.0  1.9  12.3 
Transfer to subsidiary undertakings (50.8) (164.1)  –   (214.9)
Fair value adjustment (36.3)  –    –   (36.3)
Reclassification (1.4) 3.6 (2.2)  –   

At 30 September 2010 34.8  31.7  14.6  81.1 

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2008  3.7  0.3  8.3  12.3 
Amortisation for year  –    0.4  0.8  1.2 

At 30 September 2009  3.7  0.7  9.1  13.5 
Amortisation for year  –   1.1  1.4 2.5

At 30 September 2010 3.7 1.8  10.5 16.0

Net book value 

At 30 September 2010  31.1 29.9  4.1 65.1

At 30 September 2009  115.2  185.5  5.8  306.5 

During the year the Company transferred certain of the goodwill and intangible assets acquired from Credit Suisse to a 
number of subsidiaries.

The Group has determined that it has two cash generating units ("CGUs") for the purpose of assessing the carrying 
value of goodwill and intangible assets: (i) property asset management and (ii) investment management. Goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU expected to benefit from the synergies of the business 
combination. While no longer relevant to our current business model, we make estimated allocations of costs between 
the CGUs to enable continuity of assessment of impairment. The carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets 
attributable to each segment is as follows:

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Investment management 956.9  937.2 65.1  306.5 
Property asset management 177.4    210.4  –    –   

1,134.3  1,147.6 65.1  306.5 

 Goodwill
Goodwill has arisen on the acquisition of various businesses over the years. Additions to goodwill during the year relate 
to the assets acquired from The Royal Bank of Scotland plc as described below and final consideration paid in respect of 
the Credit Suisse acquisition.

Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to annual impairment testing, as described below. There were no goodwill 
impairment losses recorded at 30 September 2010.
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13 Intangible assets continued

 Management contracts and distribution agreements
Management contracts and distribution agreements arise on businesses combinations and as with goodwill they are 
allocated to appropriate CGUs. They are recorded initially at their fair value and may be treated as indefinite life assets 
or definite life assets, in which case they are amortised. 

 Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles

 Goodwill
The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by value-in-use calculations which use cash flow projections based 
on the Group's approved budget for the year to 30 September 2011 and take into account the market conditions 
prevailing at the time. Value in use has been estimated by using a cashflow model, on the basis of five year projections 
plus a terminal value as required by IAS 36. The cash flows have been based on the annual budget for the year to 30 
September 2011 with a long term growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows for later years. The long term growth 
rate assumption of 2% is in line with the long term nature of the Group's business and in line with the Board's view 
that the Group will operate as a going concern in the long term.

The principal assumptions used in the above analysis are:

2010
%

2009
%

Annual increase in equity assets under management 6.0 6.0
Annual increase in fixed income and alternatives assets under management 3.0 3.0
Annual increase in property assets under management 6.0 6.0
Annual increase in operating costs 5.5 5.5

The annual increases in operating costs assumed above include provision for inflation of salaries and other operating 
costs, as well as provision for the additional costs associated with the assumed increased levels of business.

The following discount rates have been used in the impairment analysis. They are based on the Group's weighted 
average cost of capital using a risk free interest rate, together with a beta for the sector and allied to an equity risk 
premium. The rates calculated for each CGU take into account the relative risks associated with each CGU. The higher 
cost of capital for property is due to the smaller scale of these assets.

2010
Post tax

%

2010
Pre tax

%

2009
Post tax

%

2009
Pre tax

%

Investment management 9.6 12.5 10.3 13.3
Property asset management 11.1 14.4 12.8 16.7

The impairment review included a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions underpinning the cash flow projections and 
the rate at which the projections were discounted to arrive at the final value-in-use. The sensitivity analysis included testing 
assumptions relating to future revenue growth and the assumptions surrounding the level of operating costs and margins.

The absolute levels, on a standalone basis, of the key assumptions which most closely resulted in a match in the values 
in use to the carrying values of goodwill were:

2010
 Investment 

 management
% 

2010
 Property asset 

 management
% 

2009
 Investment 

 management 
%

2009
 Property asset 
 management

%

Discount rate  19.2  18.1  16.2  16.3 
Long term growth rate (19.6) (12.1) (10.5) (3.8)
Inflation rate  21.9  9.9  12.7  7.5 

The value in use, calculated for each CGU in accordance with the process described above, was compared with the 
carrying value of goodwill, intangible assets and property plant and equipment. The comparison resulted in a surplus of 
value in use over the carrying value of these assets for both CGUs as shown in the table below, and therefore no 
impairment of goodwill has been recognised in the year.
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13 Intangible assets continued

2010
 Investment 

 management 
 £m

2010
 Property asset 

 management 
 £m

2009
 Investment 

 management 
 £m

2009
 Property asset 
 management 

 £m

Excess of recoverable amount over carrying value 1,307.0 99.0  694.0  49.0 

 Management contracts and distribution agreements
The Group reviewed the management contracts held at 30 September 2010 including contracts which are considered to 
have an indefinite life. Management contracts within the investment management CGU at 30 September 2010 include 
£99.3 million (2009: £369.9 million) of assets which are considered to have an indefinite life. These assets comprise 
contracts for the management of open end funds which have no limit of time or termination provisions. The Group also 
reviewed definite life assets for impairment indicators and performed impairment tests where required. The property 
management CGU has no management contracts that are considered to have an indefinite life.  The definite life assets 
include the distribution agreement acquired in the RBS acquisition.

Impairment tests were performed using a combination of value in use calculations (using methods and assumptions 
described above in relation to goodwill) and estimates of fair value less costs to sell. Both measures of value were 
compared with the carrying value of the contracts. During 2010, developments in the German property market have led 
to liquidity issues on open end funds managed by a number of groups, with many such funds having been closed to 
redemptions. In common with a number of other groups, Aberdeen decided that it would place one such fund, DEGI 
Europa, into a controlled wind-down over a three year period, and we have taken this into account in considering future 
cashflows from this asset.  An impairment charge of £21.5 million has been recognised in the year to 30 September 
2010 in respect of DEGI intangibles. In 2009, an impairment charge of £12.7 million was recorded in respect of 
Australian management contracts.

The categories of management contracts and distribution agreements, their carrying amounts at the year end, 
remaining amortisation periods and estimated useful lives are as follows:

30 September 2010 30 September 2009

Net book 
values

£m

Remaining 
amortisation 

period (years)

Estimated 
useful life 

(years)

Net book 
values

£m

Remaining 
amortisation 

period (years)

Estimated 
useful life 

(years)

Definite life - management contracts 337.4 2-9 6-10 94.1 3-8 6-10
Definite life - distribution contracts 39.2 4.3 5 – – –
Indefinite life - open end fund contracts 99.3 N/A Indefinite 369.9 N/A Indefinite

475.9 464.0

 Company impairment review
A review of goodwill and management contracts held by the Company was carried out on the same basis as described 
above in respect of the Group's intangible assets. There were no indicators of impairment in respect of the management 
contracts held by the Company. No impairment of goodwill or management contracts has been recognised in the year. 

 Acquisitions 2010
On 29 January 2010 the Group completed the acquisition of certain long only multi-manager and fund of alternatives 
management agreements and contracts from The Royal Bank of Scotland plc ('RBS') for a cash consideration of £84.7 
million. The benefits of the acquisition were to add fund of alternatives capability and strengthen the Group's 
distribution relationship with RBS Wealth Management, including Coutts. The acquisition included the assignment of a 
number of asset administration, consultancy, advisory and other service agreements, certain trademarks, shares in 
certain Cayman Island companies and the associated staff of the business. In addition, the Group has entered into a 
long-term distribution agreement with RBS, largely incorporating their private banking customer base at Coutts & Co.

Goodwill represents the value of the acquired workforce and synergies. All goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.
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13 Intangible assets continued

The Group and Company engaged external valuation specialists to advise on the correct allocation of the purchase price 
between goodwill, intangible assets and tangible assets. Provisional values for the net assets of the acquired business, at 
the date of acquisition, are set out in the table below: 

RBS acquisition

At date of 
acquisition 

 £m 

Fair value  
adjustments 

 £m 

Provisional 
fair value 

 £m 

Intangible assets  –    73.5  73.5 
Cash 0.1  –    0.1 

Trade receivables  13.8  –    13.8 

Trade payables (14.9)  –   (14.9)

Net assets of acquired business (1.0)  73.5  72.5 

Goodwill  12.2 

 84.7 

Discharged by:

Cash consideration  84.7

The Company disposed of the RBS acquisition to a subsidiary immediately upon acquisition.

This business has been integrated with the Group's existing asset management businesses therefore the results and 
cashflows can no longer be separately identified.

 Acquisitions 2009
On 30 June 2009 the Group completed the second and final part of the acquisition of certain businesses and assets 
from Credit Suisse. The acquisition was completed in two stages, the first part of which completed on 30 April 2009. 
This was in respect of the businesses acquired in Asia Pacific (ex Japan) which had total assets under management of 
£7.1 billion. The consideration for this part of the acquisition was satisfied by the issue of 32,536,196 new ordinary 
shares to Credit Suisse. The second part of the acquisition was completed on 30 June 2009 and was in respect of the 
Rest of the World target business and had assets under management of approximately £28.0 billion bringing the total 
assets under management acquired to £35.1 billion. The consideration for this part was satisfied by the issue of 
207,473,804 new ordinary shares in the Company. Combined with the consideration of new shares issued in respect of 
the first closing, a total of 240,000,000 new ordinary shares were issued to Credit Suisse in satisfaction of the purchase 
consideration. The acquisition consisted primarily of investment management contracts, it also included several small 
operating companies in which 100% of the equity was acquired.

Independent valuation specialists were engaged to carry out a purchase price allocation exercise in order to allocate the 
purchase price between tangible assets, goodwill and intangible assets. The fair value adjustments from this allocation 
process are reflected in the table below. Values for the net assets of the acquired business, at the date of acquisition, are 
set out in the table below. 

Goodwill represents the value of the acquired workforce and synergies.

£4.4 million of final consideration was paid in 2010. Further, we have clarified the tax treatment on deduction of 
amortisation. As a result the deferred tax liability has been adjusted, with the corresponding entry reducing goodwill.

On 5 December 2009 the Group completed the sale of the former Credit Suisse funds acquired to Premier Asset 
Management Group Limited for a cash consideration of £23.0 million. The sale comprised two OEIC fund umbrellas 
containing ten open end funds.

During 2009 Aberdeen Asset Management Pooled Pensions Limited, a Group subsidiary was deemed to control two of 
the funds in which it had invested and these funds have been consolidated in accordance with IAS 27 together with an 
investment previously held by the Group as held for sale.
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13 Intangible assets continued

The assets and liabilities at the date of the acquisition and the fair value adjustments were as follows:

Businesses acquired from Credit Suisse

Group

At date of
acquisition

£m

Fair value
adjustments

£m

Provisional 
fair value

£m

Final fair 
value 

adjustments  
£m 

Final 
fair value 

 £m 

Acquisition 
of Life and 

Pension 
Funds 

 £m 

Acquisition 
of 

Aberdeen  
Global III 

 £m 

Intangible assets  0.8  194.1  194.9 –  194.9  –    –   

Property, plant & equipment  0.1  –    0.1 –  0.1  –    –   

Asset held for sale  –    23.0  23.0 –  23.0  –    –   

Other investments  –    –    –   –  –    3.9 (2.0)

Trade and other receivables  15.5  –    15.5 –  15.5  0.8  1.6 

Cash and cash equivalents  36.1  –    36.1 –  36.1  5.8  0.5 

Trade and other payables (14.7) (15.3) (30.0) – (30.0) (3.6) (0.1)

Deferred tax on intangible assets  –   (53.8) (53.8)  36.3 (17.5)  –   –

Net assets of acquired business  37.8  148.0  185.8  36.3  222.1  6.9  –   

Goodwill  120.7 (31.9)  88.8  –    –   

Minority interest  –   –  –   (6.9)  –   

 306.5 4.4  310.9  –    –   

Discharged by:
Value of shares issued  300.4 –  300.4 – –

Cash consideration – 4.4 4.4 – –

Expenses of acquisition  6.1 – 6.1 – –

 306.5  4.4  310.9  –    –   

Businesses acquired from Credit Suisse

Company

At date of
acquisition

£m

Fair value
adjustments

£m

Provisional 
fair value

£m

Final fair 
value 

adjustments  
£m 

Final 
fair value 

 £m 

Intangible assets  –    166.1  166.1  –   166.1 

Asset held for sale  –    23.0  23.0  –   23.0 

Cash and cash equivalents  3.0  –    3.0  –   3.0 

Investment in subsidiaries  34.8  12.6  47.4  –  47.4

Deferred tax on intangible assets  –   (45.9) (45.9) 36.3 (9.6)

Net assets of acquired business  37.8  155.8  193.6 36.3  229.9 

Goodwill  112.9 (31.9) 81.0

 306.5  4.4  310.9 

Discharged by:
Value of shares issued  300.4  –   300.4 

Cash consideration – 4.4 4.4

Expenses of acquisition  6.1 – 6.1 

 306.5  4.4  310.9 
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14 Property, plant & equipment

Group

Heritable 
property 

£m

Short 
leasehold 
property 

£m

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£m

Motor 
vehicles 

£m
Total  

£m

Cost 
At 1 October 2008  2.5  12.7  22.1  0.3  37.6 
Additions  0.1  5.6  5.4  0.1  11.2 
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries  –    –    0.1  –    0.1 
Disposals (0.1) (6.0) (1.9)  –   (8.0)
Exchange movement  –    0.7  1.3  –    2.0 

At 30 September 2009  2.5  13.0  27.0  0.4  42.9 
Additions  –    2.7 2.9   –    5.6
Reclassification (0.1) 0.2 (0.1) –  –   
Disposals – (1.4) (0.2) – (1.6)  
Exchange movement – 0.3 0.2 – 0.5   

At 30 September 2010  2.4  14.8  29.8  0.4  47.4 

Depreciation 
At 1 October 2008  0.5  6.0  15.3  0.1  21.9 
Charge for year  –    1.5  2.7  0.1  4.3 
On disposals  –   (2.4) (0.9)  –   (3.3)
Exchange movement  –    0.3  0.8  –    1.1 

At 30 September 2009  0.5  5.4  17.9  0.2  24.0 
Charge for year – 2.0 2.8 – 4.8   
On disposals – (1.4) (0.2) – (1.6)  
Exchange movement – 0.2 0.2 – 0.4  

At 30 September 2010  0.5 6.2 20.7  0.2 27.6

Net book value 

At 30 September 2010  1.9  8.6  9.1  0.2  19.8 

At 30 September 2009  2.0  7.6  9.1  0.2  18.9 
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14 Property, plant & equipment continued

Company

Heritable 
property 

£m

Short 
leasehold 
property 

£m

Computers 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£m

Motor 
vehicles 

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 October 2008  2.4  7.0  17.1  0.1  26.6 
Additions  –    2.1  0.8  –    2.9 
Disposals  –   (2.5)  –    –   (2.5)

At 30 September 2009  2.4  6.6  17.9  0.1  27.0 
Additions  –    2.6  1.9  –    4.5 

At 30 September 2010  2.4  9.2  19.8  0.1  31.5 

Depreciation 

At 1 October 2008  0.5  3.4  13.9  0.1  17.9 
Charge for year    –    0.8  1.1  –    1.9 
On disposals  –   (1.3)  –    –   (1.3)

At 30 September 2009  0.5  2.9  15.0  0.1  18.5 
Charge for year   – 1.5  1.3  –    2.8 

At 30 September 2010 0.5 4.4  16.3  0.1  21.3 

Net book value   

At 30 September 2010 1.9 4.8  3.5  –    10.2 

At 30 September 2009  1.9  3.7  2.9  –    8.5 

15 Non-current asset investments

Group

 Other
investments

£m

Shares

At 1 October 2008  50.3 
Additions  19.5 
Fair value gains  3.0 
Fair value losses (9.4)
Disposals (6.5)
Exchange movement  3.0 

At 30 September 2009  59.9 
Additions 18.3
Fair value gains - reserves  2.9 
Fair value losses - reserves (2.9)
Fair value losses - income statement (1.0)
Disposals (19.8)
Exchange movement 1.2

At 30 September 2010  58.6 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  CONTINUED



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010       95  

Group

 Other
investments

£m

Net book value 

At 30 September 2010

Available for sale  58.6 

At 30 September 2009
Available for sale  59.9 

Movements in 2010 comprised additions of £17.9 million of investment in own funds and £0.4 million of private 
equity investments. Disposals included £19.2 million of investment in own funds and £0.6 million of residual private 
equity holdings.

Additions in 2009 comprised £19.2 million of co-investment and investment in own funds and £0.2 million of private 
equity investments.

Disposals in 2009 comprised £4.8 million of seed capital investments and £1.7 million of private equity investments.

Company

Subsidiary 
undertakings 

£m

Other 
 investments 

£m
Total  

£m

Shares

At 1 October 2008  1,016.3  24.7  1,041.0 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings  65.5  –    65.5 
 investment in subsidiaries  59.4  –    59.4 
 other investments  –    0.3  0.3 
 reclassified from current asset investments  –    0.2  0.2 
Fair value adjustment  –    2.1  2.1 
Disposals  –   (3.4) (3.4)

At 30 September 2009  1,141.2  23.9  1,165.1 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings 369.4  –   369.4
 other investments  –    15.2  15.2 
Fair value adjustment  –    2.1  2.1 
Amounts written off  –   (1.5) (1.5)
Disposals  –   (16.9) (16.9)

At 30 September 2010 1,510.6  22.8 1,533.4

Net book value 

At 30 September 2010

At cost less provisions for impairment 1,510.6  –   1,510.6

Available for sale  –    22.8  22.8 

At 30 September 2009
At cost less provisions for impairment  1,141.2  –    1,141.2 
Available for sale  –    23.9  23.9 

15 Non-current asset investments continued
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15 Non-current asset investments continued

The principal companies in which the Group interest was more than 10% at 30 September 2010 were as follows:

Subsidiary undertakings Principal activity % owned
Country of 
registration

Country of 
operation

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited Fund management 100 Singapore Singapore 
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland UK 
Aberdeen Asset Management, Inc Fund management 100 USA USA 
Aberdeen Fund Management Limited Fund management 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Global Services SA Fund management 100 Luxembourg Luxembourg
Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited Fund distribution 100 Hong Kong Hong Kong
Aberdeen Asset Management Holding AB Property asset 

management
100 Sweden Sweden

Aberdeen Unit Trust Managers Limited Unit trust management 100 England UK 

16 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are as follows:

Group

Balance at 
1 Oct 
 2008 

£m

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£m

Recognised 
in equity 

£m 

Arising in
business

combination 
£m

Balance at
30 Sep 

2009
 £m 

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£m

Recognised
in equity

 £m 

Arising in
business

combination 
£m

Balance at 
30 Sep 
 2010 

£m

Available-for- 
sale financial 
assets  0.3  –    1.8  –    2.1  –   (0.1)  –   2.0

Defined 
benefit 
schemes  2.8 (2.4)  7.1  –    7.5 (1.0) 0.7  –    7.2 

Share-based 
payments  1.9 (1.2)  –    –    0.7 5.4  –    –   6.1

Tax loss 
carry-forward  17.4  6.4  –    –    23.8 (10.9)  –    –    12.9 

Other items  1.7  4.3 (2.4) (1.6)  2.0 – (0.5) –  1.5 

Deferred tax 
assets 24.1 7.1 6.5 (1.6) 36.1 (6.5) 0.1 – 29.7

Intangible 
assets (60.9)  2.9  –   (53.8) (111.8) 12.5 3.1 36.3 (59.9)

Convertible 
bonds – – – – – 0.4 (2.6) – (2.2)

Deferred tax 
liabilities (60.9) 2.9 – (53.8) (111.8) 12.9 0.5 36.3 (62.1)

(36.8)  10.0  6.5 (55.4) (75.7) 6.4 0.6 36.3 (32.4)

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £96.0 million (2009: £85.6 million) and overseas of £98.2 million 
(2009: £79.1 million). Deferred tax assets of £12.9 million (2009: £23.8 million) have been recognised in respect of 
these losses as they will be used to offset taxable profits forecast in future years.
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16 Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued

Company

Balance at 
1 Oct 
 2008 

£m

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£m

Recognised
in equity

 £m 

Arising in
business

combination 
£m

Balance at
30 Sep 

2009
 £m 

Recognised
in profit

or loss 
£m

Recognised 
in equity 

£m

Arising in
business

combination 
£m

Balance at 
30 Sep 
 2010 

£m

Defined 
benefit 
schemes  0.1  –    0.1  –    0.2 (0.1) 0.1  –    0.2 

Share based 
payments – – – – – 1.8 – – 1.8

Tax loss carry 
forward 0.3 2.4 – – 2.7 10.2 – – 12.9

Other items – –  –    –   – 0.3  –    –   0.3

Deferred tax 
assets 0.4 2.4 0.1 – 2.9 12.2 0.1 – 15.2

Intangible 
assets  –    –    –   (45.9) (45.9)  –   – 45.9 –

Convertible 
bonds – – – – – 0.4 (2.6) – (2.2)

Financial 
instruments  –    –    –    –    –   (0.8)  –    –   (0.8)

Deferred tax 
liabilities – – – (45.9) (45.9) (0.4) (2.6) 45.9 (3.0)

 0.4  2.4  0.1 (45.9) (43.0) 11.8 (2.5) 45.9 12.2

The unrecognised deferred tax on the Company's investment in subsidiaries at 30 September 2010 was £219.6 million 
(2009: £187.2 million).
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17 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Current assets
Due from trustees for open end fund redemptions  83.0  23.8  –    –   
Due from investors for open end fund sales  12.3  9.3  –    –   

  95.3  33.1  –    –   
Other trade receivables  55.1  31.5  1.2  1.1 
Amounts due by subsidiary undertakings  –    –    202.6  181.2 
Other receivables 17.3  20.3  5.5  6.2 
Accrued income  99.4  85.2  –    –   
Prepayments  16.0  26.9  6.8  13.6 

 283.1  197.0  216.1  202.1 

Non-current assets

Other receivables 5.8  6.8 –  –   

Prepayments 11.0 – 5.0 –

16.8 6.8 5.0 –

18 Stock of units and shares

Group

2010
£m

2009
£m

Units and shares in managed funds 0.3 0.5 

Stocks of units and shares are held in a number of open ended funds managed by the Group and are classified as held 
for trading current assets.

19 Financial investments

The following assets are held by the Group's life assurance and pooled pensions subsidiaries to meet their  
contracted liabilities: 

Group

2010
£m

2009
£m

Listed investments  884.0  905.2 
Unit trusts  492.9  531.6 
Cash and deposits  31.4  17.6 
Other net assets   4.3  11.1 

 1,412.6  1,465.5 

20 Other investments

Group

2010
£m

2009
£m

Listed equities - held for trading 13.0  12.3 
Liquid investments of pensions subsidiaries 27.6  21.7 

40.6  34.0 
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21 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 150.8  81.4  0.1  0.1 
Bank overdrafts  –    –   (117.6) (91.1)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 150.8  81.4 (117.5) (91.0)

Cash and cash equivalents are subject to floating rates of interest. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on 
daily bank deposit rates. The book value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value. The Group's 
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of the assets. 

At 30 September 2010, the Group had £75.0 million (2009: £17.4 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities 
under its revolving credit arrangements (note 27).

The carrying amounts of the Group's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Sterling 46.2  22.3 (124.4) (94.5)
US dollar 28.4  4.9  5.9  1.1 
Euro 26.5  21.5  1.0  2.4 
Nordic currencies 14.5  16.0  –    –   
Other currencies 35.2  16.7  –    –   

150.8  81.4 (117.5) (91.0)

22 Assets classified as held for sale

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

Seed capital investments  –    4.8  –    –   

Management contracts held for sale  –    23.0  –    23.0 

 –    27.8  –    23.0 

No gains or losses arose in 2010 (2009: £0.2 million gain).

Seed capital investments consist of amounts invested in funds when the intention is to dispose of these as soon as 
practicably possible. 

Management contracts held for sale were acquired by the Group as part of the acquisition of certain businesses from 
Credit Suisse and agreement was reached on 13 July 2009 to sell these contracts. The sale was completed on  
5 December 2009.
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23 Share capital

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

1,144,282,989 (2009: 1,003,074,522) Ordinary shares of 10p  114.4  100.3 
4,072 (2009: 39,994) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100  0.4  4.0 

 114.8  104.3 

2010 
No. of shares 

millions

2009 
No. of shares 

millions

At 1 October 1,003.1 717.0
Shares issued in respect of acquisition 90.0 240.0
Shares issued on conversion of preference share units 39.0 42.4
Shares issued to settle share-based payment during the year 12.0  –   
Shares issued in respect of options exercised 0.2 0.9
Shares issued on conversion of convertible bonds  –   2.8
At 30 September 1,144.3 1,003.1

On 13 January 2010 the Group completed a placing of 90,000,000 new ordinary shares of 10p each. The proceeds of 
the placing were £118.8 million which were used to fund the acquisition of certain businesses from The Royal Bank of 
Scotland (note 13) and to repay part of the Group's revolving credit facility.

During the year, a total of 39,037,667 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued in respect of the conversion of 35,922 
convertible preference share units. See below for terms.

During the year, a total of 12,000,000 new ordinary shares of 10p each were issued in respect of share-based payment 
awards to employees.

During the year, a total of 170,800 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at an average price of 51.5p pursuant to the 
exercise of options granted to employees under the 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme.

80,000 convertible preference share units of £1,000 each were issued on 30 June 2005. Each convertible preference 
share unit of £1,000 comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe to ordinary shares, of which £800 
relates to the preference share and £200 to the warrant. Each preference share is entitled to a non-cumulative dividend 
accruing at a rate of £67.50 per share per annum payable annually in arrears on 30 June in each year (payments subject 
to the directors' discretion). The convertible preference shares are perpetual securities and have no maturity date but are 
redeemable in whole, but not in part, only at the option of the Company on 30 June 2012 or any dividend payment date 
thereafter at a price equal to the aggregate of £1,000 and any dividends accrued for the then current dividend period.
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24 Share-based payments

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Employee expense

Expense arising from the award of shares and options under the LTIP 1.1  1.7 0.9  1.5 
Deferred share awards 29.8  23.8 4.8  6.2 

Total expense recognised as employee costs 30.9  25.5 5.7  7.7 

The Group has in place the following share-based payment arrangements: 

 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme
This scheme was established in 1994 and is approved by HM Revenue and Customs. It was approved by the 
shareholders prior to its introduction. In accordance with its rules, options can only be issued within a ten year period 
and no further options can be issued under this scheme.

The following share options granted under the Scheme were in place at 30 September 2010:

Date option granted Option price per share Period of exercise 

Number of shares

 Total  Directors

11 June 2003 42p 11 June 2006 - 11 June 2013  730,400  89,000 
23 January 2004 57p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014  118,600 –
23 January 2004 59p 23 January 2007 - 23 January 2014  1,544,400  646,000 

Options may only be exercised if the remuneration committee is satisfied that the Group's earnings per share have 
increased over a period of three years by 5% per annum in excess of the average growth in the stock markets in which 
the Group's assets under management are invested.

Full details of options held by directors who served during the financial year are given in the Remuneration report on 
pages 43 to 52. 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is as follows:

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2010

Number  
of options  

2010 

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
2009

Number  
of options  

2009 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  4,251,200  5,194,100 
Exercised during the year 51.5p (170,800) 59.5p (942,900)
Lapsed during the year (1,687,000) –

Outstanding at the end of the year  2,393,400  4,251,200 

Exercisable at the end of the year  2,393,400  4,251,200 

The options outstanding at 30 September 2010 have exercise prices in the range 42p to 59p and a weighted average 
contractual life of 3.1 years (2009 - 2.6 years).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of 
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a trinomial lattice 
model using a Monte Carlo simulation model for assessing the likelihood of performance conditions being satisfied.
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24 Share-based payments continued

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of options are as 
follows:

Date option granted
11 June  

2003
23 January  

2004
23 January  

2004

Number of options granted  3,543,000  436,700  4,097,800 
Share price at grant date 42p 57p 59p 
Exercise price 42p 57p 59p 
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 96.9% 78.9% 78.9%
Risk free date at grant date ( based on 3 month sterling LIBOR) 3.65% 4.07% 4.07%
Expected dividend yield 6.10% 4.50% 4.40%
Average expected term to exercise 7.5 years 7.6 years 7.6 years
Fair value of options £381,000 £120,000 £1,190,000

 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
The fair value of services received in return for LTIP shares awarded are measured by reference to the fair value of LTIP 
shares awarded. The estimate of the fair value of the services received has been measured based  on a trinomial lattice 
model using assumptions for employee exit/forfeiture rates, zero dividend yields (because dividends accrue to the 
employee as from the date of the award), share price and composite volatility and performance conditions.

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain the fair value of LTIP shares and 
options are as follows:

14 December  
2007

 17 June  
2008

 10 December  
2008

 13 December  
2009

Number of LTIP shares awarded  696,416  –    385,987  177,831 
Number of LTIP options awarded  –    20,400,000  –    –   
Share price at award date 166p 130.25p 166p 136.3p 
Vesting period 3 years 4 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 37.5% 32.1% 53.8% N/A
Risk free rate at award date ( based on 3 
month sterling LIBOR)

6.50% 5.95% 3.25% N/A

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average expected term to exercise 3 years 8 years 3 years 3 years

The number of LTIP shares and LTIP options outstanding at the year end are set out in the following table:

2010
Number

2009
Number

Outstanding 1 October  20,089,781  25,827,194 
Granted during the year  177,831  385,987 
Exercised during the year –   (4,038,400)
Forfeited during the year (1,233,506) (2,085,000)
Outstanding 30 September 19,034,106  20,089,781 
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24 Share-based payments continued

 Deferred share awards
The Group has made the following deferred share awards, which are equity settled, do not have ongoing performance 
conditions, but have a time vesting condition:

Number

Date of award

Share price 
on date of 

grant
Original 

award total

Leavers/
forfeited 

awards
Vested 
awards

Balance at 
30 Sept 

 2010 Earliest vesting dates

16 December 2006 190.0p  7,765,739  –   (7,765,739)  –    Jan 2010 
15 March 2007 188.7p  150,498 (7,500) (77,391)  65,607  Dec 2009 
5 September 2007 176.0p  2,287,360 (1,815,815) (471,545)A –    Oct 2010 
16 October 2007 189.2p  237,799  –   (237,799)A –    Oct 2010 

1 December 2007 167.5p  8,879,284 (457,517) (1,885,524)A 6,536,243  Dec 2010 

17 June 2008 135.2p  245,358  –   (15,000)  230,358  Jun 2011 - Jun 2013 

1 December 2008 88.0p  40,171,397 (581,794) (17,223,212)  22,366,391  Dec 2009 - Dec 2011 

1 July 2009 127.0p  2,565,167 (244,098) (71,832)A 2,249,237  Jul 2012 

1 December 2009 138.6p  24,410,288 (958,755) (412,926)A 23,038,607  Dec 2010 - Dec 2012 

17 September 2010 148.4p  22,238  –    –    22,238  Sep 2011 

Total  86,735,128 (4,065,479) (28,160,968)  54,508,681 

A Vested awards relate to 'good' leavers.

Awards made in 2006 and 2007 reach their earliest vesting dates at the end of a three year period subject to the 
continued employment of the participant. Awards made in 2008 and 2009 reach their earliest vesting dates in three 
equal tranches over a three year period, again subject to the continued employment of the participant. On reaching the 
earliest vesting date, participants may require immediate vesting or may choose to defer vesting until a later date; if 
deferred, participants may require vesting, without condition, at any time.

Weighted 
average share 

price
2010

2010
Number

Weighted 
average share 

price
2009 

2009
Number 

Outstanding 1 October   53,639,535  18,797,338 
Granted during the year   24,432,526  42,736,564 
Exercised during the year 138.7p (21,909,151) 124.1p (4,531,261)

Forfeited during the year (1,654,229) (3,363,106)

Outstanding 30 September   54,508,681  53,639,535 
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25 Reserves

 Nature and purpose of reserves
 Share premium account

The share premium account is used to record the issue of share capital above par value. This reserve is not distributable 
and can only be reduced with court approval.

 Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve is created on the cancellation of share capital and the balance reflects the value of 
preference share capital redeemed by the company. This reserve is not distributable.  

 Merger reserve
The merger reserve is used to record share premium on shares issued by way of consideration in respect of acquisitions. 
The realised element of the merger reserve can be used to offset amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 
charged to the income statement. This reserve is not distributable.

 Warrant reserve
The warrant reserve was created on the issue of the £80,000,000 convertible preference share units in June 2005. Each 
convertible preference share unit issued comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary 
shares, of which £800 related to the preference share and £200 to the warrant. The balance in the reserve reflects the 
value of unexercised warrants. The equity element of the bonds, net of deferred tax, is shown within warrant and other 
reserves.

 Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

 Fair value reserve
This reserve records fair value changes on available for sale investments until the investments are derecognised.

 Retained earnings
Retained earnings comprises:

• all realised gains and losses through the Income Statement less dividend distributions;

• actuarial gains and losses recognised in the pension liability;

• deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses;

• transactions relating to equity-settled share-based payments, and all deferred tax movements on share-based payments 
reflected through equity; and

• the purchase and sale of own shares in respect of share based payments.

The total movements in retained earnings relating to the issue of the LTIP shares represent the value of the shares 
issued to participants in any period less the annual amortisation of these shares which is charged through the income 
statement.

The Company reserve is distributable.

2010 2009

Group and company
Number  

of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£m

Market  
value

£m
Number  

of shares

% of  
issued  
shares

Cost 
£m

Market  
value

£m

Own shares  2,622,054 0.2 3.4  4.2 8,204,462 0.8 15.4  12.3 

These shares are held by the Group's Employee Benefits Trust for the purpose of satisfying deferred share bonuses that 
will vest in future periods.

The maximum number held by the Employee Benefits Trust during the year was 15,443,586 (2% of issued shares); 
(2009: 14,050,766, 2%).
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25 Reserves continued

Movements during the year are as follows:

2010
millions

2009
millions

At 1 October 8.2 14.0

Own shares purchased 2.2 –

Own shares issued to trustees 12.0 –

Own shares disposed through vesting (19.8) (5.8)
At 30 September 2.6 8.2

The Company is authorised pursuant to section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 to make market purchases of 
ordinary shares.

26 Perpetual subordinated capital securities

2010
£m

2009
£m 

US $400 million 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities  196.5  196.5 
Coupon outstanding at 30 September  1.6  1.6 

 198.1  198.1 

The 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities were issued on 29 May 2007. They have no fixed redemption date 
but the Company may, at its sole discretion, redeem all (but not part) of these securities at their principal amount on 
29 May 2012 or any subsequent coupon payment date. In addition, under certain circumstances defined in the terms 
and conditions of the issue, the Company may at its sole discretion:

• redeem all (but not in part) of the securities at their principal amount at any time prior to 29 May 2012;
• on any coupon payment date, exchange all (but not part) of the securities for fully paid non-cumulative preference 

shares in the Company. The preference shares would entitle holders to receive a preferential dividend, if declared by 
the Board, at a fixed rate of 7.9% per annum of their nominal value. Such preference shares may be redeemed, at 
the Company’s sole option, on any coupon payment date later than five years after their issue.

The Company has the option to defer coupon payments on the securities on any relevant payment date. Deferred 
coupons shall be satisfied only in the following circumstances, all of which occur at the sole option of the Company:

• redemption; or
• substitution by preference shares.

No interest will accrue on any deferred coupon. Deferred coupons will be satisfied by the issue and sale of ordinary 
shares in the Company at their prevailing market value, to a sum as near as practicable to (and at least equal to) the 
relevant deferred coupons. In the event of any coupon deferral the Company would not declare or pay any dividend on 
its ordinary or preference share capital.

Coupon payments are made quarterly in arrears on 28 February, 29 May, 29 August and 29 November in each year from 
29 August 2007.
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27 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Non-current liabilities

7.2% subordinated notes 2016  79.3  78.2  79.3  78.2 
Unamortised issue costs (0.5) (0.6) (0.5) (0.6)
3.5% convertible bonds 2014  82.0  –    82.0  –   
Unamortised issue costs (2.3)  –   (2.3)  –   
Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facilities  –    150.0  –    150.0 

  158.5  227.6  158.5  227.6 

Current liabilities

Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility  –    28.3  –    28.3 
Bank overdraft  –    –    117.6  91.1 

 –    28.3  117.6  119.4 

On 17 December 2009, the Group issued £90 million 3.5% convertible bonds 2014. The bonds have a term of five years 
and unless previously redeemed, converted, or purchased and cancelled the bonds will be redeemed at their principal 
amount on 17 December 2014. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on 17 June and 17 December. The bonds are 
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time after 28 January 2010 at a conversion price of 185p.

US$125 million 7.2% subordinated notes 2016 were issued on 7 July 2006. The notes have a term of ten years although 
the Company has the option, subject to certain restrictions, to prepay all (but not part) of the notes from 8 July 2011 
onwards. Interest is payable semi-annually on 7 July and 7 January each year until 7 July 2011. From 8 July 2011 each 
note converts to a floating rate note bearing interest at the LIBOR rate in effect for the applicable quarterly interest 
period plus 2.25%.

The Company entered into a £150 million revolving credit and guarantee facility with Lloyds TSB Bank and Barclays 
Capital on 24 July 2009. The facility runs for a two year period and carries an interest rate of 2.75% over LIBOR / 
EURIBOR pa on amounts drawn. A non-utilisation fee of 1.375% per annum is charged on undrawn amounts. The 
facility was reduced to £75 million, at the request of the Company, on 24 July 2010.

The Company's bank overdraft is part of a group working capital facility in support of which cross guarantees are 
provided by certain subsidiary undertakings. At 30 September 2010 the net amount guaranteed under this arrangement 
was £nil (2009 - £nil).  The Group's borrowings are subject to a number of covenants which, in accordance with 
standard practice, are reviewed and discussed with lenders from time to time. The Board, having regard to its business 
plans is confident that the Group will continue to comply with applicable conditions for the foreseeable future. 
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28 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Due to trustees for open end fund creations  16.5  8.5  –    –   
Due to investors for open end fund redemptions 75.3  20.7  –    –   

91.8  29.2  –    –   

Other trade creditors  11.2  14.8  6.2  4.7 
Accruals 137.3  109.1 25.6  11.6 
Tax and social security  4.0  2.2  1.8  1.3 
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings  –    –   72.8  57.8 
Deferred consideration due on acquisition  –    3.1  –    –   
Other creditors 29.7  20.0 5.1  0.8 

 274.0  178.4 111.5  76.2 

29 Financial instruments

 i) Designated as held for trading

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  0.3  0.5  –    –   
Other investments 13.0  12.3  –    –   
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  27.6  21.7  –    –   

 40.9  34.5  –    –   

 ii) Designated as available for sale investments

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Investments  58.6  59.9  22.8  23.9 

Available for sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares, warrants and private equity investments and 
deferred consideration on sale of assets.

The fair value of the listed available for sale investments is based on market price.

The fair value of the available for sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technique based on 
assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The directors believe that the estimated fair 
values resulting from the valuation technique which are recorded in the balance sheet, and the related fair value gains 
recorded in the income statement, are reasonable and most appropriate at the balance sheet date.

 iii) Assets classified as held for sale

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Seed capital investments  –    4.8  –    –   

Management contracts held for sale  –    23.0  –    23.0 

 –    27.8  –    23.0 
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29 Financial instruments continued

 Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group and Company's 
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

Group Company

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Group
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009

£m

Financial assets

Other investments  58.6  59.9  58.6  59.9  22.8  23.9  22.8  23.9 
Investments in subsidiaries  –    –    –    –   1,510.6 1,141.2 1,510.6 1,141.2
Other financial investments  1,412.6  1,465.5  1,412.6  1,465.5  –    –    –    –   
Other current assets 
investments 40.6  34.0 40.6  34.0  –    –    –    –   
Stock of units and shares  0.3  0.5  0.3  0.5  –    –    –    –   
Cash and cash equivalents 150.8  81.4 150.8  81.4  0.1  0.1  0.1  0.1 
Assets held for sale  –    27.8  –    27.8  –    23.0  –    23.0 

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans  
and borrowings:

– Fixed rate borrowings  161.3  78.2  156.1  76.9  161.3  78.2  156.1  76.9 
– Floating rate borrowings  –    178.3  –    178.3  117.6    269.4 117.6  269.4 

Insurance contract liabilities  1,412.6  1,465.5  1,412.6  1,465.5  –    –    –    –   

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments 
reflected in the above table:

 Securities
The fair value of listed investments is based on market bid prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for 
transaction costs.

The fair value of unlisted investments have been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation guidelines for Limited Partnership agreements where possible.

 Interest bearing loans
The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest 
rates. The valuations have considered similar issues available in the market and the liquidity of the assets and liabilities.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated cash flows are based on management's best estimates and 
the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date. Where other pricing models 
are used, inputs are based on market related data at the balance sheet date.
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29 Financial instruments continued

 Interest rate and currency risk profiles
The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial liabilities at 30 September were as follows:

2010 2009

Group
Fixed rate

£m

Variable 
rate
£m

Total
£m

Fixed rate
£m

Variable 
rate
£m

Total
£m

Sterling

Bank revolving credit facilities  –    –    –    –    150.0  150.0 
3.5% convertible bonds 2014  82.0  –    82.0  –    –    –   

 82.0  –    82.0  –    150.0  150.0 

Euro

Bank revolving credit facility  –    –    –    –    28.3  28.3 

US dollar

7.2% subordinated notes 2016  79.3  –    79.3  78.2  –    78.2 

 161.3  –    161.3  78.2  178.3  256.5 

2010 2009

Company
Fixed rate

£m

Variable 
rate
£m

Total
£m

Fixed rate
£m

Variable 
rate
£m

Total
£m

Sterling

Bank revolving credit facilities  –    –    –    –    150.0  150.0 
Bank overdraft  –   117.6 117.6 –  91.1 91.1
3.5% convertible bonds 2014  82.0  –    82.0  –    –   –

 82.0 117.6 199.6 –  241.1 241.1

Euro

Bank revolving credit facilities  –    –    –    –    28.3  28.3 

US dollar

7.2% subordinated notes 2016  79.3  –    79.3  78.2  –    78.2 

 161.3 117.6 278.9 78.2  269.4 347.6

Interest on the revolving credit facility is at a variable rate of 2.75% above LIBOR / EURIBOR. Further details of the 
liabilities are given in note 27.
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29 Financial instruments continued

The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial assets excluding the assets backing the 
liabilities relating to the Group's life assurance subsidiaries at 30 September were as follows:

2010 2009

Group
Floating rate

£m
No interest

£m
Total

£m
Floating rate

£m
No interest

£m
Total

£m

Sterling 70.4 26.7 97.1  45.3  44.0  89.3 
US dollar 28.4 12.2  40.6    4.9  12.4  17.3 
Euro currencies 26.5   1.3 27.8  21.5  1.6  23.1 
Nordic currencies 14.5  34.5   49.0  16.0  35.9  51.9 
Other currencies 35.2  0.6 35.8    16.7  5.3  22.0 

Total 175.0 75.3 250.3  104.4  99.2  203.6 

2010 2009

Company
Floating rate

£m
No interest

£m
Total

£m
Floating rate

£m
No interest

£m
Total

£m

Sterling 5.3 16.3 21.6  5.3  39.2  44.5 
US dollar  –   – –  –    0.9  0.9 
Euro currencies  –   1.3  1.3  –    1.6  1.6 
Other currencies  –   – –  –    –    –   

Total 5.3 17.6 22.9  5.3  41.7  47.0 

The no interest financial assets do not have a maturity date.  They principally comprise available for sale investments 
and assets and other debtors.

The floating rate financial assets principally comprise cash and deposit balances which earn interest at rates which 
fluctuate according to money market rates.

 Foreign net investment
The majority of the Group's subsidiaries use sterling as their functional and presentation currencies.  The foreign 
currency net monetary assets of subsidiaries which adopt a different reporting currency are as follows:

2010
£m

2009
£m 

US dollar  65.9  23.3 
Singapore dollar 22.8  3.8 
Australian dollar 20.3  23.9 
Nordic currencies 2.4 (4.9)
Euro 24.3  18.6 
Other 17.9  15.3 

 Financial instruments relating to unit linked contracts
The Group's life assurance subsidiary provides unit linked wrappers which avail clients of a number of benefits from 
these pooled arrangements. From the Group's perspective, the risks and rewards of managing these assets are the same 
as other assets under management as the financial risks and rewards attributable to theses assets also fall to be borne 
by, or to the benefit of, clients. Hence, while a number of significant financial instruments are recognised in the balance 
sheet in respect of the subsidiary, the key risk to the Group is the impact of the level of the fees which are earned from 
this entity which are directly impacted by the underlying value of the policyholder assets. While by necessity this Group 
subsidiary company has some insurance risks, these risks are completely reinsured, thereby negating any ultimate 
insurance risk to the Group's equity holders.

The unit linked assets are matched by the associated insurance contract liabilities disclosed in note 19.

The assets above are all unit linked and held for the sole benefit of the policyholders within Aberdeen Asset 
Management Life and Pensions Limited. Investment and credit risk in respect of assets and liabilities held within unit 
linked funds is borne by the policyholders.
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30 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Group 

Provision for 
Investment 

Trust VAT
£m

Onerous
lease

£m
Total

£m

At 1 October 2009   1.3  –    1.3 
New provisions made      –    3.6 3.6

Released in the year (1.3) – (1.3)

At 30 September 2010  –    3.6 3.6 

Company 

Provision for 
Investment 

Trust VAT
£m

Onerous
lease

£m
Total

£m

At 1 October 2009 –  –   – 
New provisions made  –    3.6 3.6 

At 30 September 2010  –    3.6 3.6 

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Disclosed as:

Current liabilities – 1.3  –    –

Non-current liabilities 3.6 – 3.6  –   

3.6 1.3 3.6 –

The Group had initially estimated it would incur costs of up to £2 million arising from retrospective changes to the VAT 
treatment of management charges to its investment trust clients. Following resolution of this issue with HMRC, the 
Group has seen able to release the final £1.3 million of this provision which is no longer required.

The Group has provided all expected costs related to the remaining lease period of our former London office. The 
provision takes into account sub-lease income. The provision is subject to uncertainties, including the cost of making 
good any dilapidations.

The Group may, from time to time, be subject to claims, actions or proceedings in the normal course of its business. 
While there can be no assurances, the directors believe, based on information currently available to them, that the 
likelihood of a material outflow of economic benefits is remote.

31 Deferred income

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds  1.4  0.8 –  –   

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds are being spread over the average life of the contracts which has been 
estimated at three years.
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32 Operating leases

The Group and Company have non-cancellable operating lease rentals which are payable as follows: 

Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and  

plant and equipment

Group
2010

£m
2009

£m
2010

£m
2009

£m

Within one year 17.3 17.2 0.3  0.6 
Between two and five years 46.1 49.5 0.3   0.8 
After five years 43.9 48.6  –    –   

107.3  115.3 0.6   1.4 

During the year ended 30 September 2010, £15.6 million was recognised as an expense in the income statement in 
respect of operating leases (2009: £12.5 million).

Land and buildings

Company
2010

£m
2009

£m

Within one year 7.0   7.0
Between two and five years 22.6 24.4
After five years 32.2 35.1

61.8   66.5 

 Sub-lease receivables
At the year end future minimum rentals under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

Land and buildings

Group
2010

£m
2009

£m

Between two and five years 0.9  0.3 
After five years 10.7  9.3 

11.6  9.6 

Land and buildings

Company
2010

£m
2009

£m

Between two and five years 0.9  0.3 
After five years 5.0  5.6 

5.9  5.9 
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33 Commitments

The Group has an outstanding commitment to invest up to £1.8 million (2009: £1.8 million) in the Spirit Capital 
Partners Fund I, which may or may not be called upon. 

34 Retirement benefits

The Group's principal form of pension provision is by way of three defined contribution schemes operated world-wide. 
The Group also operates several legacy defined benefit schemes: the CGA Staff Pension Fund (within the Company), the 
Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan and the Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death 
Benefits Scheme. All defined benefit schemes are closed to new membership and to future service accrual.

 The total contributions charged to the income statement in respect of the schemes operated by the Group were  
as follows:

2010
£m

2009
£m

i) In respect of the Group’s money purchase schemes: 
 Pension cost charged to operating profit:  UK schemes 9.0  7.9 
  Overseas schemes 6.5    5.9 

15.5    13.8 

ii) In respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes: 

 Pension cost charged to operating profit:  UK and DEGI schemes  2.7  1.2 

  Other schemes  1.2  1.2 

 3.9  2.4 

The pension obligations are recognised under non-current liabilities in the Balance Sheet and are stated gross of the 
related deferred tax asset.

The pension surplus and deficits of the Group are summarised as follows:

2010
£m

2009
£m

Pension deficits

Edinburgh Fund Managers Retirement & Death Benefits Plan (2.2) (4.8)
Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan (23.6) (22.1)
CGA Staff Pension Fund (0.9) (0.9)
DEGI Pension Plan (6.1) (4.5)

Deficit in main schemes (see (4) below) (32.8) (32.3)

Other defined benefit pension schemes (2.2) (1.1)

(35.0) (33.4)
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34 Retirement benefits continued

 Disclosure relating to the Group's defined benefit obligations
The information given in (1) and (4) below reflects the aggregate disclosures in respect of the Group's three UK defined 
benefit pension arrangements and the DEGI scheme in Germany. The information given in (2) reflects the three UK 
schemes only. The information provided in (3) relates to the DEGI pension scheme. The information in (4) reflects the 
aggregate disclosures for the three UK schemes plus the scheme operated by DEGI in Germany. 

1) Plan assets and expected rate of return

2010 2009

£m % £m % 

Plan assets

Equities and alternatives 56.7  48.6    49.7 49.0
Gilts and other bonds 10.0 8.6  11.3 11.1
LDI funds 36.9 31.6  32.2 31.7
Other 8.2 7.0  4.6 4.6

Cash 4.9 4.2   3.7 3.6

 116.7   100.0   101.5 100.0

 Basis used to determine the expected rate of return on plan assets
To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of 
expected returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of risk premium associated 
with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested, and the expectations for the future returns of each asset 
class. The expected return for each asset class was then weighted, based on the target asset allocation, to develop the 
expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions for the portfolio.

2)  Major assumptions used by UK schemes' actuaries

2010 
%

2009
% 

Expected rate of return

Equities and alternatives 6.9 7.1
Gilts and other bonds 3.9 4.1
LDI funds 3.6 4.0
Cash 0.5 0.5

2010 
%

2009 
% 

Discount rate 5.0 5.5
Pension increases

– pre July 1997 accrual (Edinburgh 3%) 5.0 3.3
– post July 1997 accrual 3.2 3.3

Contributory salary increases (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.2 5.3
Price inflation 3.2 3.3
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34 Retirement benefits continued

 Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions for the UK defined benefit schemes at 30 September are shown below:

2010 2009

Mortality table for males retiring in the future PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for females retiring in the future PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table current male pensioners PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for current female pensioners females retiring in  
the future PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)

2010 
Years

2009 
Years 

Impact of mortality assumptions

Expected age at death for a male currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 88.0 88.0
Expected age at death for a female currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 90.8 90.8
Expected age at death for a current male pensioner aged 60 86.9 86.8
Expected age at death for a current female pensioner aged 60 89.8 89.8

3)  Major assumptions used by the DEGI scheme actuaries

2010 
%

2009 
% 

Major assumptions used by DEGI scheme actuaries

Discount rate 4.35 6.60
Rate of compensation increase 2.00 2.00
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 4.35 6.60

The mortality tables used for the DEGI scheme were RT2005G.
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34 Retirement benefits continued

4)  Aggregate disclosure obligations

The following disclosure relates to the Group's three UK schemes plus the DEGI scheme in Germany:

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2006
£m

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  133.7  106.1  111.1  121.4  106.6 
On acquisition of subsidiary  –    –    9.4  –    –   
Current service cost  –    0.2 – – –
Past service cost  0.9 (0.6)  –    –    0.2 
Interest cost  7.3  7.2  7.1  6.1  5.1 
Amendments (0.2) (0.4)  –    –    –   
Actuarial loss (gain) recognised  13.2  25.3 (18.0) (14.0)  12.2 
Benefits paid from scheme (5.0) (5.8) (3.5) (2.4) (2.7)

Exchange movement (0.4)  1.7 – – –

Benefit obligation at end of year  149.5  133.7  106.1  111.1  121.4 

Change in scheme assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  101.4  94.2  96.4  89.1  76.5 
On acquisition of subsidiary – –  0.4  –    –   
Transfer  –   (0.1) – – –
Expected return on scheme assets  5.5  5.5  6.2  5.4  4.6 
Actuarial gain (loss) on scheme assets  8.8 (1.7) (14.4)  0.1  5.6 
Employer contributions  6.2  8.4  9.1  4.2  5.4 
Benefits paid from scheme (5.0) (5.8) (3.5) (2.4) (3.0)

Exchange movement (0.2)  0.9 – – –

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year  116.7  101.4  94.2  96.4  89.1 
Restriction on actuarial gain due to asset ceiling  –    –    –    3.6  –   

Deficit recognised at end of year (32.8) (32.3) (11.9) (18.3) (32.3)
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34 Retirement benefits continued

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2006
£m

Movement in deficit during the year

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (32.3) (11.9) (18.3) (32.3) (30.1)
On acquisition of subsidiary  –    –   (9.0)  –    –   
Movement in year:
Transfer and amendments  0.2  0.3 – – –
Employer contributions  6.2  8.4  9.1  4.2  5.4 
Pension expense recognised in  
income statement (2.7) (1.3) (0.9) (0.7) (0.7)
Amounts recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income (4.4) (27.0)  7.2 10.5 (6.9)
Exchange movement  0.2 (0.8) – – –

Deficit in scheme at end of year (32.8) (32.3) (11.9) (18.3) (32.3)

Surplus in scheme at end of year  –    –    5.5  –    –   
Deficits in schemes at end of year (32.8) (32.3) (17.4) (18.3) (32.3)

(32.8) (32.3) (11.9) (18.3) (32.3)

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the year include the amount shown above for the Group's 
main defined benefit schemes plus an actuarial loss of £0.6 million for other schemes.

The Group expects to pay approximately £5.9 million to the UK defined benefit schemes in the next financial year.

2010
£m

2009
£m

Expense recognised in the income statement

Interest cost  7.3  7.2 
Expected return on scheme assets (5.5) (5.5)
Current and past service cost  0.9 (0.4)

 2.7  1.3 

Actual return on scheme assets  14.3  3.8 

Amount recognised in statement of comprehensive income

Actuarial loss in the year (4.4) (27.1)
Recognised in statement of comprehensive income (4.4) (27.1)

Cumulative amount recognised (41.0) (36.6)
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34 Retirement benefits continued

5)  Five year summary

The following disclosures relate to all Group schemes.

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2006
£m

Defined benefit schemes - five year history

Benefit obligations at 30 September (154.8) (138.6) (106.1) (111.1) (121.4)
Fair value of plan assets at 30 September  119.8  105.2  94.2  92.8  89.1 

Total pension deficit (35.0) (33.4) (11.9) (18.3) (32.3)

Difference between expected and actual return  
on plan assets

 

Amount  8.6 (1.6) (14.4)  0.1  5.6 
Percentage of plan assets 7.2% -1.6% -15.3% 0.1% 6.3%

Experience gains and losses on benefit obligations

Amount (13.4) 1.8 6.5 (0.1) –
Percentage of benefit obligations -8.6% 1.3% 6.1% -0.1% –   

Total gains and losses

Amount (5.0) (25.4)  7.2  10.5 (6.9)
Percentage of benefit obligations -3.2% -18.3% 6.8% 9.5% -5.7%

 Relationship between Aberdeen Asset Management and the Trustees of the defined benefit schemes
The schemes assets are held in separate Trustee-administered funds to meet long-term pension liabilities to past 
employees. The Trustees of the funds are required to act in the best interests of the funds' beneficiaries.

6)  Company disclosures

Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 1 October  0.9  0.5 
Contributions paid (0.3) (0.4)
Expense recognised in the income statement –  0.1 
Actuarial losses recognised  0.3  0.7 

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 30 September  0.9  0.9 
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35 Related party transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiary undertakings carry out transactions with related 
parties, as defined by IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures'. Material transactions for the year are set out below.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 15. During the year, the Group entered into the 
following transactions with related parties:

a) Compensation of key management personnel of the group

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Short-term employee benefits 7.8  5.0 
Share based payments 10.2  7.1 
Pension contributions 0.5    0.5 
Termination benefits –  0.2 

Total 18.5  12.8 

Deferred elements of employee benefits outstanding at the year end:
Amounts owed to related parties (including amounts deferred from previous years) 25.8  21.2 

The remuneration policy is described in more detail in the Remuneration report on pages 43 to 52.

b) Transactions with subsidiaries

Details of transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company are  
shown below:

2010
£m

2009
£m 

Interest receivable  4.2    4.3 
Interest payable 0.7    0.2 
Management fees 59.8  43.9 
Dividends 189.2  95.6 
Transfer of goodwill and intangibles to subsidiaries 214.9 –
Amounts due from subsidiaries 202.6  181.2 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 72.8  57.8 

c)  Transactions and balances with related parties

 Post employment benefit plans
The Group operates and participates in several post employment benefit plans as detailed in note 34.

The Group contributed the following amounts to defined benefit and defined contribution plans and had amounts 
outstanding at 30 September each year as follows:

Employer 
contributions

Outstanding at
30 September

2010 
£m

2009 
£m

2010 
£m

2009 
£m

CGA Staff Pension Fund  0.3  0.3  –    –   
Murray Johnstone Retirement Benefits Plan  2.4  2.4  –    –   
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Plan  3.4  2.2  –    –   
DEGI Pension Plan  –    3.5  –    –   
Other defined benefit plans  0.4 (0.8)  –    –   
Defined contribution schemes 15.5  13.8 0.8  –   
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35 Related party transactions  continued

d) Transactions with parties with significant influence

Since the acquisition by the Group of certain businesses from Credit Suisse on 30 June 2009, Credit Suisse have held in 
excess of 20% of the ordinary shares of the Company and are entitled to Board representation. Consequently, 
transactions between the Group and Credit Suisse are considered to be related party transactions.

The following transactions have taken place between the two entities during the year:

2010
£m

2009
£m

Outstanding at 
30 Sep 2010

£m

Outstanding at 
30 Sep 2009

£'000 

Sub-advisory fee received on pooled funds 31.2 12.1
Administration and distribution fees paid to Credit Suisse (17.6) (2.4)

13.6 9.7 (0.9) 7.9

Costs in respect of transitional services and separation (7.9) – (7.9)

As explained in note 13, the Group paid final consideration of £4.4 million during the year to Credit Suisse in respect of 
the acquisition.

36 Financial risk management

 Overview
The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

Information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks is provided in this note which, describes the Group's 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital. 

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and ongoing management of the Group's risk 
management framework and the implementation and operation of the Board's policies are handled by the Group's risk 
management committee.

The Group's risk committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Group. The Group's audit committee is responsible for overseeing financial reports and internal control. Internal 
audit assist the Group audit committee in its oversight role by undertaking both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures and report the results of these reviews directly to the audit committee.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees are involved and understand their roles and obligations.

 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument is unable to pay 
in full amounts when due, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers. Debt levels are monitored 
locally by senior management and historically the level of default has not been significant and in the majority of cases 
there is an ongoing relationship with the client.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  CONTINUED



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010       121  

36 Financial risk management continued

 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or can only do so 
at a significantly increased cost. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The Group's facilities are described in Note 27.

 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Interest on the Group's borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying 
operations of the Group, primarily Sterling and U.S. dollars. This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are 
entered into.

The Group's investments in subsidiaries with U.S dollar functional currency are hedged by the Group's 7.2% 
Subordinated notes 2016, which mitigates the currency risk arising from the subsidiary's net assets. The Group's 
investments in other subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities. These securities are managed on a individual basis and 
all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Group Management Board.

 Unit-linked assets
The Group's balance sheet contains a significant level of assets relating to the Group's life and pensions subsidiary for 
which the risks and rewards fall to the benefit of or are borne by the underlying policyholders. Therefore the investment 
contract liabilities shown in the Group's balance sheet are equal and opposite in value to the assets held on behalf of 
the policyholders. As a result the Group has no direct exposure to fluctuations in the value of assets which are held on 
behalf of policyholders. The Group's exposure in relation to these assets lies in the revenue earned from the assets 
which varies in line with the movement in value of the assets. The Group has no exposure to fluctuations in the value of 
the assets arising from changes in market prices or credit default.

 Stock of units and shares
These represent units and shares of Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs) which are operated and managed by 
the Group. These are funds into which both institutional and retail investors can invest and the Group maintains a stock 
of units and shares in these funds in order to facilitate the creation and redemption of units by investors. The Group's 
Risk Management Committee has set specific limits for the overall value of units which can be held by the Group at any 
one time and also placed a limit on the value of units held in any single fund.

 Trade receivables and accrued income
Trade receivables and accrued income represent amounts recognised in revenue in the Group income statement which 
have not been settled by clients. The majority of the Group's asset management fees accrue based on daily, month-
end or quarter-end asset values except performance fees which typically are earned based on annual performance. 
Fees are billed to clients as soon as values are available and settlement is due within agreed contractual terms. As a 
result, the average level for debtors and accrued income outstanding, at any point in time, will represent approximately 
4 months revenue. 

The Group, in some situations, may be exposed to a concentration of credit risk, particularly from some of its larger 
clients or groups of connected clients. This may arise during the period from recognition of management fees in the 
income statement and settlement of fees by clients. Very few clients have external credit ratings.

 Unit trust debtors
The Group operates and manages a number of OEICs and in doing so it seeks as far as possible to match the purchase 
and sale of investments in order to match the receipt or payment of funds from or to clients. Where these positions are 
not matched the Group may be required to fund any shortfall although due to the short settlement period for these 
transactions the risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered to be small. In addition should any investor default 
on any payment due the Group would be entitled to recover any costs from the investor.
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36 Financial risk management continued

 Cash and cash equivalents
The Group adopts a low risk strategy in respect of its treasury management, at all times ensuring, as far as possible, that 
its capital is preserved and financial risks are managed in line with the Group's risk management policy which is 
designed to manage the risks associated with the Group's cash and cash equivalent assets.

The treasury function for the Group is managed on a daily basis by the Group finance department who manage the 
Group's cash resources within guidelines set by the Board who receive regular reports on both the treasury and 
regulatory positions for the Group.

The main parameters within which the treasury function operates include: 

• Cash placed on deposit
• Deposits are only placed with counterparties.

Foreign currency risk is managed in order to minimise, where possible, the risk of movement in exchange rates. This 
involves the repatriation of cash held by overseas subsidiaries to Sterling and this is achieved by way of dividends from 
subsidiaries as well as the settlement of intercompany transfer pricing arrangements.

Cash placed on deposit may be subject to changes in interest rates and the Group manages its deposits to maximise 
the returns but at the same time ensuring that the Group's working capital requirements can be met. 

 Defined benefit pension deficit
The Group operates three legacy defined benefit pension schemes in the UK as detailed in note 34. The overall deficit in 
these schemes represent the discounted value of future pension obligations in excess of the value of the assets held by 
the schemes.

The Group is exposed to movements in the market values of the schemes assets as well as exposure to changes in 
interest rates which impact on certain scheme assets. The pension obligations are quantified using corporate bond rates 
and therefore any movement in these rates can have a significant impact on the pension liabilities and therefore on the 
level of overall Group pension deficit.

 Management of capital
The Board's policy with respect to capital is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to provide a sufficient base to sustain the future development of the business while at the same 
time ensuring compliance with regulatory capital requirements. The Board seeks to maintain higher returns than might 
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital.  

The Company's Ordinary Shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and the Board monitors the composition of 
the shareholder base. 

Details of substantial interests in the share capital of the Company are provided in the director's report on page 41. 
Movements in share capital during the year which include new shares issued to finance acquisitions as well as shares 
issued to satisfy share-based payment obligations are provided in note 23. The Board gives careful consideration to the 
appropriate funding structure for each acquisition which in the past have been structured to include both debt and 
equity funding.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market 
prices. Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Group's share-based payment schemes. 
Buy and sell decisions are made on a specific transaction basis by the Group Management Board.

 Working capital
The Group monitors the level of its working capital closely to ensure that it has sufficient cash available to meet its 
liabilities as they become due. In addition, the Group's treasury function monitors cash balances on a daily basis.

 Regulatory capital requirements
In accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) the Group is required to maintain a minimum level of 
capital as prescribed in the UK by the Financial Services Authority (FSA).
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36 Financial risk management continued

The Group currently holds a waiver obtained from the FSA from the requirement to meet the minimum capital 
requirement under the consolidated supervision rules of the CRD. The waiver has been in place since 3 August 2009 and 
is currently effective until 3 August 2014.

At 30 September 2010 there were 30 regulated companies in the Group, 7 of which are registered in the United 
Kingdom and are regulated by the FSA. With the exception of Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited 
which is a regulated insurance firm, all others are regulated investment firms. Only the regulated investment firms are 
part of the Group consolidation for regulatory capital reporting purposes. The Group has 23 overseas regulated 
companies all of which are subject to regulatory capital requirements which are determined by their local regulator.

The measurement of Capital Resources and Capital Resource Requirements (CRR),  which are referred to as the Pilar 
1 capital requirements under CRD, are set out in regulatory rules. The CRR for UK regulated investment firms is the 
higher of:

• the sum of the credit risk capital requirement and the market risk capital requirement; and
• the fixed overhead requirement

The credit risk relates to the risk of a third party becoming unable to meets its obligations to a firm. The risk is 
calculated by using risk weighted percentages which are applied to the various exposure amounts. Market risk represents 
the risk of a loss being incurred from fluctuations in exchange rates, calculated as a percentage of the total of the long 
or short positions, denominated in foreign currencies, whichever is the greater. The fixed overhead requirement is 
calculated as a quarter of a firm's relevant fixed annual expenditure in the year's audited financial statements.

The regulated companies are required to submit financial returns to the FSA, or the local regulatory authority for 
overseas companies, setting out the calculation of the regulatory capital surplus (or deficit). The Group's regulated 
companies are required to submit returns quarterly or semi-annually and the Group must submit a consolidated return 
semi-annually.

The Group is required, as part of the CRD, to conduct an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), referred 
to as Pillar 2 capital requirements. The objective of this process is to ensure that firms have adequate capital to enable 
them to manage their risks not deemed to be adequately covered under the Pillar 1 minimum requirements. This is a 
forward looking exercise which includes stress testing on major risks, considering how the firm would cope with a 
significant market downturn for example, and an assessment of the Group's ability to mitigate the risks.

All the regulated companies in the Group maintained surpluses of regulatory capital throughout the year.

Pillar 3 market disclosures are available on the Group's website, www.aberdeen-asset.com. 
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments

This note presents a numerical analysis of the Group's exposure to financial risk, as described in note 36.

The Group's direct and indirect exposure to financial risks arising from financial instruments and the Group's objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of the Group's capital resources are 
described in note 36.

Disclosures relating to policyholder unit linked assets and liabilities in respect of the Group's life and pensions subsidiary 
have been excluded from this analysis as the risks and rewards from these assets and liabilities rest with the 
policyholders.

 Credit risk
i)  Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure of each class of financial assets is the carrying value of these assets which are shown below: 

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  0.3  0.5  –    –   
Other investments 13.0  12.3  –    –   
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary 27.6  21.7  –    –   

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  58.6  59.9  22.8  23.9 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –    4.8  –    –   

Loans and receivables

Unit trust trustees for units liquidated  83.0  23.8  –    –   
Debtors for units sales  12.3  9.3  –    –   
Trade receivables  55.1  31.5 1.2  1.1 
Accrued income 99.4  85.2  –    –   
Other receivables 23.1 27.1  5.5  6.2 
Cash and cash equivalents 150.8  81.4  0.1  0.1 

523.2 357.5  29.6  31.3 
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

An analysis of the financial assets showing the credit rating of the counterparties is set out below:

 Group

As at 30 September 2010
AAA

£m
AA
£m

A
£m

Not
rated

£m
Total

£m

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  –    –    –    0.3  0.3 

Other investments  –    –    –   13.0 13.0

Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  –    –    –   27.6 27.6

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    58.6  58.6 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –    –    –    –    –   

Loans and receivables

Unit trust trustees for units liquidated  –    –    –    83.0  83.0 

Debtors for units sales  –    –    –    12.3  12.3 

Trade receivables  –    –    –    55.1  55.1 

Accrued income  –    –    –   99.4 99.4

Other receivables  –    –    –   23.1 23.1

Cash and cash equivalents  –   25.1 111.9 13.8 150.8

 –   25.1 111.9 386.2 523.2

As at 30 September 2009
AAA
£m

AA
£m

A
£m

Not
rated

£m
Total

£m

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  –    –    –    0.5  0.5 
Other investments  –    –    –    12.3  12.3 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  –    –    –    21.7  21.7 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    59.9  59.9 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –    –    –    4.8  4.8 

Loans and receivables

Unit trust trustees for units liquidated  –    –    –    23.8  23.8 
Debtors for units sales  –    –    –    9.3  9.3 
Trade receivables  –    –    –    31.5  31.5 
Accrued income  –    –    –    85.2  85.2 
Other receivables  –    –    –    27.1 27.1
Cash and cash equivalents  –    14.8  62.0  4.6  81.4 

 –    14.8  62.0 280.7 357.5
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 Company

As at 30 September 2010
AAA

£m
AA
£m

A
£m

Not
rated

£m
Total

£m

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    22.8  22.8 

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables  –    –    –   1.2  1.2 

Other receivables  –    –    –    5.5  5.5 

Cash and cash equivalents  –    –    –    0.1  0.1 

 –    –    –    29.6  29.6 

As at 30 September 2009
AAA
£m

AA
£m

A
£m

Not
rated

£m
Total

£m

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  –    –    –    23.9  23.9 

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables  –    –    –    1.1  1.1 
Other receivables  –    –    –    6.2  6.2 
Cash and cash equivalents  –    0.1  –    –    0.1 

 –    0.1  –    31.2  31.3 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  CONTINUED



Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010       127  

37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

ii)  Analysis of ageing of financial assets
 Group

Past due

As at 30 September 2010

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

Less than 
 30 days

£m

Between  
30 and  

90 days
£m

Between  
90 days 

 and 1 year
£m

Beyond  
1 year

£m
Total

£m

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  0.3  –    –    –    –    0.3 

Other investments 13.0  –    –    –    –   13.0

Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary 27.6  –    –    –    –   27.6

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  58.6  –    –    –    –    58.6 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Loans and receivables

Unit trust trustees for units liquidated  83.0  –    –    –    –    83.0 

Debtors for units sales  12.3  –    –    –    –    12.3 

Trade receivables 43.0 4.3 4.0  3.8 – 55.1

Other receivables 23.1  –    –    –    –   23.1

Accrued income 99.4  –    –    –    –   99.4

Cash and cash equivalents 150.8  –    –    –    –   150.8

511.1 4.3 4.0  3.8 – 523.2

Past due

As at 30 September 2009

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

Less than 
 30 days

£m

Between  
30 and  

90 days
£m

Between  
90 days 

 and 1 year
£m

Beyond  
1 year

£m
Total

£m

Designated as held for trading

Stock of units and shares in managed funds  0.5  –    –    –    –    0.5 
Other investments  12.3  –    –    –    –    12.3 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary  21.7  –    –    –    –    21.7 

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  59.9  –    –    –    –    59.9 

Assets classified as held for sale

Seed capital investments  4.8  –    –    –    –    4.8 

Loans and receivables

Unit trust trustees for units liquidated  23.8  –    –    –    –    23.8 
Debtors for units sales  9.3  –    –    –    –    9.3 
Trade receivables  24.7  2.7  2.7  0.6  0.8  31.5 
Other receivables 27.1  –    –    –    –   27.1 
Accrued income  85.2  –    –    –    –    85.2 
Cash and cash equivalents  81.4  –    –    –    –    81.4 

350.7  2.7  2.7  0.6  0.8  357.5 



128       Aberdeen Asset Management PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2010

37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Company

Past due

As at 30 September 2010

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

Less than 
 30 days

£m

Between 
 30 and  
90 days

£m

Between 
 90 days 

and 1 year
£m

Beyond  
1 year

£m
Total

£m

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  22.8  –    –    –    –    22.8 

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables 1.0  0.1  –    0.1  –   1.2

Other receivables 5.5  –    –    –    –    5.5 

Cash and cash equivalents  0.1  –    –    –    –    0.1 

 29.4  0.1  –    0.1  –    29.6 

Past due

As at 30 September 2009

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

Less than 
 30 days

£m

Between 
 30 and  
90 days

£m

Between 
 90 days 

and 1 year
£m

Beyond  
1 year

£m
Total

£m

Available for sale financial assets

Other investments  23.9  –    –    –    –    23.9 

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables  1.0  –    0.1  –    –    1.1 
Other receivables  6.2  –    –    –    –    6.2 
Cash and cash equivalents  0.1  –    –    –    –    0.1 

 31.2  –    0.1  –    –    31.3 

iii) Impairment losses
Details of impairment of financial assets at 30 September are as follows:

Group

2010
£m

2009
£m

Trade receivables provision:

Balance at 1 October  0.1  0.1 
Bad debt charge in the year 0.4 –
Utilised in the year – –

Balance at 30 September  0.5  0.1 
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

iv) Concentration risk
At 30 September 2010 the Group had nine (2009: three) individual clients with greater than £1 million outstanding. The 
total outstanding was £21.3 million (2009:£5.9 million). Eight of these clients are funds and one client is an institutional 
mandate.

 Liquidity risk - Group
At 30 September 2010 the Group has a committed £75 million revolving credit facility in place with Lloyds Banking 
Group and Barclays Capital. Details of the undrawn element of these facilities are disclosed in note 27.

The expected cashflows related to the Group's financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 September 2010

Within  
1 year or 

repayable 
 on demand

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

3.5% convertible bonds 2014  –    –    104.2  –    104.2 

7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    113.6  113.6 

Trade and other payables
– Due to trustees for open end fund creations 16.5  –    –    –   16.5

– Due to investors for open end fund creations 75.3  –    –    –   75.3

– Trade creditors 11.2  –    –    –    11.2 

– Other creditors 30.4  –    –    –   30.4

– Accruals 137.3  –    –    –   137.3

270.7  –    104.2  113.6 488.5

As at 30 September 2009

Within  
1 year or 
repayable 

 on demand
£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Bank revolving credit facilities  29.4  158.9  –    –    188.3 
7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    116.2  116.2 
Trade and other payables  

– Due to trustees for open end fund creations 8.5  –    –    –   8.5
– Due to investors for open end fund creations 20.7  –    –    –   20.7
– Trade creditors  14.8  –    –    –    14.8 
– Other creditors  20.0  –    –    –    20.0 
– Accruals  109.1  –    –    –    109.1 

202.5  158.9  –    116.2 477.6
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Liquidity risk - Company
The expected cashflows related to the Company's financial liabilities are as follows:

As at 30 September 2010

Within  
1 year or 

repayable 
 on demand

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Bank overdraft  117.6  –    –    –    117.6 

3.5% convertible bonds 2014  –    –    104.2  –    104.2 

7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    113.6  113.6 

Trade and other payables
– Trade creditors  6.2  –    –    –    6.2 

– Other creditors 5.1  –    –    –   5.1

– Accruals 25.6  –    –    –   25.6

154.5  –    104.2  113.6 372.3

As at 30 September 2009

Within  
1 year or 
repayable 

 on demand
£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Bank revolving credit facility  29.4  158.9  –    –    188.3 
Bank overdraft  91.1  –    –    –    91.1 
7.2% subordinated notes 2016  –    –    –    116.2  116.2 
Trade and other payables

– Trade creditors  4.7  –    –    –    4.7 
– Other creditors  0.8  –    –    –    0.8 
– Accruals  11.6  –    –    –    11.6 

 137.6  158.9  –    116.2  412.7 

 Market risk
i) Market price risk
The following financial assets are exposed to market risk:

Group Company

2010
£m

2009
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial investments 13.0  12.3  –    –   
Stock of units and shares  0.3  0.5  –    –   

Available for sale financial assets

Financial investments  58.6  59.9  22.8  23.9 
Management contracts held for sale  –    23.0  –    23.0 

 71.9  95.7  22.8  46.9 

The Group's defined benefit pension schemes hold assets which are exposed to market price risk. Details of these assets 
are shown in note 34.
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

ii)  Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk in respect of the following assets and liabilities:

i)  financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies; and 
ii)  the foreign currency risk of net assets of foreign operations.

Details of the Group's exposure to currency are provided in note 29.

iii)  Interest-rate risk
The carrying value and maturity profile of the Group and Company's financial instruments that are exposed to interest 
rate risk are shown in the following tables:

 Group

As at 30 September 2010

Within
1 year

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents 150.8  –    –    –   

As at 30 September 2009

Within
1 year

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  81.4  –    –    –   
Bank revolving credit facilities (28.3) (150.0)  –    –   

 53.1 (150.0)  –    –   

 Company

As at 30 September 2010

Within
1 year

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  0.1  –    –    –   

Bank overdraft (117.6)  –    –    –   

(117.5)  –    –    –   

As at 30 September 2009

Within
1 year

£m

Within
1–2 years

£m

Within
2–5 years

£m

More than
5 years

£m

Floating rates 

Cash and cash equivalents  0.1  –    –    –   
Bank overdraft (91.1)  –    –    –   
Bank revolving credit facilities (28.3) (150.0)  –    –   

(119.3) (150.0)  –    –   
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

iv) Sensitivity analysis
The following analysis provides an indication of the impact of changes in the significant market risk variables on the fair 
value and cash flows of the Group's financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis covers the financial instruments at each of the balance sheet dates and assumes changes in 
market variables. It should however be noted that due to the inherent uncertainty in world financial markets the 
assumptions made may differ significantly from the actual outcome particularly as market risks tend to be 
interdependent and are therefore unlikely to move in isolation.

The following assumptions have been made in respect of the market risks:

• Sterling exchange rates are assumed to increase or decrease by 10% 
• Market interest rates are assumed to increase or decrease by 1% 
• Fair values of investments are assumed to increase or decrease by 10% at each reporting date

The impact of the assumptions on the risk variables, net of tax, are as follows:

 Group

As at 30 September 2010

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Currency
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.4 (0.4) 3.9 (3.9)

Sterling/Euro – – 2.8 (2.8)

Sterling/Nordic currencies – – 4.9 (4.9)

Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.9 (0.9) 0.9 (0.9)

Financial investments available for sale – – 3.3 (3.3)

Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%

Sterling market interest rates 0.3 (0.3) 0.3 (0.3)

As at 30 September 2009

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Currency
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.4 (0.4) 6.1 (6.1)
Sterling/Euro 0.1 (0.1) 0.7 (0.7)
Sterling/Nordic currencies – – (5.2) 5.2
Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 1.2 (1.2) 1.2 (1.2)
Financial investments available for sale – – 3.4 (3.4)
Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates 0.8 (0.8) 0.8 (0.8)
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37 Analysis of risks arising from financial instruments continued

 Company

As at 30 September 2010

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Currency
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.4 (0.4) 6.7 (6.7)

Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.9 (0.9) 0.9 (0.9)

Financial investments available for sale – – 0.4 0.4

Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%

Sterling market interest rates (1.4) 1.4 (1.4) 1.4

As at 30 September 2009

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on 
profit or loss 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Impact on
equity 

£m

Exchange rate movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Currency
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.4 (0.4) 7.7 (7.7)
Sterling/Euro 0.1 (0.1) 2.7 (2.7)
Fair value movement +10% -10% +10% -10%
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.8 (0.8) 0.8 (0.8)
Financial investments available for sale – – 0.8 (0.8)
Interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates (1.7)  1.7 (1.7)  1.7 

v) Fair value measurements recognised in the balance sheet
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at 
fair value, grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which fair value is observable:

-  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities; 

-  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices); and

-  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

2010
Total

£m

Designated as held for trading          
Stock of units and shares in managed funds 0.3     – –    0.3  
Other investments 0.8 8.3 3.9 13.0
Liquid investments in life and pensions subsidiary 27.6 – – 27.6
Available for sale financial assets             
Other investments 11.9 – 46.7 58.6

40.6 8.3 50.6 99.5
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 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

Available for 
sale financial 

assets
£m

Designated 
as held for 

trading
£m

Total
£m

Balance at 1 October 2009 49.7 3.7 53.4
Total gains or losses:     
 - In income statement (0.9) 0.2 (0.7)
 - In other comprehensive income (0.8) – (0.8)
Purchases 3.0 – 3.0
Settlements (4.3) – (4.3)

            
Balance at 30 September 2010 46.7 3.9 50.6

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 investments.
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Responsibility statement

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole; and

• the directors' report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that they face.

For and on behalf of the Board

Scott E Massie
Secretary

29 November 2010
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Five year summary

2010 
£m

2009
£m

2008 
£m

2007 
£m

2006 
£m

Revenue 638.2 421.9 430.1 347.9 302.1

Operating expenses
 – Operating costs (416.3) (326.2) (330.8) (251.3) (227.9)
 – Exceptional integration costs (18.2) (44.5) (25.0) (20.3) (33.3)
 – Exceptional settlement costs –  -    -   (46.8) (0.2)
 – Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (66.2) (30.1) (13.8) (9.4) (9.8)
Total operating expenses (500.7) (400.8) (369.6) (327.8) (271.2)

Other operating income – –  4.8  12.1  26.3 
Operating profit before amortisation, impairment  
and exceptional items  221.9  95.7  100.0  100.0  82.1 
Amortisation, impairment and exceptional  
operating items (66.2) (30.1) (13.8) (9.4) (9.8)
Exceptional gains and charges (18.2) (44.5) (20.9) (58.4) (15.1)
Operating profit  137.5  21.1  65.3  32.2  57.2 
Net finance costs (11.9) (10.6) (4.9) (8.5) (3.3)

Profit before taxation  125.6  10.5  60.4  23.7  53.9 
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (18.3) (3.8) (13.6)  7.0 (10.0)

Profit for the year  107.3  6.7  46.8  30.7  43.9 

Earnings (loss) per share – basic 

Before amortisation, impairment & exceptional items 14.09p 6.52p 9.45p 12.29p 9.52p 
After amortisation, impairment & exceptional items 8.32p (1.71p) 4.57p 3.61p 6.41p 

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted

Before amortisation, impairment & exceptional items 13.28p 6.31p 9.01p 11.09p 8.95p 

After amortisation, impairment & exceptional items 8.04p (1.71p) 4.52p 3.50p 6.27p 

Dividend per share 7.0p 6.0p 5.8p 5.5p 4.4p

Assets under management at year end £178.7bn £146.2bn £111.1bn £95.3bn £73.2bn
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Notice of meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-eighth Annual General Meeting of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC will be held at  
The Marcliffe Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen, AB15 9YA at 12.00 noon on 20 January 2011 for the following purposes:

For ease of reference, explanatory notes are attached to each resolution. The formal resolutions are shown in bold text. 
Resolutions 1 to 16 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 17 to 20 will be proposed as special resolutions.

To consider the following resolutions 1 to 16 which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1 To receive the directors’ report and accounts for the year ended 30 September 2010 together with the 
auditors' report thereon.

 The directors are required to present to the meeting the audited accounts and the directors and auditor’s reports for the 
financial year.

2 To declare a final dividend of 3.8p per ordinary share of 10p each in the capital of the Company (ordinary 
share).

 The Board recommends that a final dividend of 3.8p per ordinary share is paid. If approved by the shareholders, this 
dividend will be paid on 27 January 2011 to ordinary shareholders on the register of members at 5.00 pm on  
10 December 2010.

3 To reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors and to authorise the Directors to agree their remuneration.

 The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for reappointment at each Annual General Meeting at which accounts are 
presented. On the advice of the audit committee, the Board proposes that KPMG Audit Plc be reappointed as auditors of 
the Company.

4 To re-elect as a director Mr R C Cornick.

5 To re-elect as a director Ms A M Frew.

6 To re-elect as a director Mr G W Fusenig.

7 To re-elect as a director Mr M J Gilbert.

8 To re-elect as a director Mr A A Laing.

9 To re-elect as a director Mr K Miyanaga.

10 To re-elect as a director Mr W J Rattray.

11 To re-elect as a director Sir Malcolm Rifkind.

12 To re-elect as a director Mr S R V Troughton.

13 To re-elect as a director Mr C G H Weaver.

14 To elect as a director Mr J N Pettigrew who was appointed during the year.

 The new UK Corporate Governance Code ("New Code") applies to the Company's accounting period to 30 September 
2011. Whilst the Company is not required to comply with the New Code for the accounting period to 30 September 2010, 
all the Directors are offering themselves for re-election in accordance with the New Code at the Annual General Meeting. 
Mr Pettigrew offers himself for election for the first time following his appointment to the Board and Mr Waters does not 
wish to seek re-election. Biographies of each of these directors are contained on pages 36 to 38.

 The chairman confirms that following the completion of the annual performance evaluation and appraisal exercise, the 
performance of these Directors seeking re-election continues to be effective and that these directors demonstrate 
commitment to their roles. Their re-election is therefore recommended.

15 To approve the remuneration report.

 The Directors are required to prepare an annual report detailing the remuneration of the directors and the Company’s 
remuneration policy and to seek shareholder approval to its contents. The remuneration report is contained on pages  
43 to 52.
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16 That (in substitution for any existing authority under section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 but without 
prejudice to the exercise of any such authority prior to the date of this resolution) the directors be generally 
and unconditionally authorised pursuant to Article 11.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association to allot 
shares and to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares, and the section 551 amount 
for the purposes of that Article shall be £38,142,802, such authority to expire at the conclusion of the 
Company’s next Annual General Meeting to be held in 2012 (the “prescribed period”).

 This resolution deals with the directors' authority to allot relevant securities in accordance with section 551 of the 
Companies Act 2006 as prescribed in the Company’s Articles of Association. This resolution seeks to renew the authority 
conferred on the directors at the last Annual General Meeting to allot shares in the capital of the Company up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £38,142,802 (which represents approximately one-third of the present issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company) and is the section 551 amount for the purposes of the Articles of Association. These limits 
are in line with the guidelines issued by the Association of British Insurers.

 The authority granted by this resolution will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.

 The directors have no present intention of allotting any of the unissued share capital of the Company other than in 
connection with employee share schemes.

To consider the following resolutions 17 to 20 which will be proposed as special resolutions:

17 That the directors be empowered to allot equity securities pursuant to Article 11.3 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, and the section 561 amount for the purposes of that Article shall be £5,721,420 such power to 
expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting to be held in 2012 (the “prescribed 
period”).

 This resolution empowers the directors to issue equity securities of the Company for cash pursuant to the authorisation 
conferred by Resolution 16 without regard to statutory pre-emption provisions in limited circumstances. This resolution 
limits the section 561 authority to issues of ordinary shares and/or sales of treasury shares representing an aggregate 
nominal value of £5,721,420, which in turn represents 5% of the issued ordinary share capital at 29 November 2010. This 
is in line with the guidance issued by the Association of British Insurers and the Pre Emption Group Guidelines. This 
authority will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.

 The directors have no present intention to exercise this authority.

18 That, as permitted by section 307A of the Companies Act 2006 any general meeting of the Company (other 
than an Annual General Meeting of the Company) shall be called by notice of not less than 14 clear days in 
accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company provided that the authority of this 
Resolution shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting to be held in 2012.

 The Company is currently able to call general meetings (other than Annual General Meetings) on 14 clear days’ notice and 
would like to preserve this ability. In order to be able to do so, shareholders must have approved the calling of meetings 
on 14 clear days’ notice. Resolution 18 seeks such approval. The approval will be effective until the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting in 2012, when it is intended that a similar resolution will be proposed. The Company will also need to 
meet the requirements for electronic voting under the Directive before it may call a general meeting on 14 clear days’ 
notice. Details of how to lodge your proxy vote electronically can be found on the front of the Form of Proxy.

19 That the Company is, pursuant to section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 (“Act”), hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of 
ordinary shares provided that: 

(1) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 114,428,408 representing 10% of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company;

(2) the minimum price which may be paid for ordinary shares is 10 pence per ordinary share;

(3) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an ordinary share shall be the higher of (i) 5% 
above the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary share on the London Stock Exchange Daily 
Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which any such purchase is made and (ii) 
the higher of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange;
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(4) the Company may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the 
expiry of such authority which contract to purchase will be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such 
authority, and may make the purchase of the ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract and; 

(5) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
to be held in 2012.

 This resolution renews the authority granted at last year’s Annual General Meeting and gives the Company authority to 
buy back its own ordinary shares as permitted by the Act. The authority limits the number of ordinary shares that may be 
purchased to a maximum of 114,428,408, representing 10% of the issued share capital at 29 November 2010, and sets 
the minimum and maximum prices that can be paid. This authority will only be exercised if the directors believed that to 
do so would result in an increase in earnings per share and would be in the interests of the shareholders generally. At 
present, the directors have no current intention of utilising this authority. If this authority was exercised, the ordinary 
shares repurchased would be cancelled or held in treasury. There are 4,071 convertible preference share units (each of 
which consists of a preference share issued in the Company and a warrant issued in Aberdeen Warrants (Jersey) Limited) 
which, if exercised, would result in a total of 4,425,000 ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue. There are also 20,143,400 
ordinary shares under option and 900 convertible bonds 2014 in issue which, if exercised in full, would be convertible into 
48,648,649 ordinary shares in the Company. There would therefore be a further 73,217,049 ordinary shares in the 
Company, if all rights to subscribe were exercised representing 6.4% of the current issued share capital but before the 
buyback authority is utilised and represent 7.1% of the issued share capital if the full authority sought at the Annual 
General Meeting is utilised.

20 That, in accordance with sections 366 to 367 of the Companies 2006 (“Act”) the Company and all companies 
that are subsidiaries of the Company at any time during the period commencing on the date of this resolution 
and ending at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2012 be and are hereby 
authorised:

(1) to make political donations to political parties, and/or independent election candidates;

(2) to make political donations to political organisations other than political parties; and

(3) to incur political expenditure;

 up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 and the amount authorised under each of paragraphs (1) to (3) shall also 
be limited to such amount. Words and expressions defined for the purposes of the Act shall have the same 
meaning in this resolution.

 All existing authorisations and approvals relating to political donations or expenditure under sections 366 to 367 
of the Act are hereby revoked without prejudice to any donation made or expenditure incurred prior to the date 
hereof pursuant to such authorisation approval. 

	 It	is	the	Company’s	policy	not	to	make	any	donations	to	political	parties	nor	incur	political	expenditure	and	the	board	
does	not	intend	to	change	that	policy.

 The Act required companies to obtain shareholders’ authority for donations to registered parties and other political 
organisations totalling more than £5,000 in any twelve month period and for any political expenditure, subject to limited 
exceptions. The definition of donations in this context is very wide and extends to bodies such as those concerned with 
policy review and law reform, with the representation of the business community or sections of it. It can include special 
interest groups, such as those involved with the environment and campaigning charities.

By order of the Board

Scott E Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen  AB10 1YG

29 November 2010
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Notes:
1 Information about this meeting is available from the Company’s investor relations webpage:  

www.aberdeen-asset.com/investorrelations

2 As a member you are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, vote and speak 
at the Annual General Meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend in person to represent 
you. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different 
shares. You may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise the rights attached to any one share. A Form of Proxy is 
enclosed.

3 A Form of Proxy and any power of attorney or other authority, if any, in order to be valid, must be sent to Equiniti, Aspect 
House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6ZR so as to arrive no later than 12.00 noon on 18 January 2011. 

 The return of a completed Form of Proxy will not prevent you attending the meeting and voting in person if you wish 
to do so.

4 Copies of all contracts of service and letters of appointment of directors of the Company are available for inspection 
during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office on any weekday except Saturdays and public holidays, 
and at the place of the meeting for a period of fifteen minutes prior to the Annual General Meeting and during the 
meeting.

5 Only those members entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 6.00pm on 18 January 2011 or, if the 
meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the Company’s Register not later than 6.00pm on the day two days prior to 
the adjourned meeting shall be entitled to attend, vote and speak at the meeting.

6 As a member, you have the right to ask questions at the meeting relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting.

7 Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the 
Act”) to enjoy information rights (a “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between them and the member by 
whom they were nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the 
meeting.  If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, they may, under any 
such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the member as to the exercise of voting rights.

8 The statement of the rights of members in relation to the appointment of proxies in notes 2 and 3 above does not apply 
to Nominated Persons. The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by members of the Company. 

9 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do 
so for the Annual General Meeting to be held on 20 January 2011 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the 
procedures described in the CREST manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those 
CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service 
provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a ‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s 
(Euroclear) specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST 
Manual www.euroclear.com/CREST. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an 
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be 
received by the issuer's agent (ID RA19) by 12.00 noon on 18 January 2011. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 
taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from 
which the issuer's agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this 
time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through 
other means.  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that 
Euroclear does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and 
limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST 
member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed 
a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be 
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this 
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in 
particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the 
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

NOTICE OF MEETING  CONTINUED
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10 You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents to 
communicate with the Company for any purpose other than as expressly stated. 

11 As at 29 November 2010, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 1,144,284,075 of 10p each. Each ordinary share 
carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company and therefore the total number of voting rights in the 
Company as at 29 November 2010 is 1,144,284,075.

12 It is possible that, pursuant to requests made by members of the Company under section 527 of the Act, the Company 
may be required to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit of the Company’s 
accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the meeting: or (ii) any 
circumstances connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which 
annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section 437 of the Act. The Company may not require the 
members requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the Act. 
Where the Company is required to place a statement on a website under section 527 of the Act, it must forward the 
statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on the website. The 
business which may be dealt with at the meeting includes any statement that the Company has been required under 
section 527 of the Act to publish on a website.
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United Kingdom and Channel Islands 
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
10 Queen’s Terrace, Aberdeen AB10 1YG
Tel: +44 (0) 1224 631999 
Fax: +44 (0) 1224 647010

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
40 Princes Street, Edinburgh EH2 2BY
Tel: +44 (0) 131 528 4000 
Fax: +44 (0) 131 528 4400

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
123 St Vincent Street, Glasgow G2 5EA
Tel: +44 (0) 141 306 7600
Fax: +44 (0) 141 306 7706

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
Bow Bells House, 1 Bread Street, London EC4M 9HH
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7463 6000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7463 6001

Aberdeen Private Wealth Management Limited
No.1 Seaton Place, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8YJ
Tel: +44 (0) 1534 758 847 
Fax: +44 (0) 1534 705 052

Asia Pacific 
Aberdeen Asset Management Company Limited
Bangkok City Tower, 28th Floor, 179 South Sathorn Road,
Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120, Thailand
Tel: +66 2 352 3333 
Fax: +66 2 352 3339

Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited
Rooms 2605-06, 26/F Alexandra House,
18 Chater Road,Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2103 4700 
Fax: +852 2103 4788

Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd
Suite 25.3 Level 25, Menara IMC, Letter Box No. 66,
No. 8 Jalan Sultan Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel: +60 3 2053 3800 
Fax: +60 3 2031 1868

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited
21 Church Street, #01-01 Capital Square Two, 
Singapore 049480
Tel: +65 6395 2700 
Fax: +65 6535 7159

Aberdeen Asset Management Limited
Level 6, 201 Kent Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia
Tel: +61 2 9950 2888 
Fax: +61 2 9950 2800

Aberdeen International Securities  
Investment Consulting Company Limited
Exchange Square No 2, 3/F-1, No 97, 
Songren Road, Taipei City, Taiwan, R.O.C
Tel: +886 2 8722 4500 
Fax: +886 2 8722 4501

Aberdeen Investment Management K.K.
Toranomon Seiwa Building 11F, 1-2-3 Toranomon,
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0001, Japan
Tel: +81 3 4578 2211 
Fax: +81 3 4578 2299

Principal offices
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Continental Europe 
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
WTC, A-Tower, 3rd Floor, Strawinskylaan 303
PO Box 79074, 1070 NC Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Tel: +31 20 6870 500
Fax: +31 20 6844 291

Aberdeen Asset Management Hungary Alapkezelõ Zrt.
6th Floor, B torony, Váci út 1-3, 1062 Budapest, Hungary
Tel: +36 1 413 2950
Fax: +36 1 413 2980

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited 
Bettinastraße 53-55, D-60325 Frankfurt, Germany
Tel: +49 69 768 0720 
Fax: +49 69 768 072 256

Aberdeen Global Services SA
2b, rue Albert Borschette, L- 1246 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 2 643 3000
Fax: +352 2 643 3097

Aberdeen Property Investors France SAS
105, rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré, 75008 Paris, France
Tel: +33 1 5353 9394
Fax: +33 1 5353 9395

Aberdeen Asset Management AB
Sveavägen 20, Box 3348, 103 67 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel: +46 8 412 8000  
Fax: +46 8 20 1671

Aberdeen Asset Managers Switzerland AG
Schweizergasse 14, 8001 Zürich
Tel: +41 44 208 2626
Fax: +41 44 208 2680

Aberdeen Asset Management Denmark A/S
Gl. Kongevej 60, 7. DK-1850 Frederiksberg C
Denmark
Tel: +46 33 44 40 00
Fax: +46 33 44 40 01

Aberdeen Property Investors Finland Oy
Mikonkatu 9, FIN-00100 Helsinki
Tel: +358 103 040 100
Fax: +358 103 040 900

Aberdeen Asset Management Norway AS
Henrik Ibsens gt. 100
0255 Oslo, Norway
Tel: +47 22 01 27 00
Fax: +47 22 01 27 01

Americas
Aberdeen Asset Management Inc.
1735 Market Street, 32nd Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tel: +(1) 215 405 5700
Fax: +(1) 215 405 5780

Aberdeen do Brasil Consultoria Ltda.
Av. Brigadeiro Faria Lima, 3729 - 5º andar - Itaim Bibi
São Paulo, Brasil, SP 04538-905
Tel: +55 11 3443 6249 
Fax: +55 11 3443 6201

Aberdeen Asset Management Inc. 
161 Bay Street, 27th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5J 2S1
Tel: +416 572 2020 
Fax: +866 290 9322

Details of other office locations can be found on the  
Group’s website at www.aberdeen-asset.com
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Corporate information

Company Secretary
Scott E Massie

Registered Office
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

Registered Number
82015

Registrar
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
37 Albyn Place
Aberdeen AB10 1JB

Bankers
Lloyds Banking Group
25 Gresham Street
London
EC2V 7HN

Stockbrokers
J.P.Morgan Cazenove
125 London Wall
London EC2Y 5AJ
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Photographic references

Front cover Inside cover Page 2 Page 11 Page 13

The Dad Vail Regatta 
is the largest inter-
collegiate regatta in 
the United States. 
It has a long history 
in Philadelphia and 
Aberdeen’s three 
year sponsorship of 
the event ensures 
that it remains in 
this historic US city.

London Bridge has 
existed in some 
form or another 
for over 2,000 
years. The bridge 
handles thousands 
of commuters on 
a daily basis as it 
connects the South 
London borough of 
Southwark to  
“the City”.

The Puente de 
la Mujer bridge 
in Buenos Aires, 
Argentina has a 
unique asymmetrical 
design. Aberdeen's 
local presence 
is in Sao Paulo 
from where we 
are growing our 
activities in the 
region and looking 
to build our Latin 
American client base.

The Pudong, 
which literally 
means east of the 
Huangpu river, is 
Shanghai’s financial 
and commercial 
hub. It is home 
to the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange 
and includes the 
symbolic Oriental 
Pearl Tower, the Jin 
Mao Building and 
the Shanghai World 
Financial Centre.  

In Australia, one 
of Aberdeen's key 
country markets, 
Melbourne’s newest 
pedestrian bridge 
remained unnamed 
for nearly a year 
after construction 
until a name, 
reflecting the 
maritime history of 
the area was chosen 
–Seafarer’s Bridge.

Page 15 Page 17 Page 18 Page 23 Page 29

Frankfurt is the 
financial centre of 
Germany and the 
largest financial 
centre in continental 
Europe. It is also a 
significant territory 
for the property 
assets managed 
by Aberdeen and 
the location of our 
German office.

Co-ordinated 
Universal Time 
(UTC) is the 
standard by which 
the world regulates 
clocks and time. 
Aberdeen has offices 
in most time zones, 
with the exception 
of ones such as 
India and French 
Polynesia.

Philadelphia is 
the hometown of 
Aberdeen Asset 
Management in 
the United States. 
Our offices are 
located in what is 
known as Center 
City on the 32nd 
and 33rd floors of a 
54-storey skyscraper, 
the fourth tallest 
building in 
Philadelphia.

Euro banknotes have 
been in circulation 
since 2002 and 
are issued by the 
European Central 
Bank. The notes in 
these photographs 
symbolise Aberdeen's 
involvement within 
the Euro-zone. 
Common to all the 
euro banknotes is the 
European flag, a map 
of Europe and the 
word "Euro" in Latin 
and Greek script.

The University 
of Edinburgh was 
founded in 1583 
and was the fourth 
university to be 
established in 
Scotland. The QS 
World University 
Rankings 2010 
ranked the 
University of 
Edinburgh as the 
22nd university in  
the world.
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Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
10 Queen’s Terrace 
Aberdeen AB10 1YG 

Tel +44 (0) 1224 631999 
Fax +44 (0) 1224 647010

www.aberdeen-asset.com




